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Two sources for researching ENEMIES were invaluable:

History of German WWI Divisions

U.S. Army War Office

1920

Canadian Expeditionary Force

1914-1919

Colonel G.W.L. Nicholson, CD

THE ABOVE SOURCES KEPT me true to the actual facts of the war, but it is through personal accounts that life is breathed into a story. I want to especially thank Jackileen Raines, Jeanne Basteris, and Holly Pook Sachdev for contributing background, documents and letters from their families. Carrie Uusitalo of the St. Joseph Island Museum was helpful as well.

Author’s Note

November 11, 2018 will mark the hundredth anniversary of the end of World War One; “The War to End All Wars.”

Yet, twenty years after the armistice Europe and Asia were on the threshold of another war exemplifying the treachery and hubris of man. The human species seems to have learned little since.

The “Great War” caused the deaths of ten million young men before they had a chance at life. A similar number were wounded under conditions unspeakable by today’s standards of hygiene and medicine. Few readers of this generation have a clear idea of the hardships endured in that conflict. It is for that reason and the approaching anniversary that I set this as the era for Enemies.

I have chosen to tell the stories of two boys, both from similar backgrounds but separate allegiances to emphasize the blamelessness of all those young men sent so easily into peril by generals and politicians.

While Enemies is in no sense biographical and entirely fiction, I have done my best to adhere to the actual events and time line of the war on the western front. Dialogue and situations attributed to non-fictional characters are purely imaginary.

RWB

	[image: image]
	 	[image: image]


[image: image]

In Flanders Fields
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In Flanders fields the poppies blow
Between the crosses, row on row,
That mark our place; and in the sky
The larks, still bravely singing, fly
Scarce heard amid the guns below.
We are the Dead. Short days ago
We lived, felt dawn, saw sunset glow,
Loved and were loved, and now we lie
In Flanders fields.
Take up our quarrel with the foe:
To you from failing hands we throw
The torch; be yours to hold it high.
If ye break faith with us who die
We shall not sleep, though poppies grow
In Flanders fields.

Lt. Colonel John McCrae

1872-1918
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One


[image: image]


November 11, 1968

Ottawa, Canada

Jürgen Stern had a clear view of the man from his breakfast table, and was fascinated. Possibly it was the red poppy on the gentleman’s camel topcoat. It might have been because he looked to be close to Stern’s own age of seventy. The man sat alone in the lobby of the Chateau Laurier Hotel, white hair under his fedora, a cane by his side, glancing repeatedly at his watch.

The flower wasn’t unique on this eleventh day of November. The Canadians were even more patriotic than the Brits about the armistice of 1918. Remembrance Day poppies were on jackets and coats everywhere in the hotel and on the street this morning. It was the fiftieth anniversary of the signing.

“...and some more coffee, sir?” The waiter held a full pot at the ready.

“Please.”

The act blocked his view of the lobby for mere seconds. When the cup was poured, the man in the lobby had left, probably to meet his appointment.

Stern was disappointed for some reason, and wasn’t sure why. He continued to watch the vacated seat as he finished his coffee and signed his room number for the bill.

~ * ~
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“DAD! OVER HERE!” A black Volvo sedan was double-parked just past the taxi stand. A stylishly dressed woman in her forties waved from the open driver’s door. “Where are your bags?”

“Just there, Melanie.” The man in the fedora motioned to a bellman’s cart.

Brian MacLennan loved his hard-charging lawyer daughter, but she could sometimes be a pain in the ass, and he knew he’d get a scolding for not being there waiting as she pulled up. It would be a long week, he thought, with her acting as the family matriarch at his son’s wedding.

The bags were loaded and they were soon headed north out of the city. At once, Melanie was into relating the myriad of obstacles in the way of planning a rehearsal dinner at the bride’s family summer home on Lac Saint Pierre, where it stood an hour north of the city, and from anywhere else. “What the hell were they thinking, having a November wedding at a summer cottage?”

“It’s more of an estate than a cottage, I hear,” Brian said. “Besides, you have four days to get it right.”

Melanie had found a job in the government for her younger brother two years earlier. In the meantime he had met, and fallen in love with the daughter of a politically prominent Quebec family.

Brian let her go on while his mind drifted. He’d stayed overnight at the Laurier after flying up from Toronto to meet his daughter. She had suggested the sketches he made while serving with the Canadian Expeditionary Force in the First War as a wedding gift for his son. Colin had always loved looking at them.

Actually, it was a fine idea. They would mean a lot to Colin, so that was good. It had been years since Brian had looked at the drawings, and last night he’d stayed up late in the hotel room arranging them by date. Now, he wished he’d placed them in an album, or something more suitable as a gift than the battered old portfolio where he’d always kept them.

~ * ~
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THEY’D BEEN ON THE road for almost an hour before Melanie mentioned the drawings. “You did bring them, didn’t you?”

“Of course.” He glanced at the rear seat where his top coat and cane lay. Not there. In the trunk with his bags? He began to worry. Melanie in her own annoying way had begun chiding him about not paying attention to details since his wife’s passing three years ago. He’d be damned if he was going to say anything about the drawings until he was sure. She’d insist on stopping to check the trunk. And then what if they weren’t there? She’d make a fuss and be all over him for his carelessness. If they’re not in the trunk, the hotel will have them.

~ * ~
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“DOCTOR STERN.” THE man at the desk remembered his name from checking him in the previous day.

“Ah...yes,” Stern smiled at the recognition. He placed a brown, time-worn portfolio on the counter. “It seems this was left in the lobby by a gentleman, but I don’t see him. Perhaps if you keep it, he will return for it.”

“There’s no identification?”

“Not on the outside.”

The deskman hunched his shoulders. “Well, then...”

Stern hesitated, but undid the string closure. Sure enough, inside the flap was an adhesive label bearing the address of a Toronto Company: MacLennan, Esposito, and Assoc.

“Let me check,” the clerk said. “Yes. A Mr. Brian MacLennan checked out this morning. Would you like us to keep this?”

Stern hesitated, then declined; possibly due to the way he’d felt intrigued by the man—drawn to him. “I may have time to try contacting Mr. MacLennan after all.”

Actually, he didn’t. A week ago he’d received a call in his Bonn apartment from German Chancellor Kiesinger himself, requesting Stern to fly to Ottawa, and use his personal friendship with Canada’s new Prime Minister, Pierre Trudeau, to pave the way for next January’s trade talks between the two countries. He was due at Trudeau’s chambers in an hour. The forgotten parcel would have to wait.

~ * ~
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THE FALL COLORS HAD left the maples, and the leaves were falling in earnest. The Volvo entered the long driveway. Melanie tapped the Volvo’s horn, and they came to a stop on the circular drive. A touch football game of half a dozen men and young boys was in progress on the lawn. Brian stepped out of the car, feeling his stiff leg complain from the trip. He took a moment to stretch it out while Melanie popped the trunk.

The drawings. He walked around to look inside the trunk. Not there. Damn!

“Dad!” Colin MacLennan strode away from the game, flashing his patented smile. He gave his sister a brotherly embrace and shook his father’s hand. “Let me have your bags. I’ll show you your room.”

They chatted on the way; mostly Colin asking about the older man’s health, and the trip up from Toronto.

Brian watched his athletic son effortlessly scale the stairs with a bag in each hand. He followed, feeling his own stiffness, convincing himself it was the damn knee, and not his seventy-two years that made him so goddam tired.

They arrived at a guest room overlooking the rear of the house and the lake.

“Quite fancy,” he said. “Hardly a cottage.”

“No,” Colin said, and left it there.

Brian appraised his son for a few seconds, amazed how he reminded him of his brother Owen as a young man. “Your mother and I weren’t sure you’d ever find the right girl.”

“Thirty-six isn’t that old. You were that age when I was born.”

“Point taken. I’m looking forward to meeting Pamela’s family.” They stood there in awkward silence. “Well...look, I need to make a call.” Brian pointed to an ornate-looking telephone. “Does that thing work?”

“Sure. Why don’t you unpack and get comfortable? There are drinks on the rear patio in an hour...casual. You can meet the clan.” Colin closed the door as he left.

Brian retrieved the hotel check-out receipt from his jacket and dialed the toll-free number.

“Front desk, please.” He waited, wondering why it should take so long.

“Desk. This is Warren. How may I be of assistance?”

Brian explained having left a brown portfolio in the lobby at 7:30 this morning.

“I wasn’t on duty until eight, sir, but let me check.”

More waiting.

“I have nothing turned in, sir. Perhaps someone from the earlier shift will remember something. We have your address on file if we learn anything.”

Brian replaced the phone, imagining how unlikely that would be. His first concern was not having the drawings to give to Colin and the flack he’d take from Melanie. The sketches had no monetary value, he was sure. But now that they were lost, he realized how precious they were to him.

~ * ~
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STERN WAS EXHAUSTED. The meeting had turned out to be much more than two old friends talking. Trudeau had his Trade Minister and two deputies in tow. They had been tipped off about Opel’s interest in building a plant in Canada. Canada had grain and energy to sell, but wasn’t sure if West Germany had the buying power or markets to compensate for the dollars that would be flowing back into Europe from the new plant. They had held his feet to the fire all afternoon.

Besides that, he was still fatigued by the trip from Bonn. He’d arrived in Montreal expecting a limo for the drive to Ottawa, but through a fluke, the car didn’t show. Instead he caught the train, expecting to arrive at Union Station, a short walk to the hotel’s lobby. But the city had decommissioned the building and erected a new Tremblay Road Station an annoying cab ride away.

Following the meeting, it was past 4 PM when he arrived in his room with the prospect of another session in the morning. Scheisse! He was too old for this! He’d tried to retire two years ago when Ludwig Erhard left office, but Kiesinger prevailed on him to stay on until he could find a suitable replacement in the Trade Commission.

The portfolio on his room desk reminded him he’d expected to trace the address of the owner this afternoon, but Trudeau’s protracted meeting scotched that. Possibly there was more inside that would be a hint to the owner’s destination this morning. Once more he unwound the string fastening.

Inside were drawings, dozens of them. Some were in ink, but most were pencil sketches, all spectacular in their realism and detail. One or two of them had been colorized. There were interiors, portraits, landscapes, and building exteriors. Many of the sketches were on standard, stiff writing paper, but also on small card stock, half as big.

The next thing Stern noticed were the dated initials BDM and title of each drawing in neat script. The drawings were in chronological order, ranging from June 1915 to October three years later. The first few were portraits. One of a man and a woman titled Jocelyn Farm 6/1915; he, with an axe at a chopping block. She was clutching something in her apron...hen’s eggs? They faced each other, rather than the artist. A portion of a wooden farmhouse lurked in the background. Another sketch of a stocky young man, Owen 4/1915; another portrait of a young dark-complexioned boy in army uniform titled, H. Gardinier 3/1916. There was an April 1916 drawing of a building with the title, Gouin St. Arena. Here was a portrait of another boy in uniform, his light colored hair showing under his cap. Stern was drawn to the face. The signature read: George K 5/1916. Like the one of the Arena, and a number of others, it was done on good quality writing paper that carried an embossed CRC over a block-shaped cross. Canadian Red Cross?

Next in the chronology was a panoramic view of a field dotted with hundreds of tents. It was from a perspective of height, allowing detail of the nearest objects and the vastness of the expanse at the same time. It was brilliant. This one was dated 7/1916, entitled Niagara Camp.

He was impressed with the quality of the work. The portraits gave more than a sense of what the subject looked like; they seemed to look inside the person. He seemed to capture the subject’s character, his worth as a human being. The landscapes and buildings were realistic to be sure, but they also told a story: a filthy doll left on the stoop of a gutted house, the pall of war haze over what once must have been a tranquil field. Then there were the depictions of the dead, so gruesome in their realism, yet no hint of voyeurism. These were poignant memorials to wasted youth.

There was no doubt. The drawings were a soldier’s memoir of the Great War. They struck a chord that resonated with his own experiences of the time. He continued to peruse the collection until he came upon one that seemed somehow familiar. He reached to remove it from the others when it flipped over, revealing its opposite side. What he saw caused him to audibly gasp.

~ * ~
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“GOOD DAY, Bonjour, MacLennan, Esposito.”

Stern was about to state his business when the recording continued, “If you know your party’s extension, press one. Otherwise press ‘O.’ Si vous connaissez l'extension de votre partie , appuyez sur l'une. Sinon, appuyez...”

He punched the zero.

“Good afternoon, MacLennan, Esposito. How may I direct your call?”

“Is Mr. MacLennan available, or perhaps one of his associates?”

“Mr. MacLennan has retired, sir. Can someone else be of assistance?”

Stern hesitated. The easiest thing to do was simply send the portfolio back to his company. The people there would know how to return it.

“How may I contact Mr. MacLennan?”

“I’m sorry, we can’t give out personal information. Perhaps if you’ll tell me—”

“Yes! I am Doctor Jürgen Stern. I will be in Canada only through tomorrow.” He gave the woman his room number at the Chateau Laurier, asking her to have MacLennan contact him, and why. He disconnected and set the receiver down on the table next to the bed where the portfolio and several of the drawings were spread out. Once more he studied what he had seen, shaking his head in wonder.
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Two
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February 19, 1916

Jocelyn Farm

Talk at dinner was sparse. Long periods of silence were offset only by the clink of spoon against bowl or the heated house creaking in its battle against the harsh cold of the night. Brian’s father set the mood, concentrating on his boiled lamb and canned potatoes, his mouth set in a grim line as he chewed; eyes downcast. The suspended kerosene lamp added to the effect in light and shadow on his face.

Brian toyed with his fork. Owen, oblivious of the tension, dug in to his food. He was four years younger than Brian—huskier and half a head taller than his brother’s wiry frame.

“Any more greens, Ma?” Owen said.

Dora MacLennan rose and fetched the pot she’d pushed to the back of the woodstove. She doled out a spoon-full of spinach preserved from the previous summer’s garden.

“I’m going to turn in then,” Brian declared, pushing his plate away. He glanced at his father for approval. “It’ll be early away tomorrow.”

Thomas MacLennan said nothing. It had all been said—how he needed Brian, the oldest and cleverest, to take over the farm one day. He’d doubted Owen’s ability at the task. There was no need for Brian to be a part of this war with Germany.

Brian felt he knew his brother better than his father did. Owen was seventeen, after all, a hard worker and strong as a bull.

“Success is hard work and inspiration,” his father had said. Owen had both qualities. Brian lacked the inspiration for farming.

“Your books and sketches are all that inspire you,” Thomas had said, and Brian agreed.

“That’s right, Dad, and that’s the problem.”

The argument had been going on since the first contingent of men from the area volunteered for the CEF eighteen months ago in the summer of 1914. Brian had wanted to join then, but the volunteers were already trained and organized as the 51st Rifle infantry. Now, a second contingent was being raised in Sault Ste. Marie. Brian had registered at the post office, gotten his medical exam and was declared fit for duty. He was to report tomorrow in the “Soo.”

Up in the room he and Owen shared, he was putting the last of his things together by candle light. A quiet rap at the door made him turn.

“Ma,” he acknowledged.

“So it’s final, then,” she said.

“Yeah, ma. If it wasn’t the war, I’d be off anyway.”

She surveyed the small room the boys shared, covered with Brian’s drawings. “You’ll miss these.”

He laughed. “I’m takin’ my pencils. I can make more.”

She picked up the few he seemed to be taking with him. “Good likeness of us all. I can see the affection for your father in this one.”

“No more than for you, Ma.” He put his arms around her frame so like his own, tightly wound and spare.

Dora MacLennan kissed her son He watched her quickly leave the room before allowing herself to weep.

~ * ~
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THE DAY PROMISED TO be sunny despite the bitter cold. Owen had hitched the mare to the sleigh for the trip to the north of the island and on to the mainland. Brian’s mother and sister had said their tearful goodbyes; his father had not been present at the breakfast table. He stepped out onto the front porch, responding to the shock of the cold, and headed for the sleigh.

“Brian.” His father’s voice sounded paper thin in the desiccated air. The roughhewn figure of the man trudged its way through the snow from the barn.

Brian tossed his bag up to Owen and turned.

Thomas MacLennan removed a glove and reached into his coat pocket. “This here is all I’ve got of my father. I want you to take this with you and bring it back to me when you come home.”

Brian knew about the knife. He knew it had been in the family forever. They said it was from Scotland. As a boy, Brian would find it and lovingly open its single blade from the knurled handle, then carefully replace it in the box on his father’s chest of drawers.

“I...Dad...”

“Just take it.”

He threw his arms around his father, surprising the other who was not easy with such signs of affection. The sense of the man’s like response caused icy tears to form on Brian’s cheek.

~ * ~
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OWEN KEPT A FIRM GRIP on the reins driving the sleigh down the steep hill to St. Joseph Island’s village of Richards Landing. Brian’s orders were to report to the 119th Algoma Overseas Infantry Battalion at the Soo Ice Arena Monday, February 21, 1916.

In the end, parting with his father had gone better than expected. Thomas’ tough shell had softened somewhat, and Brian suspected his father felt a sense of pride in his son’s fortitude.

The sun was up, and it was close to 9:00AM by the time they arrived at Richards Landing. Any other time of year, the SS Premier that plied the channel between Bruce Mines and The Soo three times a week, would have been the choice of transportation. But the cold December and January had halted her passage until the spring thaw. Today, Owen would drive the sleigh over the ice, and on to the new Canadian Pacific RR flag stop at Tarbut Crossing.

Once in town, they both knew there was one more good-bye. Owen stopped the sleigh a few doors down from John Richards’ store and post office. When Brian hesitated, Owen practically shoved his older brother off onto a snowbank. Brian trudged to the door of the neat frame house which was opened before he could knock.

“Get in here, Brian MacLennan, before I catch a death of cold!” a cheery middle-aged woman admonished. She shut the door behind him as he stamped the snow from his boots. “Sarah’s just...well, fixing her hair. She saw your sleigh from the window.”

“Thank you, Mrs. White,” he mumbled, embarrassed but pleased at her suggesting his visit might be special to Sarah.

She retreated into the house. It was a few minutes before he heard “Hello, Brian,” in a soft but confident voice.

Brian had only recently built enough nerve to approach Sarah White. To him, she was the essence of elegance. Every boy in the township vied for her attention. She was younger than he by two years, and at nineteen, it was a miracle she was still unattached.

He had displayed some of his drawings at a crafts fair at the town hall last autumn, and she had been there. She’d admired his ability, and they talked about his wanting to go to school somewhere instead of farming. It soon became clear this girl was not only beautiful, she was knowledgeable in literature and art. He was smitten. He sketched her from memory and presented it to her one afternoon, fearing she’d be offended, but she wasn’t.

“I heard at the post office about your signing up,” she said.

“Yeah. I...can’t stay. I’m meeting the train.” He couldn’t think. He wanted to hold her.

“I’ll miss our talks,” she said.

“Oh! I mean, yes?”

She smiled, and pulled something from the folds of her frock, handing it to him.

Brian stared, unbelieving, at the photograph mounted on stiff pasteboard. It was professionally taken, capturing the every detail of what made her so special. He stood there, speechless.

“Perhaps you’ll think of me from time to time,” she said.

“Sarah!” he stared at the picture, then at her. “I will,” he croaked, and carefully slipped the photo into his breast pocket. “Well, then...” He motioned to the door and the waiting sleigh.

She reached to place a palm on his cheek.

“Be safe, Brian,” were her last words.

~ * ~
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A TREE LINE—SMALL FIRS crammed into holes drilled in the ice—marked the way across the frozen St. Joseph Channel to the mainland. It was a precaution. On windy days, blowing snow could obliterate the horizon, disorienting a traveler. It was a well-known occurrence to get disoriented and even lost, crossing the ice in a “white out.” Today was crystal clear, but biting cold. The snow under the mare’s hoofs squeaked against the ice.

Once across, it was less than a half hour’s ride to Tarbut Crossing where three or four others waited, huddled under hoods and mufflers and stamping the cold from their feet. Owen jumped down from the sleigh to join Brian at the crossing. Each fumbled with words to say while they waited. Before long, the white smoke of a train could be seen far to the east.

“Take care, Brian. I know Dad would prefer it was me going and you on the farm.”

“You know I’ll never be a good farmer,” Brian said. “He doesn’t know it yet, but the farm’s future is better off in your hands.”

Soon, the engine was visible, blowing steam high and to either side in the cold air like a bellowing demon. Men were shaking hands and slapping shoulders. Brian and Owen awkwardly followed suit. The engine grudgingly groaned to a steamy halt, the vapor enveloping the waiting passengers.

And then, Brian was on the train with his single bag, waving at his brother from the vestibule, still aware of the photograph in his pocket as if it were on fire.
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Three
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Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario

Gouin St. Arena

Several in the coach were men his own age or younger. Older passengers looked on, bemused, as the post-pubescent boys jammed the aisles in mild horseplay, and going on about what they would do to “Fritz, or Heinie” when they had a chance. They were boys from all along the north shore of Lake Huron; towns like Espanola, Massey, Blind River, and Thessalon. Among the throng was a familiar figure.

His slicked-back hair, good looks and stylish coat set him apart from the crowd: Colby Wentworth. He was rich, or as rich as anyone was in these parts. He lived in Bruce Mines, but was a regular visitor to Richards Landing where his father’s lumber business had an office. He could be counted on to appear at most any event, talking it up with the girls. Brian resented him here.

He’d seen Wentworth talking and laughing with Sarah the last time he was in town. The experience rankled and continued until receiving the photograph from her very hands assuaged those feelings. Still, Wentworth’s mere presence took the edge off the excitement he’d felt.

“That you, MacLennan?”

A hand slapped his shoulder.

Brian recognized the husky, handsome boy, his lank brown hair long enough to cover the ears. Brian didn’t know him well. The Kobak farm was isolated, and the family, though friendly enough, was a bit of a mystery to the other islanders. “Oh...Kobak, right? My brother helped on your haying last summer.”

“Owen. Right. I somehow got food poisoning, and my father was frantic. Your dad wouldn’t accept payment.”

“There’ll come a time when we get in a bind ourselves,” Brian said. He noted Kobak’s scarred leather valise. “Joining up?”

“Yeah, you?”

The ride in from the flag stop to Sault Ste. Marie took no more than forty minutes. They spent the time talking about their families, and respective farms. George Kobak had not attended school with boys his age, being home schooled by his mother. “It was just too far to go every day. My mother was a teacher in Austria.”

Brian was glad to see George. The boy was a likeable chap with many of the same values for work and commitment that Brian admired. Brian had a vague idea where Austria was, but that was all. He learned the Kobaks had come to Canada in 1908 because of his father’s disenchantment with the Austrian king, Franz Joseph I.

The train slowed. They could see olive uniformed men on the platform, their legs swaddled in cloth wrappings.

There were twenty-eight recruits on the train; some younger looking than Harry, but even a few in their thirties. A soldier with two stripes on his sleeve ordered them into columns, and marched them through the streets to the new ice rink on the dead-end that jutted off East Street.

Brian hadn’t been to Sault Ste. Marie since the 1910 fire that gutted the building. It was much larger than he remembered. He craned his neck to see the peak of its triangular roof line. The effect was even more dramatic inside. There, desks were set up where they were told to wait in line, and sign in.

In the center of the arena, instructors were drilling recruits. Some were marching; others were practicing the manual of arms with dummy rifles made of pine. Brian could see young men in new—some ill-fitting—uniforms at the far end of the building where sleeping quarters had been constructed. Along one wall, new inductees were receiving blankets, shoes, boots, belts, and other gear to be stuffed in a duffle.

In line was a very familiar figure.

“Harry!” The boy, Harold Gardenier, had thick, black hair pulled back in a tie.

“You? For the CEF?” the boy said. “I heard your old man...”

“Well, I’m here,” Brian cut him off.

“Your mother know about this?” Brian stared Harry in the eye.

“Sure!” He didn’t blink, but Brian had doubts. Harry’s mother fretted over the safety of two other boys serving in France, and grieved at her loss of them. Would she let her youngest go if she could help it?

Brian and Owen were as close to Harry as anyone. He would spend the summers on the Island working—mostly on the MacLennan farm. He was Métis—Native Canadian with some French ancestry—living near the Garden River with his large family. Harold Gardenier was the youngest of five brothers, the others having all volunteered with the 51st “Soo” Rifles in 1914. Tragically, two of the four had been reported missing and assumed dead in the battle of the Marne and at Ypres.

He introduced George Kobak.

“Where are our guns?” Harry asked.

“I think you’ll have one soon enough,” Brian answered.

They were issued their gear and assigned space in the barracks section. Thin mattresses were rolled upon hastily constructed bunks. Brian and Harry found two together.

“Hey, if it isn’t the farm boy from St. Joe!”

Brian looked across the aisle to see the smirking face of Colby Wentworth. He nodded in reply, but resumed his conversation with Harry.

The bunks were sectioned off, twenty to a group. Animated talk in the bay suddenly stopped. He turned to see a slightly built, bandy-legged man in uniform, two stripes on his sleeve, standing in the entrance. He held a clip board between the crook of his arm and hip. His face had the look of someone who had seen it all.

“I want everyone out front in two ranks. Make it snappy!”

The men began to stir, finishing whatever task they’d been up to.

“Now!” he bellowed, in a voice that belied his bantam-like stature. That got men pushing against each other to get out of the bay and onto the drill area.

~ * ~
[image: image]


LIGHT WAS DOWSED AT 10 PM except for the minimal glow from the new electric lamps in the arena’s center. Brian was exhausted. After the roll call they learned they’d been designated 2nd Platoon of Company C, 119th Overseas Infantry Battalion. The corporal never told them his name, but proceeded to march them up and down the arena until the evening meal, and then for another two hours after. It had been seventeen hours since Brian had risen from his St. Joseph Island bed. It seemed like a week.

They’d discovered their corporal’s name was Shanks, and had learned to fear him. Mistakes in their drills were met with draconian punishment—duck-walking among the worst. They learned their platoon officer had not yet been assigned, but the commanding officer of the 119th was a Lieutenant Colonel Rowland whom none of them had yet seen.

~ * ~
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April, 1916

TWO WEEKS OF MISERABLE rain at temperatures just above freezing preceded the bright Sunday that found Brian seated on a curb halfway down Gouin Street. The men had the day to themselves in anticipation of shipping out for more training.

Harry was off in town with his mother and a sister. Brian had decided to take advantage of the good weather by making a sketch of the arena on stationery supplied by the good ladies of the local Red Cross. It was good quality paper. The pencil took to it nicely.

“Well, well, MacLennan! What have we here?” Colby Wentworth and another man. He looked dashing in his uniform that somehow appeared tailored while Brian’s felt too small in the jacket, and baggy in the seat. Wentworth’s puttees were perfectly wrapped around his calf. Brian never quite got that process exactly right.

Wentworth’s question was harmless enough, but said in such a condescending way, it rankled. Brian tried, but was at a loss for a tart rejoinder. He opted to say nothing.

The other man was one Brian had seen Wentworth talking with that day on the train, but was assigned to a different platoon. He was taller than Brian’s brother Owen, and bigger. He had the face of a street tough. “You gonna kill the Hun with pictures?” the man grinned at his own wit, showing large, uneven teeth.

It was a stupid remark. Brian directed his comment to Wentworth. “Who is your ignorant friend, Colby?”

Wentworth laughed. “Whoa! Strong words from the farm lad.”

The other man took a step forward, silent and menacing. Brian could smell his unwashed maleness. He wasn’t intimidated, just annoyed. These two were spoiling the little free time he had on this perfect day. He wasn’t a fighter, but growing up among a raft of farm kids, many much brawnier than his wiry one hundred-fifty pounds, he thought he might to be able to, at least fend off this thug.

“Just go away,” he said, and watched Wentworth give the other a barely perceptible shake of the head.

“Let’s go, Rupke. MacLennan’s going to win back the Somme with his art.”

The big man didn’t move. He stared back at Brian with small dead eyes. Brian was put off by the ugly countenance, but was determined not to blink first, and concentrated on the bridge of the man’s flat nose.

In the end, Wentworth succeeded in pulling the man named Rupke away.

~ * ~
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May 1916

Niagara Camp

HARRY GARDINIER LOVINGLY ran his hands over the stock and breech of the newly issued Ross Mk III rifle. Brian watched, amused, as Harry caressed the weapon. Like most north woods farm boys, Brian and George Kobak were well acquainted with a hunting rifle, and were decent shots.

Harry’s family was dirt poor. The five boys did their best to work at odd jobs supplementing what their mother could make sewing for other families in Sault Ste. Marie. There was no money for firearms in the Gardinier home. Occasionally Brian would let Harry fire the MacLennans’ weapon, but there was little time for entertainment when Harry was working there.

They had been at Niagara Camp for a month. The 119th was not alone. The camp teemed with replacement battalions from all over Ontario. There had been a shortage of weapons for the men, and the 119th had been training with dummy rifles. Today had been their first day on the firing range. It turned out Harry was a natural sharp-shooter. Already his rifle was cleaned and oiled. Brian was still struggling with the assembly of the complicated bolt and slide of the Mark III.

It was only their first day with weapons and men were complaining about them jamming. The problem was the .303 caliber ammunition manufactured in England for the Lee-Enfield rifle which was much more tolerant of variations in the size of the cartridge or the slightest bit of dirt. Brian’s Ross had jammed today, however he thought it was a dream to fire when it was working properly. He would have to take better care in keeping it clean.

Brian, George and Harry had stuck together and the three friends had been assigned to a rifle squad, or section as referred to in the Canadian and British armies. To Brian’s relief, Colby Wentworth drew duty in a machine gun squad along with his friend Rupke. Their training was separate for most of the day, except for time in the platoon drilling and marching. The two could be seen together in free moments. Brian discovered Rupke, like Wentworth, was from Bruce Mines, Ontario. Apparently Wentworth knew him through his father who employed the man in some way. Brian thought him despicable in manner, speech, and appearance.

The last month had been spent on physical training, trench construction, tunneling, and long marches from their camp at Niagara-on-the-Lake to any of the several sites within a ten mile radius. There was talk about a march all the way to Hamilton, a distance of almost fifty miles.

Brian finished cleaning his rifle and laid back on his cot, waiting for the mess call. Despite the frantic activity of the past month, he had not forgotten the photograph of Sarah White carefully secured in his pack. Her image was in mind constantly, and with it, the memory of Colby Wentworth’s own seemingly convivial relationship with her.

He’d written Sarah, but there had been only one mail call since arriving at Niagara, one letter from his mother, but nothing from Sarah. He went over the scene in her house on the day he left the Island. Had he misread her feelings? Was she only being kind?

The tent was empty and offered a rare opportunity to steal a glance at Sarah’s image. He slipped the picture from its place in his pack. Her face reassuringly gazed back at his. The bright, intelligent eyes of Sarah White assured him of her love. He lost himself in them for several moments.

“Who in hell do you think you are, MacLennan?”

Brian didn’t have to look to know the voice of Wentworth. He dashed the photo back in its place.

“Where did you get that?” Wentworth’s small white teeth were exposed in a grimace when Brian looked up. His face was flushed.

Brian didn’t answer.

Immediately, Wentworth’s face relaxed and the omnipresent smirk returned to his lips. “I suppose you think that’s special.”

“I don’t know what you’re talking about.”

“Everyone in Algoma has that picture. Hell, I have one.”

“You’re a liar!

“And you’re a sap!” He sneered with the remark as he pulled tent flap down and left.

~ * ~
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IT WAS AFTER DARK, and Brian was returning from the latrine, his mind on Wentworth’s words. At first Brian dismissed the remarks as utterly false, but the lack of an answer to his letters to Sarah widened the fissure of doubt he fostered.

The punch to his stomach came from nowhere as he exited the latrine. He dropped to the ground, knees pulled up in pain while he fought for breath. A hard kick caught him in the kidneys. Brian never saw his assailant, but the same sour odor of Rupke was unmistakable.

~ * ~
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BRIAN’S EYES POPPED open at the first long notes of reveille. The attack of the previous night was forgotten until his first attempt to move. The pain was paralyzing. When the first blow to his solar plexus came, it knocked the breath from him so completely he was unable to draw another, and nearly lost consciousness. As a result he didn’t feel the full effect of the kick to his rib cage. Somehow he stumbled into his tent and bed.

George was already pulling on his breeches. Harry was lacing his boots. “Better get a move on, Brian.”

Trying to rise, the sharp pang caused Brian to cry out involuntarily. “Give me a hand.”

“Whoa, chum! What’s this, then?” Harry took Brian’s arm and pulled his legs over onto the floor.

“Went for a pee last night. Someone must have seen me go, and waited for me to leave the latrine. I caught it good.”

“Who? What reason?”

“I can only guess. Hand me my pants, will you?”

His two friends finished dressing, and discovered they’d have to do the same for Brian if he was going to make the morning formation.

The usual routine after morning roll call was a half hour of “policing” the grounds around the platoon before morning mess. This entailed ridding the area of the most minute weed, cigarette butt, toothpick, or anything else not put there by the Canadian Army. Corporal Shanks would typically follow his men around with invectives like “Make a clean sweep, you donkeys” or “I want to see nothing but ass holes and boot soles! Bend over and pick that shit up!”

Bending was impossible for Brian, and Shanks called him out. “You think everyone else is going to do this for you, MacLennan?” Shanks faced him nose to nose.

“I...got hurt, Corporal.”

Harry came to Brian’s defense. “It’s true. Some bloke decked him last night, Corp’l.”

Shanks gave Harry a dismissive glare, and said to Brian, “What did I tell you bozos about making trouble? You a trouble maker, MacLennan?”

“No, Corporal.”

The bugle call for mess sounded. “I hear about you fighting again, I’ll have your whole aching body in a sling. Move out!” Shanks abruptly turned and headed for the NCO mess.

“What happened last night?” George said on the way to the mess tent.

“I told you, I don’t know.”

“Yeah, but you have an idea. You have an idea, and so do I.”

“You may be right,” Brian said.

~ * ~
[image: image]


August 8, 1916

Halifax, Nova Scotia

THE CITY OF HALIFAX was alive in a sea of olive green uniforms. It had not been twenty-four hours since their Niagara Camp graduation ceremony and parade that they were loaded onto troop trains headed for the port city of Nova Scotia. They arrived early the next morning after the overnight trip. Upon detraining, recruits from Niagara Camp and elsewhere in Canada were directed to open shelters where the morning meal was served in their field mess kits, and where latrines were constructed nearby. The place was alive in a snarl of piers, cranes, ship’s masts, and above all, humanity.

Remarkably, the troops were given free range of the city, and told to be back by noon mess. Brian, George, Harry and an older recruit from Sudbury, Ake Lankinen (call me Lank), wandered to the waterfront. The tops of the cranes they’d spied from the train station soared high overhead. The smell of rotting fish in the salt air warmth of the August morning was entirely foreign to the men. They walked north past a bridge to a large basin where ships lay at anchor so tightly spaced it was a wonder they could maneuver.

Near the wharf was a large building with the name OLAND BREWERIES Ltd. along one wall.

Lankinen remarked, “Hey! That’s the Moosehead factory.”

Brian had never tasted beer. His father was against alcohol in the house. Cider and beer were available at social events on St. Joseph Island, but there were few places to purchase beer other than in Marksville, where it was brought in from Thessalon, Bruce Mines or Sudbury.

Oak barrels were being loaded onto a motorized truck. “See if you can take one of those with you to France,” Harry said, but the joke fell flat. They wandered back to the assembly area for the midday meal.

By late afternoon, they were marched to the quay where two ships lay alongside. They were directed to one bearing the name on the stern, SS Matagama. Brian had never seen any manmade thing so huge. It looked new compared to the other transports. Its twin stacks were painted gold, and tipped in black. Its black hull was sleek and free of the rust streaks of the other vessels in the harbor. Someone told him it was five hundred feet long, having been piloted down from its anchorage in the Basin the three men had viewed this morning.

They were lined up and marched up the gangway onto the deck. There, across the channel, Brian could easily see the nearby shore of the neighboring town of Dartmouth. Such a narrow passage for these large ships! For a farm boy from central Canada, it was fascinating.

His enthusiasm soon waned. Once aboard, the troops were crammed into bays and staterooms designed for peacetime passage, and converted for carrying troops in the most Spartan way. He and George managed berths together where they were stacked six high. George’s was no more than a few inches above Brian’s nose as he lay on his back. Turning over was problematic.

Shortly before leaving Niagara, a letter from Sarah had arrived. It was in response only to his first of three written to her. Her words were cordial, even warm, but noncommittal. It had been dated mid-June. The two he’d written since had confessed his feeling for her, and whether he might have expectations upon his return from service. He resigned himself to not knowing her feelings for a long time.

That night he lay in the berth listening to George breathe, still not knowing if the girl in the photograph was the love of his life, or simply a thoughtful girl who had been kind to a departing friend.

~ * ~
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ON THEIR FIRST MORNING at sea, Brian woke to find the relatively cool air from the ventilators had become warm and muggy. After a Spartan breakfast, the men were allowed on deck to find conditions just as humid.

“It’s the Gulf Stream,” Lankinen said. “Pushes warm water up here from Mexico.”

Harry asked how he knew such things.

“We got schools in Sudbury, Shit for Brains.”

“We have schools in the Soo, as well, smart ass,” Harry came back.

Brian wasn’t sure if Lank caught the grammar lesson, but stepped in with a change of subject. “I haven’t seen Wentworth or his goon, Rupke.”

Henry said, “You think it was Rupke jumped you that night at Niagara Camp, don’t you?”

“Maybe. Forget it.”

They strolled aft where the ship’s props were laying down a trail of white froth back to Canada. The image was at once beautiful and unnerving. Who knew when, if ever, they would see home again?

	[image: image]
	 	[image: image]


[image: image]

Four
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August 13, 1916

Neuhaus, Lower Saxony, Germany.

Jürgen Stern was riding high. It began with his matriculation into the adult competition at the regional Schützenfest near his home town, some one hundred kilometers northwest of Hamburg. Granted, the local shooting festival was not as grand as the ones in Bremen or Hanover, but for that summer he was king—literally. The Shützenfestkonig was crowned for the marksmanship competitions at the four day annual event.

He’d turned eighteen in July. Since his seventeenth birthday, he had been conscripted into the German Army Reserve, the Landsturm, and had already been given notice to report. But for this perfect Sunday culminating the festival, he was the toast of Neuhaus. The parade had commenced at the shooting grounds and proceeded the four kilometers into the town center with Jürgen leading the procession. Jürgen had no illusions about the honor. He knew the cream of the male population was away fighting in the fields of Turkey, Russia and France. Still, there was no diminishing the fact that he had competed with the adult group for the first time, and won!

They marched down Bahnhofstrasse, and people waved from their front doors and along the street. It was glorious weather. The warm breeze ruffled his straight, blond hair as it did the banners proclaiming his majestic status. Then the unimaginable happened. From a group of young girls, one of them ran to him, taking his arm. Käthe!

“Jürgen !” she giggled. “May I walk with the king?”

He beamed, thrilled by the attention from the popular and beautiful girl. “Of course! I am king, and order you to do so.”

The onlookers applauded the attractive couple. Someone shouted “die Königin!”

Käthe exulted in her new title of Queen, and cheers went up from the others in the procession as they continued to the village square.

Käthe Von Helm came from a family that, centuries ago, owned all the land in the region along the Oste River, a tributary of the Elbe. Somehow other baronies had usurped the Von Helm power, leaving the family with their own estate, but little else than their name. Still, the Von Helms were socially important, and much better off than most of their neighbors.

She had always been popular, but had preferred the attention of boys older than Jürgen . He couldn’t believe his good fortune. This girl with her long flaxen hair, skin like silk, had been unapproachable. Yet here she was.

When they reached the Stadtplatz, Jürgen was led to a dais where he was to be crowned. On a whim, he pulled Käthe with him. The others loved it, and cheered still more. When the coronation was completed, another remarkable thing happened. Before he could react, warm lips were pressed against his. Käthe! The crowd went wild.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE TOGETHER every day for the rest of the month. He would take her sailing in his gaff-rigged dingy he kept on the Oste River. They would go for long walks. It was wonderful. Ultimately the walks led to more.

They were alone having followed a trail along the Oste. Käthe wanted to rest and Jürgen suggested the shade of a large tree overhanging the water.

“No! Back here is cooler,” she said. She led him away from the water to a copse of trees and knee-high grass. She lay down on the sweet grass, and lifted her hand to his. Jürgen came to her. Tender kisses, at first, then he began to explore with his hands, feeling the softness under her blouse. He was on fire, and Käthe didn’t seem to resist, but he swore to himself he would not take liberties with this beautiful girl.

Her hand found his and moved it against her breast. Then slowly she guided it down to her thigh. He felt her warmth under the thin summer fabric which she pulled out of the way. The effect was electrifying.

“Hhhhuh...”

“Slowly,” she instructed.

As if detached, having a will of its own, his hand moved upward. She released a soft sigh, her hand still on his. Jürgen wasn’t sure what to do next, but she made it abundantly clear.

“Oh,” she breathed, and her breaths came faster.

“Käthe , I...”

Then she took command, and Jürgen’s inexperience was no longer.

~ * ~
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THE FINAL FEW DAYS of August melted away. Jürgen ’s orders were to report to the army’s District Muster Office in Hamburg on Monday, the fifth of September. He spent the weekend saying goodbye to his widowed father and relatives.

His mother had died from consumption less than two years before. It tore a big hole in the family. With Jürgen and his two younger brothers, his father had tried his best to keep life normal, but it would never be what it was. Their maiden aunt Berta was kind, but only a mild facsimile of her sister. His mother had been a sturdy woman who, Jürgen thought, could never have succumbed to sickness. Her personality had dominated the household. She reared her boys with an iron fist in a velvet glove.

Her loss was a terrible blow to Jürgen’s father who numbly went through the motions of his job as captain on the Oste River ferry at Geversdorf. Jürgen, being two years older than the capricious twins, had been bearing much of the responsibility for helping his frail aunt with chores, but there was nothing to be done about the conscription. All German youths had known it was inevitable, war or no war.

~ * ~
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ON SUNDAY EVENING, he bicycled to the big house where the Von Helms resided. Käthe was the youngest and only daughter of three children. Her two brothers were much older. Jürgen had seen her parents from time to time in town and in nearby Otterndorf, which was closer to the Von Helm estate. They were austere and insular people, and Jürgen was apprehensive using the polished brass knocker of the elaborate door.

It was opened by a maid in a black uniform and starched white apron and cap.

“Uh, Jürgen Stern to see Fraulein Käthe.”

She instructed him to wait. Minutes later, the woman he recognized as Frau Von Helm appeared.

“Guten Abend, I am Jürgen Stern. I wonder if I might see Käthe,” he croaked, cap secure in both hands.

The tall woman held a cigarette. She arched a penciled brow. Her closed lips formed a thin smile, distorting her thin face to one side. “You are the ferryman’s son, are you not?”

The question annoyed Jürgen. He considered the woman in her dated, yet expensive, clothes and exaggerated hochdeutsch speech. “I am a soldier coming to say goodbye to your daughter, Frau Von Helm.” At once he was shocked by his own impertinence.

She turned away without a comment, but left the door open. Jürgen stepped inside the foyer, his footsteps echoing on the slate floor. The house had an institutional aroma, somewhat like a museum or possibly a courthouse. A large, pendulum clock clicked the seconds away. Presently, Käthe appeared. She wore a lavender summer dress. She looked irresistible.

“What is it?” she asked.

“Well, Käthe...I’m leaving tomorrow...for Hamburg; for the army.”

“I know, Jürgen. You already told me.” After an awkward beat she added, “I hope you’ll be safe.”

“I will, Käthe, I’ll come home, and we....

“And what, Jürgen?” She glance at the room where her mother sat smoking, a magazine in hand.

“And then...you know, I’ll...be...home.”

She kissed him lightly. “I must go now, Jürgen.” She half turned to leave the foyer. “Something else?”

He said, “I love you, Käthe,” and left, feeling like a fool.

~ * ~
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A CELEBRATION OF SORTS was planned for Jürgen’s last night, but no one’s heart was in it. Aunt Berta’s cooking was never as good as his mother’s and was further hampered by the rationing’s lack of enough meat for the stew she’d made and no cream for the apple torte. Jen’s father stared glassy-eyed at his son for most of the meal, and the twins were uncharacteristically mute.

The next morning, Hans Stern said goodbye to his son at the Neuhaus Bahnhof, held him in an embrace for much longer than Jürgen could ever recall, then rode away on his bicycle to the ferry without looking back.
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Five
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September, 1916

Huron Camp, Bramshott Common, England

They had arrived in Liverpool on August 19 having survived eleven days of stomach churning weather aboard the SS Matagama. Brian swore he would never again allow himself be subjected to such conditions. His friends claimed to having experienced no such maladies and jokingly suggested Brian find himself a nice life in Europe if he had no plans to return home on a ship.

The scene in Liverpool was like Halifax, only one hundred times more hectic. There were soldiers, drays, stevedores, horses, vendors, and civilians teeming on the waterfront. Impressive buildings, one with a clock tower, another with a huge dome, lined the street. If this was England, what must London be like?

As usual, the army was hurry up and wait. They were marched off the ship and double-timed to a holding area near the rail terminal on Lime Street. There they waited in a drizzling rain for almost two hours before a train could be put together for their departure to who knew where? Once loaded, word passed down along the cars that their destination was a camp in the south of England.

Bramshott Camp turned out to be located in an area called Hampshire, and Brian thought it was charming. Narrow lanes lined with hedges through shady overhanging trees defined the villages in the area. In many ways, Hampshire reminded him of home; the rolling hills, narrow lanes and unassuming villages. All that was missing were the maple trees that dominated his island.

The camp was, for an army training facility, quite acceptable. Instead of tents, the men were assigned to wooden huts. They were divided into five sub-camps named for the Great Lakes of North America. The 119th Battalion became part of the 5th Canadian Division, and commenced a level of intensive training they had previously not known.

~ * ~
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THE AREA DEFINED AS the Bramshott Camp was modified to, as much as possible, approach the conditions the allies were experiencing along the western front. They had been at the camp for three weeks, with two of them in the field, away from the relative comfort of their wooden huts at Huron Camp.

Colby Wentworth’s animosity toward Brian was extended to his friends, especially George. Somehow Wentworth had previously known about George Kobak’s Austrian background. He began badgering George whenever he could, especially in front of others. The mess line was a favorite. It was something different each time.

“You sound like a Heinie, Kobak! I hear you’re from Austria. That’s Germany, right?

“What are you doing in this army, Kobak?”

“Kobak: What kind of a name is that? Sounds foreign to me.”

“You sure you aren’t a spy, Kobak?”

And so on. It was a relentless assault, one that George was helpless to do anything about without making matters worse. Brian, Harry and Lank did their best to shout Wentworth down, but he’d just laugh, and stop until the next time.

Oddly, something good came from it. The battalion leaders became aware of George’s German language abilities, and assigned him to work in Battalion HQ as a clerk. No one was sure what his duties were, but suspected it had something to do with intelligence. Fortunately for the four friends, Kobak remained billeted with the C Company of the 119th. Everybody was happy for him; everybody except Wentworth, of course, but also George himself, who complained that he hadn’t joined up to be a scribe in the rear lines.

~ * ~
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THE PROBLEMS THEY HAD faced with the Canadian-made Ross MKIII rifle were exacerbated at Bramshott. The field conditions and duration made cleaning more difficult, and here all of the ammunition was intended for the more forgiving British Lee-Enfield weapon.

It was while they were huddled in a newly dug trench, cleaning these same rifles that word was passed along they’d be heading back to camp in one hour. Brian was nursing a gash in his shin from a coil of barbed wire he’d tangled with.

“Not soon enough,” Harry muttered, taking his breech slide apart for the second time. “We spent the whole day without ammo in this here trench, and it still jams.”

There’s a rumor we’re getting American rifles to replace ours,” Brian said.

“And where are the bloody Yanks, anyway?” Harry said.

“Their president ran for election on a promise to stay out of the war.”

“Where did you hear that?”

Brian’s answer was cut short by Corporal Shank’s bark. “Alright you lazy bastards, up off your arses and form up.”

It was a relief after ten days of mostly light rain, overcast skies, and mud. They’d sleep dry tonight.

~ * ~
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THE RETURN TO CAMP was a shock—at least to Brian. They had heard some stories from personnel passing through the camp about another major battle having been waged in July and August along the Somme River in northern France. Now, scores of wounded were said to be cramming the five hundred available beds in Connaught Hospital located there.

Brian had his sketch pad out, finishing a drawing he’d made of the stables and blacksmith shop. His leg was stretched out on his bunk with the intention of exposing his wound to the air. Shanks entered the hut and noticed Brian’s leg.

“That looks bad, MacLennan. What are you doing about it?”

“Trying to let it heal, Corporal.”

“That’s Sergeant, to you soldier. Now, get your arse down to the hospital and get that thing cleaned out. I’m not having you go home for some goddamn nick before you get on the line.”

Brian noticed the new stripes on Shanks’ sleeve. “Right, Corp...Sergeant. Now?”

“Not tomorrow, ya twit. Move!”

Brian rolled down his breeches and loosely re-wrapped his bloodied puttee. He stowed his sketch with the others and headed off to the hospital. It was a good walk to the A3 Trunk Road where the hospital was situated, and Brian wondered at the wisdom of reopening the gash.

He arrived as a motor lorry with a large red cross on its side was pulling away. Inside the hospital was, if not chaos, frenzied activity. Nurses in their white caps and stiff collars over immaculate dresses and sometimes stained, white aprons were scurrying from one improvised cot to another while they performed admission evaluations on the newly delivered wounded. What Brian witnessed was beyond disturbing. These were not just wounded men, they were, for the most part, severely maimed. Missing limbs, horrible burns, disfigured faces were everywhere.

“What are you doing here, soldier?” A nurse, perhaps in her sixties, confronted him.

“I...well...I have this...” He felt utterly stupid asking aid for his cut while these men were suffering. “”Uh, you’re busy.” He turned to go.

The nurse held up her hand. She pulled a lorgnette from a chain on her apron and peered at Brian’s bloodied puttee. “Sit there.” She directed him to a chair by the door.

“My sergeant made me—”

“Do as I say, young man, and show me your wound.” She left, and came back with a porcelain enameled pan filled with water and some dressings.

“Your sergeant did the right thing. This wound is filthy.”

True, the gash still had bits of Hampshire soil embedded. She washed it thoroughly, applied something that stung like hell and taped on clean gauze.

Brian motioned toward the hallway. “These men...will they—”

“The men you see there are the lucky ones. They will likely live. The others have been taken to surgery. Now get back to your company. I have work to do.”

Brian proffered a “Yes ma’am,” and retreated.

As he walked back to his hut, the sound of the bugler playing retreat gave him a chill, reinforcing the feeling he took away from that hospital hallway.

~ * ~
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IT SOON BECAME APPARENT the 119th Infantry was not going anywhere soon. The new CEF 5th Division was created as a replacement and home guard unit. The 119th was assigned to it as a Replacement Battalion. Morale was sinking as a result.

The months of October and November were given over to intense training, most of it in the field. Exercises for as long as ten days at a time were held, with little more than an oil skin for cover. Once, in mid-November, they received orders to load up for the ship to France, but it was rescinded at the last minute.

Finally, on December 5, after four months in England, two platoons from Company C only, were loaded onto lorries for the short ride to Southampton. The weather was as foul as they’d seen, and Brian feared the worst for any voyage on a ship.

His fears were justified. They were going to the French port of Le Havre. The overnight passage was miserable, with the ship wallowing from starboard to port in a sea from directly abeam. The ship was loaded to capacity with other replacement units, and the men stood, packed like sardines for the overnight trip. The specter of the horribly wounded men at Connaught Hospital loomed throughout the sleepless night. Brian MacLennan was scared to death.

~ * ~
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December 8, 1916

Le Havre, France

HORSES, MOTOR CARS, trucks of every description—and a sea of olive green uniforms! The port of Le Havre seemed like the bees crawling on his mother’s honey frames at home. Brian wondered how the ship would possibly be unloaded with all that activity. Unloaded they were, and marched in columns of four through the streets where the throng, accustomed to such activity, melted away from their approach.

A field where permanent tents had been evacuated for their use appeared and they were halted. During their training, Corporal—now Sergeant—Shanks had been the only constant authority for the 2nd Platoon of Company C. Temporary lieutenants had come and gone. Now a First Lieutenant Cross they knew from Bramshott seemed to be in charge of the platoon, with Shanks standing off to one side as they awaited orders from the company commander.

The CO of their newly formed company was a man Brian had never seen. He was a captain, who looked somewhat different than the officers he’d watched in England. Perhaps it was the casual way he wore his uniform. Smart, but not pretentious, like he’d seen it all before. He projected confidence.

He introduced himself as Captain Goode of the 10th Canadian Brigade, to which the company would be attached. His address was brief, acknowledging the protracted training the company had endured in Bramshott, and how they should be proud to have served under leadership Lt. Colonel Rowland provided the original 119th while training in England. Brian thought it was generous of this experienced captain for his words about Colonel Rowland who, like them, hadn’t yet heard a shot fired in anger.

They were assigned to tents and given time to settle before being herded off to somewhere closer to the front. Others were joking and excited about getting into the action at last. Brian had the visions of the hospital to reflect on, and felt no such giddiness.

~ * ~
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IT WAS UNUSUALLY WARM. The woolen greatcoats were shed as the men lounged in their tents. Brian made sure his coat was on the cot provided, and not touching the ground. Stories about the lice were rampant and he was damned if he was going to endure anything like that.

It seemed the army did not know what to do with them as they spent two days standing formation for meaningless roll calls and duty assignments for “make-work” tasks. Then, on the third day, they were marched to the Gare du Havre train station. A steam locomotive stood huffing while they were loaded onto boxcars for the ninety kilometer trip to the city of Roen. The trip took three hours, but Brian felt they were now officially in France, officially in the war.

~ * ~
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December 30, 1916

Bray sur Somme, France

“IS THAT IT?” LANK WHISPERED, as they viewed the small stream. “I pictured it bigger.”

Brian agreed. All the talk about the battle of the Somme River and its importance as a line of defense went counter to his impression of the stream. It was hard to believe that here, just last autumn, hundreds of thousands were either killed or seriously wounded. The British and French had penetrated five or six miles into the German lines, but had failed to take a town that was critical to the enemy for their winter provisions.

George said, “Look at the marshy land on either side. You don’t just march across that without a bridge.”

Ahead was the town of Bray-sur-Somme, where the other three battalions of the brigade waited. From Rouen they had railed north until dismounting and marching east toward the line. Christmas Eve was spent on the march in a steady rain, and the next night drying their sodden greatcoats around a bonfire from scavenged wood.

As they were the last of the battalions to arrive, a wreck of a barn that had a hole in the roof was the only domicile available. Fortunately the rain had stopped, as the roof revealed a considerable amount of starry sky.

Since arriving at Le Havre, Brian had seen little of Wentworth or Rupke. He knew they were present at the first muster, but training for the machine gun squads kept them sequestered from the riflemen. Now, in the old barn, Brian heard the annoying voice of Wentworth boasting of one thing or another. Rupke, next to him, was paying no attention to Wentworth’s oration, but looking directly at Brian.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE AT BRAY OVER the new year getting a half day free. Brian had taken the time to sketch some of the surroundings, and was finishing a drawing after dinner when someone called, “Attention!”

Lieutenant Cross entered with their CO, Captain Goode. Goode strode forward, a swagger stick under his arm. He was a stocky but well-built man perhaps in his early forties, rusty hair under his cap. Word was he’d been a big-time lawyer in Toronto before the war.

“At ease! Please carry on, men,” he said and began chatting with some of the troops. Brian returned to his work. A few minutes passed, and he sensed someone over his shoulder. His eye caught the boot and jodhpurs of an officer, rocketing him to attention.

“Rest easy, soldier. You’re on your time now.” Goode bade him to return to his drawing. “That’s amazing,” he said, pointing to the sketch of an artillery piece with its caisson attached. It was done on one of Brian’s few remaining sheets of Red Cross stationery from home.

“You did that from memory?”

“Yes sir, I mean partly, sir. I draw the technical stuff, like how many spokes on the wheel, and get the proportions, then fill in later...sir.”

“May I?” the captain asked, pointing to some of the other sketches.

Brian handed them to the officer.

“I know that place. It’s the stable at Bramshott.”

It was. Brian remained at attention.

“What’s your name, soldier?”

“MacLennan, sir.”

“Algoma boy?”

“St. Joseph Island, sir.”

“Carry on, then,” Goode said, and continued through the rest of the company, speaking here and there with his men.

Brian was a little embarrassed, but few of the other men seemed to notice or care about the exchange.

~ * ~
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THE BATTALION MOVED out for duty on the line near the ruined town of Albert. Brian was amazed at the extent of the trench system. Underground rooms had been cut into them, connecting trenches along the line and from forward observation posts back to rear command centers as well.

They spent over two weeks there, getting the feel of actual warfare. It was in every way as they had trained at Bramshott except for one thing: It was real, and that made it frightening. Standing guard at an observation post, knowing someone was out there wanting to kill you, changed everything. For the sixteen days, they were on edge, not knowing if a German charge was coming or not. Brian almost wished they would to break the tension.

They were pulled back to the town of Villers-au-Bois where they were billeted among the villagers’ homes, spending the nights there and the days in maneuvers, and of all things, digging more tunnels.
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Six
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January, 3 1917

Hamburg, Germany

Landsturm Reception Facility

Jürgen waited in line for his photograph to be taken. It seemed waiting was all he’d done since reporting for service in the Landsturm, Germany’s term for required military, the service of all young men. He’d reported to Hamburg in September to discover the facility almost empty of other recruits. A large group had recently shipped out to train somewhere, taking most of the cadre with them.

Uniforms were not yet available to issue, so the recruits, as they dribbled in, sat around much of the early days there in civilian clothes with little to do but fill out forms, receive orientation and keep the barracks clean.

Later new instructors were assigned, and physical training and drilling were commenced. It wasn’t until the day after Christmas that the uniforms arrived. So it was that he waited in line in his new, woolen uniform waiting for his turn to be photographed and immortalized as a hero of the German Army.

It had not been until the completion of this preparatory drill and discipline that they were administered the oath. In groups of three, the men were told to raise their right hand while their left rested on the German colors. A representative from Berlin was expected to do the honors for God and Fatherland, but they learned this man was a minor official from Hamburg.

Then the official German Army photograph. When it was his turn, he stepped in front of the camera, handing a sergeant a card with his name, serial number and home address. In the rear of the set was a screen depicting an idyllic forest. Next to him was a pedestal upon which a book lay.

“Hold the book in your right hand, please,” the photographer said.

Jürgen thought how silly this must appear—a callow boy trying to look like Friedrich Schiller posing at his estate—but he complied, resting his hand on the pedestal, gripping the book, chest out like a proud soldier.

“Hold still.” The cap came off the lens and quickly replaced. “Next!”

Jürgen walked out into the large hall where the others were collecting their gear for the train ride north.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE HEADED NORTH from Hamburg to Neumünster sitting on a siding while the southbound came through. The coach, full of replacement recruits, was unheated, and they huddled together for warmth. Jürgen thought about past summers when his father would take the family east across the Oste and Elbe Rivers and the ferry to Glükstadt then on to Itzehoe in Schleswig-Holstein where a favorite uncle lived. It wasn’t far from where they were headed that day.

With a jolt, the train began to move again, and pick up speed. A dusting of snow had covered the ground and branches of the fir trees. The overcast added to the bleak landscape that retreated from his view. He should have been excited at the prospect of this new adventure, but the news of the war was not good, despite the government propaganda. Rumors of a major defeat in Russia, the stalemate in Belgium, and the severely wounded boys from his and neighboring villages were now common signs of trouble at the front. Disturbing stories about the western allies’ assault across the Somme River last summer were being circulated.

Jürgen had never understood the need for Germany to attack France. Or how it had anything to do with the assassination of some archduke in Bosnia. Attack Russia, perhaps; one could never trust the Russians. And now here he was, headed for the war as part of what some of the people at home were calling the Kaiser’s cannon fodder.

His mood matched the melancholy of the passing landscape.

~ * ~
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January, 1917

Lockstedt, Training Camp

Schleswig-Holstein, Germany

THE TRAIN HAD GROUND to a shuddering halt at Neumünster when the men were assembled into ranks according to their assigned units. Jürgen joined the others assigned to the 463d Regiment, one of three regiments of the newly formed 238th Infantry Division.

The march to Lockstedt was extreme. A slender boy to whom Jürgen had spoken on the train, marched next to him. He wondered how he was handling the march. He’d noticed the boy in Hamburg, struggling with the physical training. It was tough going. Snow began to fall, small hard flakes with a bitter North Sea wind in their faces. The sixteen kilometer trip took them six hours. When they were ordered to halt, the boy was exhausted.

The Lockstedt camp consisted of well-maintained, brick barracks, mess halls and administration buildings. A Regiment consisted of twelve companies. The men were separated according to size, the tallest to the 1st, 5th, and 9th company of each regiment, and the shortest to the 4th, 8th and 12th. Jürgen never understood the logic of this. There was barely time for the troops to be fed and assigned to barracks before a bugle sounded tattoo for the night.

They were roused the next morning at 5AM. A Feldwebel named Büler was shouting “Aufstehen! Schneller! Jetzt!” banging a stick against the posts, and ordering the men at attention at the end of their straw mattress bunks.

The men were ordered to clean up their area and get ready for inspection in ten minutes, when they were flushed outside into the cold to stand for personal inspection while the barracks were inspected. They waited there until 6AM when a lieutenant named Stoner received Büler’s report on the state of the Second Platoon, Company III of the 463d Regiment.

~ * ~
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BÜLER, A NEWLY MADE sergeant, was in charge of the fifty-four men in the platoon. A corporal, or unteroffizier named Koss, led the sixteen men in two sections, a korporalschaft, that included Jürgen Stern.

The men were informed in a fifteen minute dressing down how utterly ignorant, sloppy, and lacking in any form of discipline they were, and that Third Company, particularly second platoon, would be transformed into fighting soldiers in one of two ways: hard, or unbearable. It was up to them. Büler and Koss were as good as their words. The next weeks were horrible.

The winter in northern Germany is typically long and bleak. This year’s signature was the bitter cold. Drills included weaponry, but also entrenching in the frozen ground, outdoor PT, obstacle courses, long marches. Almost any activity required heavy woolen coats and gloves, making the handling of a weapon nearly impossible.

The Mauser 98 rifle was a departure for Jürgen, accustomed to the lighter, wieldier sporting weapons of home. Adding the cumbersome Steigenwehr bayonet put another fifteen inches to it. The whole assembly was almost as tall as the average soldier, yet it was an accurate weapon, and Jürgen proved his prowess as a marksman early on.

~ * ~
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IN THE BUNK ACROSS from Jürgen’s was the boy from that march from the train. He learned the boy was from the city of Stade, a little south of his own village of Neuhaus. His name was Alfred Hauser. Because of his slight build, the training was taking a toll, and he was becoming a target for derision and bullying among the other men. Jürgen admired Hauser’s pluck in spite of the abuse, and came to the man’s defense on more than a few occasions. This resulted, to an extent, in Jürgen’s own alienation.

On one significant occasion, the platoon was running an obstacle course that included a six meter wall over which the men had to traverse. This meant teamwork, some boosting others, while those on top would help the ones below.

Alfred’s turn to approach the wall came, but no one gave him a boost. Jürgen was already over and on his way when he heard the jeering. He doubled back to see his friend stranded, alone. Unteroffizier Koss was there, arms folded.

“What are you doing, Stern?”

Jürgen came to attention, but said nothing.

“Go ahead, boost your friend, but you must go over as well.”

“I already did, Unteroffizier,”

“I don’t expect an argument. I didn’t see you.”

Jürgen locked his hands together, motioning for Hauser to insert his foot, and easily boosted him to the top of the wooden bulwark. “Now you,” Koss said.

Jürgen eyed Houser’s frail body peering down. He looked like a mere boy. “Can you pull me, Alfred?”

“I think so,” was his hesitant answer.

Jürgen took a running jump, sticking his boot on the wall as he did. Their hands caught, but their grip was lost, and he fell back.

“Again!” Koss said.

This time, their grips held, but Jürgen felt Hauser being pulled toward him and despaired. Then the feeling reversed, and Hauser was winning the tug of war. Jürgen let one hand free and grabbed the top of the wall. Hauser caught him by the collar, and pulled him up.

Koss gave them no time to celebrate, “Move out you two, and catch up with your comrades!”

~ * ~
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HAUSER’S PERFORMANCE at the wall impressed Jürgen. There was more to the boy from Stade than the others perceived. To Koss’ credit, he gave the men a tongue lashing for abandoning a fellow soldier on the obstacle course. The scolding did only a little to ease the abuse Houser continued to take with no complaint.

Jürgen and Hauser’s friendship increased, but while not alienating him outright, served to set him apart. In addition, his prowess with the rifle was noticed by the cadre, who assigned him away for additional training as a sniper, or heckenshüztze—literally hedge-shooter. He was issued a scope for his M98 rifle, and spent considerable time away from the platoon honing his skill from varied positions and distances.

It turned out that Hauser was considered a violin prodigy at an early age. He had been accepted at the Berlin Hochschule fur Musik to study under the acclaimed teacher Willy Hess when he received his notice of conscription. No amount of entreaties from his parents or the conservatory was successful in gaining his deferment. Jürgen was the only person with whom Alfred shared this.

As the weeks progressed, the winter waned, and army life became more bearable. Büler and Koss turned out to be good leaders. They had both seen action at the Marne offensive in 1914, and had stern words for anyone who thought, as they had, that victory would be an easy matter for Germany. The lessons they had learned in their unsuccessful push to capture Paris were harsh, and they drilled their men incessantly on learning those lessons.

In time, army training did to Hauser what it was designed to do. It toughened him. Soon he, Jürgen, and as many as a half dozen others formed a nucleus of comrades. In their spare moments, they would visit the canteen where a beer could be purchased for five phennigs, not an inconsiderable sum on their seventy phennig pay.

It was an eclectic group of mostly apprentices at one skill or another, ranging from Veldstein the aspiring mason through the butcher’s son Berg, Sternkopf the machinist apprentice, to the sensitive musician Alfred Hauser. Jürgen somehow naturally slipped into the role of moderator, using the interpersonal skills honed over young years dealing with the wide variety of people traveling on the Oste ferry.

~ * ~
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April, 1917

The Siegfried Line, France.

AFTER THREE MONTHS at the Lockstedt Camp, the day to entrain for the western front came on April 19. From the train window he watched the French landscape slide by through towns like Treves, Sedan, Naraur, Caudry, detraining at Cambrai. It seemed incredible to Jürgen that only one week ago he’d been safely back in the rolling farmland of the Schleswig-Holstein training camp.

“Where are we, Feldwebel?”

The usually self-contained Sgt. Brüle seemed nervous. They had only just detrained, formed up and were at ease, smoking.

He seemed to look past Jürgen when he answered. “It’s a part of the front called the Siegfried Line. North of here is a town called Arras; to the south is Soissons. The line runs between the two. It’s going to be shit keeping the Frenchies on their side of it.”

Hoffner, the gefreiter of Jürgen’s section overheard. “We’ll make them eat our steel, Feldwebel!”

Brüle looked at Hoffner with tired eyes, but said nothing. Jürgen sensed this veteran from the French defense at the Marne River had seen enough to know that Hoffner’s enthusiasm was naïve. The gefreiter took Brüle’s silence as approval and, smirking, looked around to the others.

A German infantry platoon was broken down into eight-man sections, each having a lead man, gefreiter. He was usually a corporal, but sometimes a man from the unit given the acting responsibility without the rank. Such was the case with Hoffner, also a recent trainee. Nobody seemed to object. Jürgen certainly did not covet the position, though somewhat annoyed at Hoffner’s easy presumption of his leadership.

For four days they settled in behind the lines, finding a covered trench recently vacated by another unit transferred elsewhere. Then on the twentieth of April, they were posted on the line near the tiny village of Bellicourt. It was there these untested replacements learned about trench warfare.

Spring rains had flooded the trenches to the point it was impossible to keep feet dry. The nights were still cold and sleep was obtained in fitful snatches. Comfort was the least of their problems. Although they experienced no major offenses by the Allied forces, they were constantly harassed by sniper, mortar and artillery fire.

It was here that Jürgen had his first battlefield experience. He was ordered to a post behind a small ridge overlooking a Niemandsland between the barbed wire of the two armies. From there he could see hints of activity on the Allied side. Per his training, he set out at once to sight his weapon. The M98 rifle was cumbersome as it was beautifully made, and very accurate. He fashioned a cradle with his pack and set his sights for 300 meters. Picking out a sandbag along the enemy’s trench line, he squeezed off a round. It fell just short. Two clicks of the rear sight were enough to see the puff of dirt hit only centimeters to the right. He’d have to allow for that.

And then he waited for a target. It came sooner than he’d expected: something—a helmet?—appearing from time to time silhouetted at a spot along the trench. He trained his sights on that spot, and waited, the cross hair on his scope set just left of the target. Five minutes, six, then there! Without thinking, he squeezed the trigger, and the Mauser bucked. Through the scope, the target vaporized in a blur of red. Something—the helmet!—spiraled crazily and disappeared.

Jürgen felt numb. He stared at the vacated spot. Cold sweat formed on his lip and down his back. Growing up with guns of all kinds and the weeks of drilling with the Mauser never conditioned him for this: the killing of another human being. The ersatz eggs he’d consumed for breakfast were threatening to come up. His head swam. The vision of the killing reminded him as a boy with his friends using apples as targets, and seeing them explode.

Jürgen pulled his hands away from the rifle, seeing it as something foreign, evil. During his training he had wondered if he would have the nerve to use his bayonet against another man, and supposed he would in self-defense or even in a charge, if it meant the other man or himself. But he had never given this a thought, despite knowing what a sniper was meant to do. He spent the remainder of the day shooting, but hitting nothing of consequence.

The most dangerous job in the in trench warfare was that of messenger. These men were easy and prized targets as they scampered over the top from trench to trench. Interrupting the enemy’s communication was a priority. The fastest, most nimble runner was usually chosen. For Company III of the 483d Regiment, one of those men was Alfred Hauser. Alfred sustained three near-misses in the time they were at Bellicourt. Jürgen had seen glimpses of enemy runners, but never hit one.

For thirty-one days they were posted at this section of the line. In that time Jürgen’s company suffered one death and six injuries, all from mortar shrapnel.
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Seven
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April, 1917

Canadian Corps

Villers au Bois, France

They had never experienced a training exercise of this magnitude. A four mile wide mock-up was laid out on a field far removed from the front. All through February and March they had rehearsed a phased attack where objectives were delineated by colored tape. The attack was interrupted with timed pauses for support to be brought up from the rear. They were trained to advance no faster than a “walking artillery barrage” could be laid down in front of them.

When they weren’t engaged thusly, they were put to work helping a strange collection of men construct an extensive array of tunnels in the chalky earth of the area. These were men from Northern England—miners, called Bantams—working with crews from the mining areas of the Pacific Islands, for the most part. These tunnels surpassed anything Brian could have imagined.

On one of the first days, Brian, having a bit of biscuit on a break from work, was sitting next to a Yorkshire man of about thirty. “This is all you do?” he asked.

The man gave him a brief glance; hard eyes behind a leathered visage. He didn’t respond.

“Sorry,” Brian said. “I didn’t mean anything by that.”

“That’s right, old son. It’s all I do. Been doin’ it since the beginin’.”

“Here?”

“Up and down the line, lad.”

A moment passed while Brian thought about these words. “How far is that?”

The man laughed, a sort of cough. “Which way ye fancy?”

Brian hunched his shoulders.

“These here trenches will let ye walk all the way ta Switzerland, if ye don’t mind swimmin’ a few rivers. Same the other way to the sea.”

There was no sign of mirth in the man’s face, and Brian decided not to challenge the preposterous claim. No sense starting a fight over nothing.

“You think I’m jesting, fecking with yer.”

Brian took a bite of his biscuit; hunched his shoulders again.

“All the way up and down the line, these trenches go; more’n four hunnerd mile.” The man threw down his cigarette, picked up his shovel and returned to the new section of tunnel they were excavating under No Man’s Land.

While drills and work were exhausting, the small farmhouse where Brian and part of his section were billeted could not have been more accommodating. The men stretched out on the floor while a fire in the old stove kept them warm and dry. The lady of the house, Madame Arnoult, was a war widow, having lost her husband at the Marne, and a son reportedly captured in the same battle. She would have a pot of coffee ready for the men, and even did some of their washing.

She had two daughters, the eldest named Genevieve, with dark brunette hair peeking out from under her kerchief, and a pair of laughing eyes that mesmerized George Kobak. He was smitten. Brian agreed there was a unique beauty about the girl and set out to make a sketch of her with her younger sister as they sat together mending stockings. Although the men knew there was little likelihood of ever seeing this family again. Brian promised George to copy a portrait sketch of Genevieve when he had time.

By now the troops knew that Canada’s s role in the next offensive was to capture a four mile long ridge west of the village of Vimy. From there the Germans had dug in with fortifications protecting this vantage point that commanded the field of fire over the Allied positions. For any advance to be successful, Vimy Ridge must be taken and held. They were told how, in the previous year, the French had tried and failed with disastrous losses to capture this strategic stronghold of the enemy.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE WORKING ON a section of the tunnel close to the front lines where a large room was being excavated in the chalky earth. Brian and his platoon were on a detail removing excavated waste when Sgt. Shanks called his name.

“Clean yourself up and report to Corps H.Q. Ask for Captain Goode,” he announced.

Brian was dumfounded. He barely knew where to find the Headquarters site. What had he done? He hitched a ride back to Villers where he cleaned his boots and tried his best to wash the grime from his tunic, hands and face; all the while searching his mind for some infraction he might have committed.

The weather had been fair, and H.Q. was temporarily set up outside in a large tent at a place named Camblain l’Abbe. A soldier was guarding the tent’s open flap where, inside, Brian could see nothing but officers’ polished boots and insignias of rank.

“Private MacLennan reporting for Captain Goode,” he said.

The soldier eyed his somewhat soiled presence with an air of distain. “Wait here.”

Brian stood fidgeting with cap in hand for a minute or two while word was passed along inside. The soldier returned with a corporal who said, “Follow me.”

He was led to the rear where a group of officers was looking down at a large table, and recognized Capt. Goode standing next to a man he knew to be the commander of the 10th Brigade

Another very tall, rather portly officer was holding forth, and had their attention. Brian waited until he was noticed. That officer was first to say something. “Is this your man, Captain?”

The other two officers turned to see. Goode said, “MacLennan, sir. I think he can do it.”

“Soldier, take a look at this, and tell me if you can do what I have in mind,” the tall officer said.

Brian obeyed, wondering what on earth it could be. On the table was a huge relief representation of a terrain. It had been fashioned from clay, apparently. Hills and ridges were there. Wooded areas were realistically represented; a few buildings. It was a remarkable undertaking.

Brian had nothing to say.

“Answer the general,” Goode said.

“He can’t, Captain, because he has no idea what I want from him.”

General! Brian swallowed.

The general continued. “This is a representation of the ground over which our spring offensive will take place. It was prepared in part from existing maps, surveys, and recent photographs taken from our aeroplanes.”

Brian nodded his understanding as the general continued.

“I have divided the field of engagement into a dozen sections representing various unit objectives, both intermediate and final. What I need are individual maps made from these delineated sections. I want them drawn to fit on cards like this.” He pulled a piece of pasteboard from his tunic. It was slightly larger than the size of a penny postcard, only stiffer, stronger.

The three officers waited for a response. Brian looked at Goode, his most immediate commanding officer. “Sir, I don’t know. I can try.”

Goode said, “Suppose you do that, MacLennan. Draw a sample for General Currie.”

This was the first time Brian had heard the tall officer’s name or noticed the star and crown insignia of a Major General. “Yes, sir.”

Currie smiled. “Captain Goode, will you take Private MacLennan to Operations, and show him the map I have marked up?”

~ * ~
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THE LARGE MAP WAS MOUNTED on one wall of the underground room that jutted off a tunnel that led to the front lines, over four miles to the east. On the map’s surface were rectangles formed by push pins and colored string. Each square was labeled alpha-numerically.

“See if you can copy this section accurately, MacLennan.” Goode pointed to a square labeled “G-7” taped to one of the four push pins. A few blank cards identical to the one the general had were nearby, along with pen, ink, and pencils.

Brian chose a card, a soft pencil and began to copy what he saw inside the rectangle.

When he was finished Goode said, “It looks fine to me. Do you think you could make a less detailed version? We can let the General choose.”

Brian repeated the copy, leaving out the elevation lines.

Goode summoned a messenger to take them to General Currie. In a matter of minutes, the courier was back. The general was pleased, choosing the less detailed rendering.

“Now,” Goode said, “here is what I want you to do.”

~ * ~
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IT WAS THE FINAL REHEARSAL for the offensive, the Allies’ attempt to break through the enemy’s defensive line and possibly continue on to Berlin. Again the color-coded tape was strewn over the immense training ground well to the west of the Germans’ prying eyes. This time, however, each man was issued a postcard-size map on stiff cardboard. Platoon leaders instructed their units on how to time their advances toward objectives on their individual maps. It was an unprecedented tactic.

Brian was surprised how well the maps he’d drawn onto the soft mimeograph paper were reproduced. The maps’ labeled objectives were identified on the practice field with corresponding flags. The rehearsal lasted all day, completing the operation twice. The day of the offensive was still a secret, but everyone, down to the lowest private, knew it could only be hours away.

~ * ~
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April 9, 1917

Allied Front lines West of Vimy Ridge

THEY HAD BEEN OVERNIGHT in the tunnel, trying their best to stay comfortable in the damp, close-to-freezing conditions. The same tunnel had conveyed them from miles to the rear, out of sight to the enemy. They knew the Germans had tunnels as well, but Brian doubted they’d have anything so extensive.

All four divisions of the Canadian Corps would be deployed on this operation the British were calling the Battle of Arras. On the Canadian’s left flank was the British 1st Corps. On their right, the British 17th Corps. Brian’s Replacement company was part of the 4th Canadian Division on the far left of the Canadian Corps.

Yesterday’s Easter dinner, served piping hot, was forgotten. Lank and Henry had their knees pulled up to their chests in a futile attempt to stay warm. In lieu of a cap, Brian had wrapped his head with a strip of puttee that would fit under his steel helmet.

“You look like a bloody mummy,” Henry said.

In the sparse light of the electric lamps strung along one wall, Brian suspected he did look rather ghoulish, but his head was warm. Despite that, he shivered, more from nerves, he knew, than the cold. “What time is it?”

Lank looked at a pocket watch he carried in his tunic. “Two or three minutes before four,” he said.

Henry said, “Lucky bloody George, sittin’ high and dry, hob-nobbin’ with the brass.”

“You know better than that, Harry,” Brian admonished.

“Yeah. He’s miserable about not goin’ over the top. He’s still lucky, though.”

“I don’t know what the hell I’m supposed to do with this little map,” Lank said.

Henry snorted. “Bloody Finn! Didn’t you listen? If something happens to Shanks, we’re supposed to know the objectives and keep going.”

An argument was snuffed by Captain Goode and Lieutenant Cross passing through the tunnel, patting each man on the shoulder, giving words of encouragement.

“Won’t be long now; fine chap; any time now, men; keep that weapon dry.” and so on. They passed through, but Goode turned to give Brian a last look.

Around 5:30, Cpl. Shanks came scrambling down the tunnel. “Any time now boys!”

Brian took one last look at his map, studying the first objective, a hillock four hundred yards from the tunnel opening.

“Not you, MacLennan. Captain says to report back to your tent and wait for his order.”

Brian was incredulous. He looked helplessly at Lank and Harry.

“Sarn, I can’t leave my mates!” He was almost in tears.

“You’ll bloody well do what—”

Then all hell broke loose.

At first, Brian thought they were under attack. There were explosions of such intensity and frequency, it sounded like one continuous roar. But it was the Allied barrage. It lasted for several minutes, then suddenly stopped.

“Now!” Whistles signaled the command to go. All along the line, troops from four infantry divisions leapt from their trenches or poured out of forward tunnels exactly as they had been drilled.

Brian watched as men did what they had rehearsed so often; some over the top of their trench, others through an opening in the tunnel. Shanks’ last words kept him frozen in place.

And then it was eerily quiet in the trench, the exuberant whoops of frightened soldiers having died away. Slowly he made his way back up the tunnel to wait at Villers where Company C was quartered. Brian MacLennan had never felt so miserable.

~ * ~
[image: image]


HE HAD BARELY POKED his head outside of the tunnel where it opened at the tiny village of Careny when he was practically accosted by a burly corporal. “Where in the goddam hell you think yer goin’, Private?”

Brian panicked. He knew there were guards posted against deserters. He gasped, “Sergeant Stark—uh, Captain Goode—uh, I’m—”

“You ain’t MacLennan, are ya?” The corporal had his nose two inches from Brian’s.

“Yes!”

“Where the hell have you been? They been lookin’ for ya over an hour!”

“I’ve been with my section. I was told—”

“Never mind that. Get yer arse over to Corps!”

By then, Brian knew the way to the HQ at Camplain-l’Abbe, just west of Villers, and followed the half mile of rutted road. It was snowing hard with a biting wind in his face. He thought about his friends and the rest of the platoon trying to manage in this weather where he could hardly see twenty yards. Then he thought about the Germans coping in the same conditions, only having it in their faces.

When he reached Canadian Corps HQ, he was eventually directed to a CEF Major Dutton who was in animated discourse with two other field grade officers moving markers around a map table. Brian waited patiently to be recognized. While doing so, he got the gist of their conversation. It seemed some things were going very well and others not so well.

At the far end of the area sat George Kobak, hunched over a field table, concentrating on some document or other. Brian decided it would be best not to bother him.

He looked at a clock on the wall—almost 7:00AM—ninety minutes since the order to attack. He could hear the barrage of the British and Canadian big guns, but they were not continuous as before. Still, the officers ignored his presence, and still he listened to their recounts of the battle.

“What is it, soldier?” One of the officers finally noticed him standing there.

“I’m MacLennan, sir. Captain Goode, sir, he told me to—”

“Here’s your man, Major. Best get him started,” the officer told one in the group who turned to observe Brian. He had a ruddy, round, bespectacled face, thinning brown hair, and a crisp moustache. “I’m Major Dutton. So you’re our lad, are you?”

Brian supposed he was. He didn’t reply, not knowing what to answer.

“Come here,” Dutton said.

Brian edged up to the table.

“Seems your little maps have done the job—so far.” The words did not seem congratulatory, only factual. He continued, pointing to the map table where as many as twenty moveable, numbered markers were spread along a jagged line. Brian recognized the red, blue and brown lines from their rehearsals and the big map of the previous day. “These represent battalions.” Dutton went on to explain how some of the objectives of this morning had been changed and how new maps had to be provided to replacement troops.

“I’ll need six more maps as soon as you can draw them. You should have been here two hours ago.”

“I was at the line, sir, ready to go over the top with the Fourth Division.”

“Bloody hell! You were supposed to report here.”

“Sorry, sir.”

“Not your doing, MacLennan. Glad you’re safe. The Fourth is catching it in the teeth.”

Brian noticed the markers at the northern end of the line had barely moved, while those on the southern and middle showed significant advances. Again his mind drifted to Harry and Lank.

He spent the next hour being briefed on the areas and specific objectives for each of the six new maps to be reproduced and distributed to replacement troops.

~ * ~
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IT WAS LATE AFTERNOON when the new maps were completed and run off on the mimeo an hour ahead of his promised time. Brian had learned that the 4th Division had not achieved the same element of surprise as the other three Canadian divisions. After suffering an initial whipping, finally—and only after the Germans were running out of ammunition—were they able to gain their first objective. Losses were reported as “very high.”

The new maps had new objectives for the town of Givenchy and a knob designated Hill 145 which, if captured, would overlook the whole of Vimy Ridge to the southwest. It was not until that night that Brian, allowed to remain in the command center, learned that the vital Hill 145 had been taken by the Canadians. He hoped the worst was over and Harry and Lank would be safe.

As replacement units were deployed, men from the first wave were returning. Brian waited to no avail for word of anyone from his unit returning. He could only speculate that they had either advanced too far for the replacements, or were pinned down somewhere. He did learn that the Germans had recaptured Hill 145. Finally, he was ordered back to his quarters at Villers with instructions to return the following morning at 8AM.
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April 12, 1917

Canada Corp HQ

Camplain-l’Abbe, France

A British Royal Flying Corps Nieuport Scout circled in the sky to the northeast, keeping watch over a slower reconnaissance aircraft in the slate grey sky. By the end of the third day, the Canadians had achieved most of their objectives. The one remaining was the high ground on the north flank of the assault known as “The Pimple.” Brian had heard nothing of Lank or Harry, except he knew they were deployed in that section with the 10th Brigade that was taking a beating from the heavily armed positions there.

When Brian reported to Corps on the morning of the eleventh, Major Dutton was waiting with assignments for additional maps. As exhausted troops returned from being replaced, they were relieved of their maps, and Brian had been given the job of securing them for disposal.

Between assignments he had little to do, and used the time to draw. The nearby artillery battery was one subject, as was the ruined row of buildings in Camplain-l’Abbe. The reverse side of the stiff cardboard maps was a perfect replacement for his used-up Red Cross stationery.

As the hours of the day passed, he heard snippets of information about the progress of the assault. The 1st and 2nd Divisions had achieved their objectives of the Brown Line by that afternoon. The 3rd was also successful in overtaking the town of Vimy that lay east of the ridge.

But the 4th was having its problems. Hill 145, which sat half way between the Allied lines and the Ridge, was heavily fortified. It was barely taken late in the day. The division’s far left was bogged down from heavy fire from The Pimple. It had taken another day and help from the British on their left flank.

Brian was making a detailed map of the town of Givenchy-en-Gohelle just below the objective when he was told to stop. The Pimple had been taken. It was 6 PM.

Around 10 PM, he and George were off duty and began to recognize men from the 10th Brigade as they returned to their billets near Villers. Brian returned with George to the barn he and his company shared, and waited.

Brian handed one of the maps he’d made to George.

“So?” George had seen enough of them.

“Turn it over,” Brian insisted.

“Oh!”

It was a portrait of Genevieve Arnoult. “It looks just like her! How did you do that?”

“I copied her face from the sketch with her sister.”

George studied the pencil drawing for a while. Then, with a shy “thank you,” placed it carefully inside his tunic.

Two or three men from the platoon wandered in, covered in grime, but not Harry. Then, shortly after 11 PM they were rewarded with the sight of Harry Gardinier’s unmistakable frame at the entrance. They would not have recognized him otherwise. The chalky earth of Northern France caked his hair and caused his eyes to peer through the layer of dirt like shiny, black marbles.

“Harry!”

“Oh, God, Brian!”

Brian waited, but Harry stood there, unable to take another step. Tears began to wash down Harry’s face, leaving streaks of exposed skin.

“Wh...what?” Brian whispered. “Harry, are you alright? Here, put your kit down and sit there.” He led Harry to a hay rick where the boy collapsed, his Enfield still firmly in his grasp.

“Lank,” Harry uttered, looking up into his friends gaze. “Boys, he’s dead.”

“Oh, Harry!” George gasped.

Harry began to shake as whatever adrenaline held him together began to wear off. The shaking escalated into sobs. Brian dropped to his knees, and put his arms around the heaving shoulders. When the sobbing stopped, Harry was fast asleep.

~ * ~
[image: image]


WHEN BRIAN WOKE THE next morning, there was already light peeking through the loft door. George had already left for duty at Battalion HQ. He was surprised to see the spot where Harry had lain to be empty. Sergeant Shanks was just entering from outside. “Sarn, have you seen Gardinier?”

“Washing Vimy Ridge off his neck, just outside,” Shanks said.

Brian lowered his voice. “Is it true about Lank?”

The older man stared at Brian, who felt awkward in his clean tunic and boots fresh from four days in the command center. “Look around you, MacLennan. Thems you don’t see are either dead or had something blown away. Yeah, Lankinen got it on the last day. Thought you’d have known by now.”

It was true. The platoon, thirty-two men at last count, looked to have been decimated if he’d taken the time to count. “Oh, Jesus,” he mumbled, but Shanks was gone.

By then, Brian felt the stares of the other men either going about their business or reclined on beds of hay, heads propped on backpacks. There were no comments, just the looks. He felt like yelling that he’d been ordered to leave the fight, but that seemed somehow...he had no word for it. Shit.

Harry slammed the door as he entered, looking much improved over the previous night. He perched on the same rick where Brian had led him a few hours earlier, and Brian followed. He waited for Harry to say something, but it was minutes before the boy from Garden River lifted his dark eyes from the floor.

“You alright, Brian?” he said.

“Me? For Crissake, Harry, me? It’s you I’m worried about!”

“Lank was your mate more than me,” Harry said.

With those words, Brian’s sense of guilt for abandoning his friends in battle overwhelmed him. Tears came. “Harry, I’m so sorry. I should’ve been with you.”

“Aw shit, Brian. You did what you were told. Hey, old man Shanks was all over that map of yours; said it was a smart idea. Hell, I even used the new one sent up yesterday. Saved my ass from getting’ lost, honest.”

Brian had already heard the officers and noncommissioned types praising the maps. General Currie’s idea to issue them to individual soldiers was deemed a success. Still, Harry’s words helped more.

“I heard the Fourth got it a lot worse than the other Divisions,” Brian ventured, dying for Harry to tell what he’d done over the last few days. He needn’t have worried. Harry seemed to have a need to verbalize those events.

“We got our asses handed to us on that first day out of the trench,” Harry said. “Gotta hand it to Captain Goode, though. He stayed with us the whole way to that first German trench on your map.”

Brian urged him to continue.

“The buggers on our right flank from the Twelfth Brigade—they got it the worst. Had to retreat back to our own trenches, the Huns hit them so hard.” He went on to explain how the 10th Brigade had to veer right to support them, and their job of taking the 4th Division’s most important objective; the high ground designated Hill 145.

Brian said, “Yeah, we heard about that. You were there?”

Harry closed his eyes and shook his head as if trying to erase a vision. “It was bloody awful. Some smart general decided not to shell a set of trenches without telling us. We had Germans popping up out of them, attacking our rear after we swept through. Cut down half our men before we ever reached the Hill.”

He told how that objective had not been taken by nightfall, and how they’d had to fend off a German counter attack from the north in the pre-dawn of the next day.

“By then, the ground was one huge muddy crater after another. Blokes are being cut down trying to work around them, no shit. Worst of it is, we gotta keep pressing forward without helping some poor bugger.”

He told of the 10th involved in securing the north side of Hill 145, while the 11th and 12th Brigades took the rest and stormed down the other side behind the retreating enemy the next day.

“That was on day three, and we thought we’d be relieved, but they sent us north to help the British take another hill they called ‘The Pimple.’”

Brian said he knew all about that and had drawn a new map showing objectives and strongholds there.

“I guess the Tommies tried lots of times to take that pile of shit,” Harry said.

Brian knew the Pimple was more than a pile of excrement. It commanded the whole valley west of Vimy Ridge, and was even more heavily fortified than Hill 145. “You were still with the Tenth?”

“Yeah, but we were assigned to a new battalion, the Forty-sixth.”

“Western Canada boys.”

“Yeah, good blokes. We had to lay low that night. Next day the bad weather got worse. I know we see some god awful weather back home. But this was a damn gale with sleet and snow! I think the Hun was surprised that anything on legs would be out in that, but we were, and at 5 AM, at that. It took us just three hours, but the Forty-sixth lost half their men.”

With that, Harry stopped talking, once more staring at his shoes.

Brian started, “Is that where...?” but he knew Ake Lankinen was on Harry’s mind as well.
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May 20, 1917

The Roeux-Gavrille Line

Near Gavrelle, France

One month to the day after leaving Lockstedt Training Camp, the three regiments of the 238th Infantry Division were relieved from their spot on the line south of Arras, and sent a short distance north to an area east of Vimy, where they learned The Imperial German Army had lost a major battle protecting an important vantage point along a ridge east of the town. Several earlier successful attempts to repel the British ultimately failed to hold back a new offensive by Canadian troops.

But the Canadians had failed to break through the defenses and push through to Berlin as Allied propaganda had been promising. German forces had ceded ground in a strategy of bend, but do not break. The 238th would be part of that new defensive line that still held strong from the cities of Lens south to Roeux.

It was in that village of Roeux on the Scarpe River that Jürgen and his comrades first saw the scale and horror of modern warfare as foretold by their feldwebel. There, a field hospital had been erected, the flaps of the tents held open to invite fresh air, exposing the extent of the wounds, both in severity and number. Jürgen heard the Canadians had caused much of the carnage through unprecedented use of artillery.

Amputations were carried out in plain sight. Severed limbs were visible in open receptacles. Men, still alive, but barely. Hardest for Jürgen to look at were the burn victims.

The division was marched through the town and on to a section of the line near the tiny settlement of Gavrelle. Here, another trench waited to be occupied.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE ASSIGNED a place among the rear trenches. Jürgen was immediately given kitchen duty in the mess tent, separating him from his friends. After his duty, he exited the tent with his own dinner of some kind of meat in a gravy ladled over what looked like decent enough bread, and took it back to a spot behind the mess tent to eat, sitting cross-legged on a rare spot of grass. The evening was warm and a breeze from the east wafted the aroma of spring from the bucolic fields of northern France.

He finished the meal which was better than expected and leaned back against the canvas of the tent. It was the first time he could remember having a minute to himself since Lockstedt. His thought were rapidly drawn to Käthe Von Helm.

Even his first sight of her had made an impression. She must have been no more than fourteen years old, because he had seen her at church the Sunday he was confirmed. Käthe was the envy of the other girls her age, always dressed in beautiful winter woolens or gossamer summer dresses. Her hair was long and silky; not the braids of the poorer girls.

At first, she would come into Neuhaus with a maid or their gardener; never with a parent. Later as she grew older, she’d come by herself for some big event, like May Day or as on that wonderful day—Shützenfest!

Every boy Jürgen’s age thought she was beyond approach, which is why, as she grew older, the more mature boys, and some much more mature, were her entourage. She seemed to have few, if any, girlfriends. But then, Jürgen had known what it was like to hold, to kiss, to—

“Off your backside, Private, and back to your unit, unless you want to scrub pots.”

The goliath that was the mess sergeant and whom Jürgen had been avoiding all afternoon, towered over him, hairy arms crossed against his stained apron. Without a word, Jürgen scrambled back to the trenches before the man changed his mind.

~ * ~
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THE 238th found itself thrown into the line at the Scarpe River, only a few miles south of Vimy where the Canadians had gained the high ground, thus a strategic advantage in the region. At least that’s what Feldwebel Büler told them. Jürgen had to admire the crusty old soldier. He admired the man’s ability to command respect with an economy of words in his curious Austrian idiom.

The 238th was acquiring the nickname Die Kommunionkinder—communion children—as if they had only recently been deemed adults by the church. Most of them had never been more than a few kilometers from their northern villages. For them, thirty-eight year old Büler was, indeed, a phenomenon.

The swagger upon detraining in France was rapidly dissipating among the troops. The short stint in the line at Bellicourt and the gruesome encounters with the wounded and dying from recent battles were taking their toll. Jürgen was as frightened as anyone.

“These trenches look like they have always been here,” he heard Hoffner say.

It was true. The sides of the trenches were reinforced with branches intricately woven together. Niches called unterständen were carved into the sides for protection against the elements and artillery. Wooden walkways to keep boots out of the water looked well-constructed.

Corporal Koss was quick to admonish, “Don’t get used to this. It’s a support trench. The forward trenches are for the likes of us.

They soon found out for themselves. A stint of duty on the second day had most of the 463d Regiment looking across niemannsland at the Allied lines less than a thousand meters away. Jürgen was assigned as a lookout while others maintained position in case of attack.

“Who are they, Feldwebel?” Jürgen asked when Büler was walking past his post. “I mean, are they the Canadians?” The intensity of the Canadian offensive at Vimy Ridge had spread among all the German units.

Büler said, “No. They’re British. Maybe Seventeenth Corps. That’s what I hear. Why do you care? Just do your job. It doesn’t matter who you have to kill in order to keep yourself alive.”

Büler’s simple logic hit home. Repulsive or not, Jürgen had come to the conclusion he would not hesitate to pull the trigger of his rifle if faced by an oncoming enemy soldier.

~ * ~
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May 24, 1917

THEY WERE IN THAT TRENCH for five days with no action, not even enemy mortar harassment. Then word came that the 463d would be assigned on a raid to take two key positions west of the line. One was a rail station on the Lens-Arras line, the other a Chemical factory nearby. Both served as fortified positions having a high value for either side.

Jürgen and Alfred were huddled against the trench wall sheltered from the miserably damp wind from the west. Jürgen puffed on his clay pipe with the last bit of tobacco from his pack.

A remnant of daylight illuminated the fine features of Alfred’s face. “When do we go, I wonder?”

“They should tell us soon enough,” Jürgen said. “I suppose I’m more concerned with the ‘how’ than the ‘when’.” As a replacement division they had trained in trench combat, not in raids through streets and buildings.

An hour later, Jürgen was scraping the bowl of his pipe when Koss assembled his two sections.

“Our battalion has been assigned to take back the chemical works.”

“Take back?” Hoffner remarked.

Koss glared at him for the interruption, but clarified his statement. “We lost it to the British last winter. Those buildings control a large portion of niemannsland. We want them back.”

Hoffner lowered his eyes, and Koss continued. “The plan is to take them back for good. We do that by first securing the buildings, followed by a full attack on their trenches by the rest of the Regiment. Taking those buildings is key to the success of the attack.”

Jürgen asked the obvious question when Koss had finished. “Once we take the building, how do we hold it?”

“We do what the Canadians did to us last month. Our artillery will lay down a carpet of scorched earth between the buildings and their lines as our troops advance. We will make sure the buildings are in our hands until that time.”

Koss’ explanation seemed solid, and Jürgen felt better. He wanted to ask how long they had to hold the captured buildings, but thought he’d already gone too far.

“We move out at oh-three-hundred hours. When we go, you follow me until I gave you further orders.” He advised the sixteen men comprising the two sections of his korporalshaft to get some rest while they could.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE IN POSITION where Büler, then Koss led them. Someone coughed. “Ruhig, du dummer Wichser!” Hoffman whispered. The skies had cleared, dropping the temperature to near freezing. In the thin slice of a waning moon, Jürgen could barely make out the broken silhouette of the building. He trembled from the air’s chill as well as his nerves.

There were living, breathing, armed troops in there. While he waited for a signal to attack, he thought of them—boys like himself—probably scared. Then he put the thought out of mind. He could not afford the luxury of compassion.

The order to move in came as a simple now! “Jetzt!” Büler hissed.

They moved at a walk in concert with other units of their battalion, waiting for return fire, an alarm—something!

The building’s crumbled walls became clearer. Jürgen could see the entire first floor intact behind thick stone. No wonder it had stood and remained a bastion of sorts.

Then it came: a shout, “Shite! The ficken Huns!” From Jürgen’s left, a light machine gun opened up casing sparks to fly on the heavy stone façade. Others followed; rifle fire and LMG noise.

“Keep moving!” Büler could be heard over the din.

Jürgen pointed his weapon, but had no target until a muzzle flash shown from the building. A hail of fire descended on that spot. He added a round or two as well.

They advanced until Koss yelled, “Now to the wall! Schnell!”

Jürgen obeyed, finding himself by an opening—once a window—now a toothless maw. Inside was no target, only pitch blackness. He pulled his single grenade from his belt, thinking there was no better time to use it.

He unscrewed the cap at the end of the long wooden handle and yanked hard on the weighted cord that dropped out of the hollow. He counted off two of the five seconds he knew the fuse had to burn—just as in training—and hurled it.

The explosion sent debris back into his face. The sound of it brought cheers from the others. Someone yelled, “Inside!” and most of Company III of the 463d Infantry regiment poured inside, firing their weapons at anything at all.

It was over almost before it began. They lost one man from the first platoon. Inside were seventeen bodies and twenty-two frightened English soldiers. Jürgen was surprised at how lightly the place was defended.

He heard an officer laugh. “A shitty replacement company did this! My God, you English should be ashamed!”

It was then that Jürgen felt the first sense of German pride since holding the colors and swearing allegiance to the Fatherland. Perhaps it was true: Gott ist mit uns!

~ * ~
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THE PRISONERS WERE removed back to Roeux and beyond. Rations were brought up from the line for the one hundred ninety men of Company III chosen to guard the building. It was noon, May 25, 1917.

Jürgen looked out on the landscape of Niemandsland. It was a strategic bunker, alright. Inside, the large building consisted of a basement that had been built for storage, but reinforced with massive steel beams to support the heavy equipment of the first floor—that equipment supposedly torn out for scrap to make weapons of war.

The basement was excellent protection against all but the heaviest of direct hits from artillery. From this position, they could survey 360o of open field. The rail station was but a few hundred meters away. It, too, had been secured, albeit with higher casualties.

Signalmen were laying telephone wire back to the east. Soon communications would be in place. It was a complete victory.

“I told you the English are no match for well-trained Germans.” Hoffner, the acting Gefreiter, strutted like a rooster while Jürgen and the others in his eight-man section took their turns at the watch. No one responded. Jürgen thought he’d wait to strut when the promised attack on the British trenches was successful. He felt exposed here. The attack was to be preceded by an artillery barrage. It was hard waiting for one to commence with Hoffner going on like that. His prideful talk was unnerving.

The sun fell away to the west and dusk settled in on their first full day there. Still no sign of retaliation by the British. At 1800, he was relieved from the watch and joined Alfred eating from a tin of rations marked Fleischkonserve. Jürgen pulled a packet of biscuits from his coat and began to gnaw on the hardened mass.

“What’s going to happen, Jürgen?”

“I guess we will attack the enemy. We wouldn’t have risked taking these positions for nothing. We’ll know for sure if the bombing starts up.”

Darkness came, but the night was silent.

~ * ~
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JÜRGEN WOKE FROM A deep sleep to the sound. He felt, more than heard it. The earth trembled, and debris ran down the sides of the walls that were still standing.

“A barrage!” someone called out.

Jürgen was confused, as the sound seemed to be strongest from the wrong direction. He gazed out onto the cratered fields. The pre-dawn light was too dim to reveal anything.

The shouting of orders began. “Full alert! Man your posts!”

“Hurry! Do as you’re told!” Hoffner yelled. He looked frightened.

The loudest noise sounded like it was coming from their own lines. Büler appeared, exhorting his platoon to be alert. “An artillery battle and it sounds like we’re getting the worst of it. The bastards preempted us!”

It was already rumored that the Allied artillery had been built up to unprecedented size for the recent operations at Vimy Ridge and the Scarpe River. Soon it was obvious to all that the sound of exploding ordinance was coming from the east. “Our guns have retreated out of range,” an officer was heard to announce. At the same time, a lookout called “Enemy!”

At first, Jürgen could see nothing from his vantage. Then he saw a line of troops running to take up positions to the north. From the south end of the building came another report of troop movement. They were flanked on both sides.

“What are they doing?” someone called.

“Quiet!” Jürgen heard Büler order.

The line of enemy was now apparent as sunlight touched tips of the leafless trees. Light artillery could be seen moving into position.

We are finished, Jürgen thought. He looked at Koss who was watching from the same hole in the wall. The corporal, who had already experienced defeat at the Marne River, had resignation in his eyes, but the lack of panic was reassuring.

“What now, Unteroffizier?” Jürgen asked.

Koss gave him a steady gaze. “We follow orders, Stern,” and left to say something to Büler and Lieutenant Stoner, who were eyeing both flanks. The first artillery shell hit at 0800. The tallest part of the wall still standing showered bricks and mortar. Then came a hail of machine gun and rifle fire. Jürgen could hear the signature short bursts of the British Lewis guns.

Men began to fall wounded or dead. By 0820, with fire coming from both flanks, it was hopeless. The order to retreat was given.

Jürgen found Hoffner pushing Alfred and a man named Scribner through a hole in the east wall, and followed. “Oh Christ! Run!” he yelled after them as they fled into the maelstrom of relentless crossfire.

They had gone fewer than fifty meters when Scribner fell, half his face blown away. “Oh God!” he heard Alfred shout over the intense noise. Another fifty meters, and Hoffner went down, a gash in his thigh seeping crimson. Alfred went back to help him.

Jürgen cried, “Alfred! We can’t stop!” to no avail.

Alfred Hauser grabbed Hoffner’s arm, and wound it around his shoulder, trying to lift him to his feet. A rock inches from them exploded from a hit. Jürgen ran back to the pair and got Hoffner’s other arm, dragged him to his feet away from the withering fire.

Somehow the three men tumbled into the forward trench of the Roeux-Gavrille German position.

Alfred looked up into Jürgen’s face and grinned, unaware of the crease in his steel helmet from a British bullet.
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Canadian Corps Headquarters

Villers au Bois, France

June 6, 1917

The mail came this day, a letter from his mother; his second from home. Owen was proving Brian right by exceeding his father’s expectations in managing the farm. His mother’s words were full of optimism and encouragement, but he could sense, or perhaps only imagine, the worry in them.

In vain, he looked for a letter from Sarah White. He’d written to her often. At first, some bold words about his feelings for her, but there were no replies, and his last few had become more tempered about his feelings. It had been weeks since he’d ventured to write to her again.

Thinking of Sarah made him wonder if Colby Wentworth was right and she had feelings for him instead. The idea made him cringe. He felt his face flush.

He’d see Wentworth from time to time, but knew Colby was in a machine gun platoon and even quartered separately. When they did encounter each other, the same smug smirk was there, as if he knew something Brian didn’t.

“MacLennan!” Brian heard his name called in Shanks’ inimitable croak. He looked up from his sketch of a ruined cottage to see his feisty NCO, hands on hips, not two feet away.

“When I holler, you jump, soldier.”

“Sorry, Sergeant, I had my head somewhere else.”

Shanks ignored the excuse. “Get your arse up to Corps. Captain Goode wants you.”

“Right, Sarn.” He put his drawing away, and trudged the two hundred yards through the mud to Corps Headquarters. Since the assault on Vimy Ridge, there had been two more actions along the Scarpe River in towns east of Vimy. Brian had made his maps of the areas around the towns of Arleux and Fresnoy for the troops. He’d heard talk of similar actions planned further north toward the city of Lens.

As before, Captain Goode was receiving intelligence from senior officers, all of them bent over a map table. “There you are, MacLennan,” Goode said, accepted Brian’s salute, and led him away from the others.

“I want to thank you for your service, but I’m returning you to regular duty.”

The words were a surprise—and a tremendous relief. He liked making the maps, but hated seeing his friends return from battle filthy and exhausted while he looked on in his spotless uniform.

Goode continued. “Sorry, but an experienced cartographer has been given the job. Frankly, I thought yours were just fine, but—”

“Very good, sir!” Brian snapped another salute, happy at the thought of returning to his mates.

“Well, then...carry on, MacLennan.”

Brian did a crisp about face, and returned to his platoon’s billet. Shanks was still there briefing the men on their next assignment. He was pretty sure what it was, because he’d copied the maps himself.

Shanks must have known about Brian’s reassignment back to duty. “MacLennan, you still know how to use an Enfield?” He didn’t wait for an answer. “Listen up. I’m not going through this again!”

He went on to tell about their part in an operation up the Souchez River toward Lens. During May several raids in the area south of Lens had been only partially successful. A small village and other objectives had been taken and briefly held, but accurate enemy artillery had succeeded in driving the Canadians back to their original lines. A full out attack on the trench that guarded Lens and its southern suburb of Avion would, if successful, provide a permanent gain.

For this action, a full rehearsal was to be held the next day on taped ground as they had done for Vimy Ridge. Brian had kept one of the small maps he’d prepared for the attack. On its reverse was the sketch of the cottage he’d been working on when relieved.

The attack was along a four mile bulge in the line around Avion and along the Souchez River that ran east/west south of Lens. The objective was to destroy German emplacements, kill or capture the enemy, then fall back before German artillery had a chance to respond. The difference between this and previous raids was the scale. Ten Canadian battalions plus a British Division north of the river would be deployed.

~ * ~
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June 8, 1917

BRIAN FOLLOWED HARRY as their company moved single file along the trench into position, their Enfields fixed with bayonets. They were assigned temporarily to the 75th Battalion. Their objectives were German emplacements along the Lens-Arras Road. Royal Air Service had reported machine gun and mortar units set up in a deepened ditch along the road’s edge north of a brewery building being used by the enemy for observation. These had been overrun in previous raids but subsequently re-established.

Darkness had fallen. Without an audible signal to attack, the battalions simultaneously and silently crept from their trenches. There was no pre-battle artillery barrage to announce their intentions, but every unit advanced on a run.

The full moon gave meagre light through a thin overcast, allowing the men to keep together. They ran for perhaps a hundred yards before the first enemy fire came from the tiny village to their right, but it was not directed at Brian’s company. Another fifty yards and more firing came from straight ahead. Brian heard the zip of a bullet past his ear. A shout of pain came from his left, and the sound of a body hitting the ground. Now he could see muzzle flashes in the distance. They’d been spotted.

“Keep moving!” Lieutenant Cross’ voice shouted from just ahead. He could not be seen as thickened overcast doused the moon’s light. Other similar orders could be heard, right and left.

He made his profile as low as possible, holding on for dear life to his Enfield. Earlier rains made the pulverized earth muddy and the sticky clay weighed like lead on his feet. His legs burned.

The rifle fire increased. A machine gun started up. Another man on his left dropped. Was that Harry? He called Harry’s name, but no response. The whole scene became surreal in the darkness. The only way to tell which way to go were the enemy gun flashes.

After another twenty-five yards of scuttling along the mud, the sky brightened, and he saw the shallow swale that was noted on his map. It was their first objective. From where he lay, he was protected from direct fire that was increasing rapidly. An explosion to his right could not have been five yards away. It deafened him, and the fallout of mud and dirt was so dense he lost all sight. “Keep moving!” came the order again. Another explosion. Again, a rain of French clay, this time someone’s forearm and hand, a wedding band still attached. A steel helmet rolled nearby. He had an urge to flee, tempered by not being sure which way to go.

“Move, MacLennan!” It was Shanks’ gravelly croak, and it had never sounded better. A hand pushed on Brian’s rump, and he resumed his crawl.

“No artillery, my arse!” Shanks yelled. “They sure got mortars!”

Another explosion, but this one behind their forward progress. At the crest of the rise, Brian surprisingly could see the road just thirty or forty yards ahead. As the moon peeked out from behind a cloud, he could see a machine gun position so clearly he could make out individual soldiers, some in helmets, and others in soft caps.

The familiar thunk of a mortar shell being launched and the commensurate puff of smoke came from the same ditch. He turned to report it to Shanks, but the sergeant was gone, off to exhort some other frightened soldier.

What was he supposed to do? The objective is to kill or capture the enemy and destroy their equipment. The words were clear, but how? The ditch was too far away for a grenade from where he lay flat on the ground.

A sweep of automatic fire passed immediately overhead. He could hear the bullets as they passed... pft-pft-pft-pft! sure that if he even peeked over the ridge he’d be killed—but he must. Another blast of machine gun fire. Brian peeked to see the gunner finish his sweep from left to right. After a few seconds another sweep, this time from right to left. The pattern was repeated.

He could not sit here and cower. He’d have to chance it. The next wave came as the gunner strafed the top of the rise. Now!

Brian rose and charged while arming the fuse of his grenade. He lobbed it in a high arc at the trench. He could see the gunner stop shooting as he and his partner watched the grenade descend, then scramble for cover. For two long seconds nothing happened as Brian continued his rush. A bright flash and pressure wave brought him to his knees, making him lose his rifle. He picked it up and stumbled forward into the trench. Tears filled his eyes, almost blinding him.

Two bodies lay next to the overturned machine gun. One of them moved, and Brian fell forward on his rifle as the bayonet drove through the boy’s chest.

Time slowed. The boy’s eyes gazed skyward, then rolled back into his head. He was a husky blond-headed boy, Brian’s brother’s age. Oh Jesus! Oh Jesus! Fear and nausea combined to well up in his gut. He was paralyzed. Think!

The top of a building was visible down the road to the south. The Brewery. Brian knew it was an objective of the raid, He moved toward it down the deepened ditch, and more sounds of machine gun fire. Head down, he rounded a slight curve to spot another pair of gunners twenty yards off. He raised his Enfield and shot, dropping the gunner. The man’s partner, wide eyed, dropped behind the body of the gunner draped over his weapon. Brian fired again, but heard the sickening click as the rifle misfired. His next image was that of the German heaving what he recognized as a “potato masher” grenade. He dove for the floor of the ditch.

The shock hit him like an anvil dropping on his chest, and then he felt nothing.

~ * ~
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“FOLLOW THE LIGHT, CAN you soldier?” An older man’s voice. Flashes of light morphed into a single source moving back and forth. Brian struggled to watch its movement.

“He’s coming out of it.”

He could feel discomfort in his buttock. The light stopped flashing. In its place, a man’s mustached face peered down at him, a grey and white-clad nurse by his side.

“Put him in C Ward,” the man said. He wore an apron, no longer white, but smeared with brownish red.

“Yes sir,” she replied, and they both turned to leave.

“You alright, chum?” Another face peered down, this time one he recognized from his platoon; a man named Adam Moyer.

“I suppose I’m alive.”

“You’re alive alright. Got a hunk of that grenade up your arse, and a concussion, but not enough to send you home.”

“What about...how did the—”

“The raid?? Good enough, I guess. They went all the way to the Avion trench and Part of Lens.” Moyer kept talking, telling Brian about details from the raid. He began to drop back into sleep, hearing Moyer’s voice drone.

The nurse returned with a soldier bearing a medic’s arm band. She directed Moyer, who kept up the chatter, to help transfer Brian onto a gurney and then to another tent.

“Let this poor boy get some sleep now,” she scolded.

Moyer left with assurances he would return.

“I couldn’t shut that guy up,” Brian slurred to the medic.

“He’s just excited,” the man replied.

“About what?”

“Saving your life. He carried your ass out of a ditch and all the way back to our lines.” The medic adjusted Brian’s pillow, saw to it he had water at bedside, and left.
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August 15, 1917

West of Lens, France

The trenches roasted under the sun bearing down from directly overhead. Fetid vapors rose from the puddles under the duckboards. There was no escaping it.

Brian strained to keep awake as he gazed across no-man’s-land to the rise that was tomorrow’s objective. Heat waves rising from the tortured earth made the few miserable sticks that were once trees shimmy like exotic dancers.

He glanced over to where Harry and Adam Moyer were pressed up against one side of the trench where a sliver of shade offered but granted no protection from the heat. Moyer had more or less replaced Ake Lankinen in their quartet of comrades since Brian’s return from the hospital.

Brian liked Moyer immensely. The man, in his unassuming way, dismissed what he had done that night two months earlier. Since returning to duty the previous week, he’d been on minor scouting parties with Moyer. But for the most part, the war for the Canadian Corps had been recently quiet.

They knew that was going to change. Four brigades had been training for a week to capture the high ground on which Brian was staring, designated Hill70. As a replacement company, Brian’s was assigned to one of the two brigades that would flank the hill on its right, entering the suburbs of Lens which lay to the south.

There was a tap on his helmet. “Noon, chum.” A boy soldier with the haggard face of a man grinned through a cigarette in his lips. It was his relief.

Brian stood down from his post and joined his friends, leaning his Enfield against the wooden frame of the trench wall, slouching down next to it. He opened a can of the soldier’s staple, Maconochie Army Ration, a stew that was intended to be eaten hot. Brian was probably the only man known to his friends who could stomach it cold.

Harry held one of the postcard-sized maps issued for tomorrow’s assault. “Not as good as yours were.”

Brian didn’t comment, but privately agreed. The cartographer had added minutia such as elevation lines and landscape details superfluous to the needs of the infantryman. Brian’s had been simple: The unit’s objectives, numbered in order, laid out in relation to the home trenches with a yardage scale at the bottom.

“You ready for this?” Moyer asked, shooing away a rat that was boldly eyeing Brian’s stew.

Brian considered the question. It would be the Canadian’s biggest action since Vimy Ridge, but his concussion and shrapnel wound had healed fully. “You worried you’ll have to tote me out again?”

Moyer reddened. “No, Mac...I didn’t...”

“He didn’t mean nothing, Brian,” Harry said.

“I know. Sorry. It’s just so blazing hot I can’t act right.” He studied his own map. The hamlets of St. Édouard and St. Émile were to the south of Hill 70. They had to be taken and held while the main attack of the summit and beyond went as planned. Fighting for these towns, which had been reduced to rubble, was mainly to engage the enemy, preventing more resources from resisting the main assault. Brian wondered if that was worth the loss of life on both sides that would inevitably occur.

Moyer read his mind. “We take that hill; it just moves the line fifteen hundred yards to the east. That’s all. Then it’s the same old shit. Sometimes I wonder what the hell our generals are using for brains.”

Brian smirked. “Lucky for us The Hun has generals, too!”

Harry guffawed. “That assumes we hold the hill.”

Brian nodded. “Fact is we only have three of our divisions engaged. They say Fritz has his whole Sixth Army out there. I’m thinking this might be a diversion to keep them occupied while the British are planning something bigger.”

Moyer peered out on the horizon. “Now you’re scaring me, MacLennan.”

“I have the feeling you don’t scare too easily, Adam.”

Moyer glance around at the use of his first name. “Where did you learn that?”

“On the dressing station report,” Brian admitted. “The medic there said you’re from Manitoulin Island. Where did you train?”

It turned out that a large group of the 119th Algoma Battalion was from Manitoulin. Somehow neither Brian nor Harry had met Moyer in Niagara.

“A fellow islander!” Brian said.

“Not really,” Harry put in, “now they got them a bridge to the mainland.”

“Really?” Brian said.

“Not really,” Adam Moyer said, “Well kind of. It’s a rail bridge they put in five, six years ago. You can’t use it for a wagon or walk across. It’s a pivotal contraption that stays open until a train comes along.

“How do your folks make a living?” Brian asked.

“Same as yours, I suppose. Lots of farming there. My dad and I log, mostly.”

“Got a girl back there, Moyer?” Harry smirked.

“Bet your ass, Gardinier!”

And that’s how they spent the afternoon as all soldiers do: waiting, talking of home, of girls, out-thinking their officers, forgetting about their fear.

~ * ~
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THEY WATCHED TROOPS from the 1st Division clamber from their trenches behind a rolling barrage in the pre-dawn light of August 15. As the sky brightened, aeroplanes from the Royal Air Service roamed, directing artillery fire. The shelling was constant, and almost as loud as the Vimy Ridge barrage of last April.

“When do we go?” Harry asked nobody in particular.

Brian was sketching the scene on the back of his map while Company C waited in the trench. “Not until those villages are taken and we’re called to relieve.”

“So those bastards get all the glory,” Harry said.

Moyer lit another cigarette. “Glory! Shit I just want to survive. That’s what I’m thinking.”

By 8 AM the artillery barrage quieted to only directed fire, called in by forward observers and returned aircraft. One hour later, word came for them to march to the village of Cité St. Édouard. The crest of Hill 70 had been taken successfully.

They followed along a rail spur that had been badly treated by the artillery. Twisted rails and cratered road bed were interspersed with undisturbed sections of track. Haze from the burning oil of smoke bombs lingered over the fields. Along the road were shattered gun carriages, caissons, and mangled horses, their mouths agape in last minute anguish.

Soon, with the rise of Hill 70 on their left, they could see the roofs of the city of Lens on their right. They entered St. Édouard around 10 AM. There was almost nothing left of the place, from where its citizens had long since fled, mostly to Arras, they supposed.

Brian wondered about those citizens, and if they ever would, or could, return to the life they knew. He doubted it. This war was destroying more than houses, shops, and roads. It was obliterating a culture.

Already preparations were being made for an expected counterattack. Horses were drawing up the eighteen pound guns of the field artillery they’d marched with. Positions along the north, east, and south edges of the village were being hardened. They learned how the first wave overwhelmed the enemy who, for the most part, had retreated, and were assumed to be regrouping.

Almost immediately, as feared, the counterattack materialized. To the south, and over a slight rise, came a line of infantry. The eighteen pounders and mortar units had set up and begun getting their range. Soon the artillery began to produce gaps in the enemy lines, but on they came. The order to fix bayonets was given and repeated around the rim of the village.

“We’re in for a cock-up,” Adam Moyer called out over the cannons and shouting of orders.

Brian fixed his bayonet. The memory of that great spike entering the chest of a boy returned. He watched the enemy advance over the pock-marked field, the gloriously blue sky of the otherwise beautiful summer day at their backs. The mortars started pumping their projectiles into the sky, having found their range. Brian could see individuals falling, or taking cover, he couldn’t tell which.

On they came. Soon they were within rifle range. “Fire at will,” came an anonymous order. He fired off two rounds, but saw no results. A second wave of enemy soldiers appeared over the rise.

Above the din he could hear a frightened voice reciting the Lord’s Prayer. It was somehow comforting, despite his liturgical doubts. He squeezed off two more rounds and saw a man, perhaps a hundred yards away, go down—so much more sterile way of killing than the bayonetting of that boy in the roadside ditch last June.

The two sides had different advantages. To be sure, the Germans had the numbers, possibly two to one. But the Canadians had the cover of the ruined town and additional artillery support from the top of the newly captured Hill 70.

The Germans were relentless in their attack, despite their lack of cover. At fifty yards, machine gun platoons opened fire and slowed the first wave, but by then the second wave was at hand.

Brian reloaded, and emptied a clip as enemy soldiers reached the low wall where he and his company had been posted. The wide-eyed face of a helmeted German appeared while Brian slammed a new clip into his weapon. The man almost fell on him as he pulled the trigger. Another grey uniform hurled itself over the wall only to be caught by his bayonet.

A red rage burst in Brian’s head—more from disgust and fear than from hatred. Killing had become easier. It was a demon beneath his rib cage, taunting him to join in the mayhem. Fighting turned hand-to-hand, except for those still firing from cover.

What seemed like an hour, but not fifteen minutes later, the upper hand was gained, and the enemy retreated toward Lens ahead of relentless fire.

This round went to the Canadians at the cost of heavy losses. Casualties in C Company were forty. Half of those were killed. Brian knew them all, two of them well. He would never be the same.

~ * ~
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THEY HELD THE VILLAGE for another 24 hours. Surely they’d be told to pull back to the Canadian lines. The hill was taken, and the little hamlet of Cité St. Édouard had no more tactical importance.

They were wrong. The taking of Hill 70, and the success in repulsing the German contingent from Lille convinced someone in the Canadian command to march on Lille itself.

A medical unit was evacuating the Canadian dead and wounded, one hundred-eighty casualties in all. Brian watched the wagons wobble down the rutted road. Another train of troops and equipment came up the same road from the rear. Light artillery, mortar and machine gun platoons joined what appeared to be another eight hundred to a thousand troops.

He and Harry were sharing a cigarette in their section of the perimeter. Lieutenant Cross was nearby, taking a long pull from his canteen when they heard a familiar voice.

“Lieutenant Cross, sir,” It was George Kobak.

“George!” Harry called, but Kobak was all business.

“What is it, Private?” Cross screwed the top back on his canteen.

“I need to speak with Captain Goode,” George said.

Cross seemed to consider the request before realizing it might be something important, and said, “I’ll take you to him.”

They were away for several minutes while Brian and Harry pondered what that was all about. Moyer walked over to the two. “The stench is getting to me,” he said, holding a cloth to his face.

Harry nodded. “That and the flies. We should give this pile of bricks back to Fritz and let him pick up his dead.”

The streets of the destroyed town were filled with troops. Officers and NCOs shouted orders, trying to keep discipline in their commands amongst the rubble of Cité St. Édouard. Lieutenant Cross returned with Captain Goode, who assembled the entire company outside the ruins of a bakery.

“Now listen up,” Goode began his instructions to Company C. “Our battalion will be part of an attack on the city of Lens. We will be part of the Fourth Infantry Division’s attack of the city. We will be on the right flank of the Brigade.”

It would mean moving the battalion out of this village in a wide counter-clockwise arc around Lens to the right of 4th Division’s position.

They formed up and moved southeast for about two miles to where they’d been assigned alongside another one of the Fourth’s battalions. After about an hour of confusion, they began their march toward the German lines.

“Who are these guys?” Moyer wondered aloud.

“Don’t know,” Brian said. “Think that battalion’s from Vancouver, though. Seem like good enough chaps. They seem happy to have us.”

“Spreads the odds, the more of us there are,” Harry said.

They were advancing over open terrain in a one mile-wide portion of no-man’s-land.

The Division’s artillery started up. They could hear the shriek of the eighteen pounders from guns that had been drawn up to positions close behind. Explosions began to erupt ahead. Plumes of dirt and smoke rose up from over the rise.

An explosion lifted the earth and more than one soldier into the air not fifty feet away. They all went to ground as dirt rained down. Instinctively the three friends spread out as if to ensure against their mutual demise.

We’ve been zeroed in on, Brian thought, as the whole company hunkered down in a shallow ditch. The Germans must have had a battery of mortars, because the bombardment continued for several minutes with no let-up. It was so intense Brian wanted to bury his head in the soft dirt...his feelings were beyond fear as he waited for death. My God, make it stop! He felt his bowels begin to liquefy and knew he was about to foul himself. The bombardment—or minenwerfer—abruptly ended, but after many minutes of murderous intensity.

Shelling from their own lines increased. The infantry of the 4th Division and supporting units were in full run. Brian straggled forward. A double line of barbed wire was just below the crest of a rise. Orders were given to take cover. The most likely place there in the open was an old (or not so old) shell crater. Brian watched in awe as designated men bravely scuttled forward with wire cutters, adding gaps in the wire where the shelling had failed. Some were left there, lifeless, hanging on the wire they had just cut. In a matter of minutes, the whistle to advance was given. They rushed for the openings in the wire, pulling the coils aside as they passed.

Then, once more, all hell broke loose. This time, machine gun fire from multiple positions, and it was directed on the gaps. Soon men were tripping over their fallen mates in order to get through.

Brian was one of the first of twenty or so who made it through, finding cover with three others behind the roots of an overturned tree. The machine guns were spread some fifty yards apart, forming the German’s first line of defense with enfiladed fire.

One of their group, a corporal from the 46th, took charge. “Look here, boys. We ain’t gonna live if we don’t take out that nest up there.”

Brian looked at the other two: one of them a kid he didn’t know, scared out of his mind, the other a man from first platoon, much like himself—scared, but rational.

“What you have in mind, Corporal?” Brian shouted over the combined noise of the shelling and machine gun chatter.

“Those Huns gotta reload sometime. When they do, we rush in behind ‘em and pay a visit to their back door.”

It didn’t sound like much of a plan to Brian, but then what else was there to do? They waited while the minenwerfer continued to rain down on the Canadians who had drawn back from the wire, and the machine guns continued to mow down anything that moved. He thought about Adam’s words about sensing a “cock-up.” If this wasn’t it, he couldn’t guess what was.

As predicted, the machine gun stopped.

“Now or never, lads!” the corporal hissed.”

To Brian’s surprise, the soldier who had seemed so frightened, drew a breath, set his jaw and leapt from cover up the rise. Brian felt himself respond, and followed as if his legs had control of his brain. The sound of the others’ feet slapping the ground was close behind.

Just then intense small arms fire commenced from the crest of the rise where the Germans had been entrenched and waiting. Most of it seemed to be directed over the wire at the dug-in Canadians. Then, friendly artillery fire began finding its range on the German trench.

The nearby machine gun started up again, joining their comrades down the line.

The corporal motioned Brian to approach the gun emplacement from the opposite side, along with the young troop. The corporal and the other man would approach from the other side.

As they ran, Brian felt a bullet rip through his backpack. The machine gun position was surrounded by sandbags on all sides. The gunner was strafing back and forth. One of the men was cooling the barrel with a wet towel. Two others were handling ammunition. It was one of those who spotted them. He got off a shot, killing the man from first platoon, and paid for it in kind. The three remaining Canadians emptied their clips into the dugout. The gunner slumped against his weapon, causing the barrel to point awkwardly into the uncaring summer sky.

“Gas!” came a cry from somewhere. The word was the same in German as English. Brian paused to determine the origin of the alarm.

“Let’s go!” The corporal shoved him in the back.

But Brian stood transfixed as a greenish cloud crept over the crest where enemy troops in masks began to descend toward them.

“Now!” the corporal shouted, and was well away toward the wire.

Brian and the young troop followed in his dust. He fumbled in vain to open the flap of his gas mask bag, bounding down the hill. Puffs of dust exploded around them. At the gap, the corporal went down, his helmet being the only part of him to make it through.

Together, Brian and his companion soldier leapt over the body of the nameless corporal, their leader just minutes ago. The barbed wire caught Brian’s arm, tearing away a patch of cloth and adding a three inch gash on his shoulder.

His throat began to burn before he thought to put the mask he held in his hand to his face. Ahead, the whole 4th Army was in retreat from the gas. He looked to find the young soldier who had been so brave, but the boy had either fallen, or was off in a different direction.

They ran and ran until the fickle wind shifted the gas away from the southeastern boundary of Lens, France.
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Late September 1917

In transit to Roulers, Flanders

He could smell her, feel her breath on his cheek. Käthe Von Helm’s breast was soft under his touch. He gently, lovingly moved down over her satin-smooth belly to the reward waiting there. It was... the boxcar rumbled over a trestle, arousing Jürgen from his reverie. He lifted his gaze to the scene. Forty tired and hungry soldiers, heads bobbing to the jostling sway of the train.

They were headed north. The rumor was liberty in Antwerp, but he didn’t believe it. Exaggerated stories of good times and easy women were being spread by young men no older or worldly than he. Wishful thinking was more like it, he thought.

His eyes found Hoffner asleep on the straw-covered floor by the big sliding door. He’d been released from the dressing station and declared fit for duty. Alfred Hauser had visited him over the three weeks of his recovery, and they’d become close. It was a strange friendship; Alfred the sensitive, delicate featured musician, and Hoffner, the often crass, boastful, know-it-all.

Sun slanted in through an opening by the door, illuminating Berg, Sternkopf, and Veldstein gambling for cigarettes on the dirty floor boards. The heat and the monotonous motion of the boxcar caused him to drop into a half-sleep once more.

They had held the Roeux-Gavrelle line for four months until a day ago when they were relieved by a Bavarian unit. After the attack on the chemical works and rail station, followed by the failed attempt to overwhelm the British 17 Corps, they dug in at their original trenches, suffering constant harassment and casualties from artillery and night raids.

The commanders were obdurate in maintaining a strategy of a defensive war, hoping to defeat the enemy through attrition. Jürgen could not see how that was working, in the least.

For every victory and for every defeat, it seemed the losses on both sides were equal. The British were bringing in troops from their entire empire: Australians, New Zealanders, Indians, South Africans, and of course, the Canadians. Now it seemed the Americans had entered the war as well. Beat them by attrition? How could we?

The train rocked on for another two hours, stopping on a siding once or twice to let a southbound train or lone engine pass. It was late afternoon when it slowed for the last time. Jürgen peeked through a crack to see a sign announce the town of Roulers.

“Must be Belgium,” he said to himself, aloud.

“More specifically, Flanders.” The voice was Feldwebel Büler’s.

“What’s the difference?” he asked the older man.

“In the north, Belgians are more like the Dutch. They even speak it.”

“It looks like a busy place.” Jürgen had his face to the crack. “How long are we here, Feldwebel?”

Büler laughed. “They don’t consult sergeants on those matters, Stern. You’ll do much better in the army by putting one foot in front of the other, and not concerning yourself so much with the future.”

It was a cynical outlook, but Jürgen knew he was right. It was how he’d learned to cope over the past months of paralyzing fear, watching comrades die, their bodies wrenched apart by a mortar shell, or rendered lifeless by a sniper’s bullet. So far, his little group of friends had come through unscathed, save minor injuries from flying shrapnel. They all suffered from poor nutrition, dysentery, and lack of sleep. Their saving grace at Gavrelle had been the well-built trenches. Only direct or near hits had caused most of the fatalities.

~ * ~
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THEY DETRAINED TO FIND a town with some shops still operating, but many already destroyed or abandoned and looted. They marched to an assembly area where, nearby, they were assigned to quarters in an abandoned factory, and immediately dismissed until evening rations could be found for the two hundred-twenty hungry men of Company III.

Jürgen, along with Hauser, Berg, and Hoffner, wandered off down the main street of the town. It was busy with military vehicles, horse drawn carts, and soldiers. Hoffner, despite his humbling experience at Gavrelle, assumed his leadership role, and led the excursion, making instructional comments about this or that.

But it was Jürgen who had been endowed with an innate mien of leadership, and the others naturally gravitated to him as they walked. He couldn’t help but notice what a charming town Roulers had once been. The shops, such as cobblers, drapers, haberdashers were all dark or destroyed. Curiously, the estaminets seemed to be going strong. They counted at least three operating in various stages of repair.

“Who has money?” Jürgen asked.

They managed to pool together some French centimes and German pfennigs, and entered a door under a sign advertising “De Drei Koningen.”

At once, they were uncomfortable. Two of the four tables were occupied with officers.

Alfred whispered, “We’d better go.”

The officers at the near table looked their way, but said nothing.

“No,” Jürgen said. “Pull up some chairs over there. We’ll order some good pils.”

To his relief, the proprietor wiped his hands on a soiled apron and approached.

“Heren?” the man’s eyes darted to the officers’ tables.

“How much for beer?” Jürgen inquired in German.

The man gave him the price, which was thankfully just within their resources.

“Yes! Four beers, please.”

The beer was drawn, and served in clay mugs.

“Not bad,” Berg, the oldest, said.

Jürgen had been used to drinking at home since he turned fifteen, and agreed with Berg. It seemed there were some things even this miserable war could not affect. “A little warm, but my first since Lockstedt.”

They soon settled into a somewhat exaggerated conviviality stimulated by their first freedom of any kind since enlistment.

Hoffner said, “I say to hell with our dinner. We’ll just drink it!”

Berg laughed. “You’re the one with no money!”

“I’ll pay you all back. I’m good for it!” Hoffner’s face reddened under his blond, almost platinum hair.

“If we ever get paid,” Hauser said, sipping gingerly at his mug.

Hoffner noticed. “Not a drinker, Alfred! Don’t they have beer in Stade?”

“Don’t worry about me, Heinz. When yours is gone, I’ll still be drinking.”

The banter continued until, as Hauser predicted, their mugs were dry. It was time to pay. On the table their shared coins were counted out, and the proprietor came over to collect.

“You, men!”

Four heads turned to see one of the officers approaching. His tunic displayed the braided collar board of a field officer—two pips indicating an oberst, or full colonel.

They shot to their feet, wide-eyed.

“What is your unit?”

They looked to Hoffner, their gefreiter and nominal leader, but he was speechless, mouth agape.

“Two hundred thirty-eighth Infantry, sir. Four thirty-six Regiment,” Jürgen replied. “We have just arrived from the Roeux-Gavrelle line, Oberst.”

The colonel said nothing, but waited as the proprietor scraped up the coins from the table. “Herr Dykstra. Bring these brave soldiers another round and add it to my bill. They are the heart and soul of The Fatherland. And be generous with your draft, Dykstra.” He returned to his table without another word.

The men waited for their beer in silence before Alfred said, “Those officers—they look so confident. Do you suppose they know if Germany will win this war?”

“What do you mean, ‘if?’” Hoffner scoffed. “Haven’t you seen the buildup of troops and guns here? Germany will march to Paris by Christmas.”

Jürgen hunched his shoulders. “Remember that big blast that shook the earth back in June? Feldwebel Büler says it was miles north of Lens, yet we still felt it. He says thousands of our men died when the English detonated several large mines at once and won a major victory near the town of Messines.”

“Hoffner could be right,” Berg said. “If we weren’t strong, they would have continued on after such a victory, but we held.”

Jürgen couldn’t deny he had wondered why the enemy hadn’t pressed their advantage, if the explosion at Messines was so devastating. “One thing is sure,” he said. “They haven’t brought us up here for nothing. Something big is about to happen.”

“Now you are making sense.” Hoffner took a last gulp of beer.

“Are you frightened, Jürgen?” Alfred cocked his head slightly.

Jürgen considered how to answer the question, but was preempted by a very close-by explosion. Dust filtered down from the ceiling and glassware rattled on shelves behind the bar. The four soldiers found themselves taking cover were they could. Oddly the officers hadn’t moved except to brush bits of plaster from their uniforms.

One, a junior officer, called to them. “You boys must get used to city life. That was just Tommy sending us a good night kiss!” The others chuckled appreciatively.

“Let’s drink up and go,” Jürgen said. “I’m hungry.”

~ * ~
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THEY STAYED IN ROULERS for three more days with little to do but “stand to” each morning and evening. The increasing military traffic in and out of town was obvious. Troops from other units, including the two other regiments of their own division, were pouring in. It was becoming clear that Jürgen’s earlier speculation about an imminent battle was correct.

Moving an infantry division from one place to another is a logistical nightmare. In 1917 the typical German division was composed of over eight thousand men plus officers. It had taken a month to arrange the move of the 238th from Northern France to Flanders, and another four days to communicate with, and assemble, the three regiments for a march en masse a mere ten kilometers to the west. For Jürgen and his friends, the word west confirmed they would be taking part in the immense preparations that were taking place.

They set out on a march through town, and by noon they were encamped on the eastern slope of a hill near what remained of the village of West Roosebeke. Here there was no shelter against the steady rain that began on the afternoon of their arrival.

Latrines had to be dug, canvas tents were distributed (typically not until after the rain had started), one to every four troops. Mess facilities were set up, one for each battalion of eight hundred sixty men. There were no pre-dug trenches there. It was merely a holding area, to be sure.

They lived thus for the next week, hunkered down, trying in vain to keep their weapons dry. Adding to their misery was a new wave of dysentery among the men. Long queues formed for a turn to straddle the boards thrown over the latrine pits.

And the rain increased.
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Thirteen
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October, 1917

Ypres, Belgium

What was left of the original brigade was barely recognizable to Brian. Since the attack on Lens and Hill 70, replacements had come to fill losses going back to the Vimy Ridge offensive. That Ake Lankinen was the only casualty (other than himself) among his closest friends was hard to believe.

In an unprecedented act of transparency, they were informed the entire Hill 70 operation had been a feint to draw the enemy’s resources away from Flanders, where the next big drive would be. What was not said, but was well rumored, was the feint did little to create the desired outcome. This, at the expense of almost ten thousand Allied casualties. A period of inactivity followed up and down the northern sector of the Western Front. Idleness is the soldier’s enemy, and morale had hit a low point.

Early October was passed doing the mind-numbing tasks associated with moving the entire Canadian Corps from northern France to a position east of Ypres, replacing British and Anzac units. The entire support organization had to be re-deployed...supply depots, dressing stations, mess facilities, command centers. All of this carried out by the rank and file, slogging through rain-mired country roads. The artillery suffered the most. The distance of not more than thirty miles might as well have been several hundred. The men knew there had been two previous “battles to end the war” at Ypres (Wipers, they called it) and were not easily inspired that this would be any different.

~ * ~
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THE CITY OF YPRES WAS, after being three years near the front lines, reduced to nothing that resembled its storied glory. Brian’s unit had stopped there while receiving rations and line assignments. He took time to sketch what was left of the famous Cloth Hall, a magnificent building that dated back to the thirteenth century. Much of it was completely destroyed by German bombing, but the famous tower hadn’t been leveled.

He’d managed to scavenge more map cards from the Hill 70 attack, and had been using one of them for the Cloth Hall. The sketch and his pencils were stowed in his pack, and he was on his way for the mess wagon when he literally ran into Colby Wentworth.

“Easy there, McLennan! What’s the hurry?”

Christ! Wentworth. “Just on my way to the mess.”

“You’d better hurry. They’re shutting down soon.”

Brian said nothing, but commenced on his way.

Wentworth called after him, “By the way, McLennan, have you heard from Sarah?”

Brian stopped. The words hit him like a cudgel. He turned. “Why...would you care?”

“Oh, no reason. Just thought you’d like news from home. She says all the ladies of the Women’s Institute are knitting scarves and socks for the boys.”

Brian turned on his heel, continuing on his way. His face was flushed, his ears ringing as if he’d taken a blow to the head.

~ * ~
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THEY ARRIVED ON THE line on 18 October, replacing the 2nd Anzac Corps with orders to take and hold the high ridge between the town of Passchendaele and the village of Westroosebeke. Their position was little different from that of the British in the spring of 1915. It was an objective the British had failed at twice before, and had become almost an obsession of British Field Martial Douglas Haig’s. General Currie was given the task of doing the impossible.

Currie was against the plan, feeling the weather and terrain was not conducive for an attack, and the potential loss of life not worth the small chance of a breakthrough. Haig prevailed.

Once more, General Currie was meticulous in his planning. Once more he was issuing the postcard maps to the men, but Brian was excused from this duty again for which he was grateful. If this was to be the “big one,” he wanted to be with his comrades.

Outside of Ypres they had rehearsed what was to occur on the field. As in past Canadian involvements, objectives were laid out in the form of colored lines. Key reference points were designated; the foundation of a farmhouse, the remnants of a church, the mangled rail line to Roulers.

It was along these tracks where Brian’s battalion was assigned, supporting the 46th Battalion of the 4th Division. This was the far right flank of the Canadian Corps. The men knew the 46th well, having fought alongside them at Vimy, and Hill 70.

As the weather turned cooler, one of the first things the men noticed was the greatcoats of the Ypres veterans. They were short; knee length instead of at the issued mid-calf, and they soon discovered why. The sticky, yellow Flanders mud would gather at the skirt and add considerable weight to the coat. By then, the high command had turned a blind eye to the practice of cutting off as much as a foot from the skirts. After only days in the area, Brian and his mates followed suit.

His first impression of the now famous Ypres salient was the utter lack of any sign of a former civilization. There was not a man-made structure standing, nor a tree or bush. The entire front was an ocean of grey-yellow mud pocked with huge, water-filled craters as far as a man could see.

On the 22nd of October, the barrage of German positions commenced. The men knew it could be hours or a few days before the assault began, but begin it would.

~ * ~
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October 25. 1917

Near Moorslede, Belgium

THE 10th Bavarian Regiment had been replaced by units of the Gruppe Ypres, fresh infantry to which the 238th Division was juxtaposed for the expected allied offensive. For four days, the shelling along their lines had been almost unbearable. The men were becoming inured to seeing whole platoons dismembered by a direct hit, or a solitary hunk of shrapnel tear into a man standing nearby.

Jürgen heard the increased shelling was due to the exhausted Anzac troops being replaced by the artillery minded Canadians. It made no difference to him. Both had reputations of being dogged fighters. But the damned shelling! It was constant. The village of Moorslede was rubble, hardly a building standing. Lately the British aeroplanes had gained superiority over Flanders. They were flying bombers with impunity, and with pinpoint accuracy.

The battle lines, as usual, were static, or nearly so. Each side would lose hundreds, even thousands of men for a few yards of real estate. Real estate! The land was nothing but rain-soaked pulverized earth with craters so deep and close together as to make it impossible to traverse in a straight line.

The men were completely spent. The rain-soaked soil stuck and sucked at their boots. The slightest wound or misstep could cause a man to fall into a crater, many of them chest-deep in water. Without help it was impossible to extricate oneself. Many wounded or disoriented drowned in the chaos of the battle, but the Germans, with the high ground, were told they had it better than the attacking Canadians.

The 238th had been assigned to retake a wooded area the maps called Decline Copse. They had been slogging in the ditches along the Ypres-Roulers rail line making dugouts and machine gun emplacements. With the increased enemy shelling over the past three days, the task was like living in hell.

Jürgen looked around at his comrades. Hoffner had been killed the day they arrived on the line, Sternkopf removed to the rear with a foot blown away. Half the men were replacements he barely knew. Where was the bravado of Lockstedt just months ago? Jürgen did not think he had the energy to fight when it came time, and they knew that was inevitable. The enemy does not waste munitions unless it is preparing to attack. He was wet clear through to his skin and covered in the slippery clay of Flanders.

His name was called, and he jerked as he came alert. “Stern!”

It was Lieutenant Stoner.

“Stern—you are the sharpshooter?”

He hadn’t been assigned to a heckenshüztze post since his first weeks of active duty. He blinked, saluting. “Yes, Lieutenant!”

Stoner consulted a map. “Three hundred meters down the track is a rail station. Go down there and set up a post. We expect penetration from the enemy tomorrow, latest. You will be our first alert. Pick off an officer, if you can. That should slow their advance while they figure out next in command. You can identify an officer. He’ll be carrying a pistol instead of a rifle.” He pointed to the station on the map where what looked like a wooded area was shown nearby. “You can make it into those woods, then back to our position.”

Jürgen swallowed hard. There was no arguing with the lieutenant. Corporal Koss, the unteroffizier, perhaps. Not even Sergeant Büler, the strict but fair feldwebel. This sounded like a suicide mission.

“Yes, Lieutenant! At once!” He saluted.

“Get some water and food for the night, Stern.” Stoner returned the salute and strode away with a task for some other volunteer.

~ * ~
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JÜRGEN SIGHTED HIS scope down the track. He had a clear view sitting in the shadows well back of the second story window. It was perfect, his rifle resting on a crate he’d found on the tracks below. What was not so perfect was the fact that the “thick” woods on the map had become a denuded collection of sticks, their branches and leaves having been blown away by relentless barrages. His chances of using the woods for cover were almost nil. The station was still standing only because of thick stone walls and the lack of a direct hit. Its interior stairwell was barely intact.

In the distance, he thought he could see the wire of the Canadian lines. He’d been told they were just hundreds of meters away. It was almost dark. Not even the Canadians would begin an offensive at night. He settled in for a long night, trying not to think of what might come in the morning.

~ * ~
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October 26. 1917

Near Moorslede, Belgium

JÜRGEN STARED OUT INTO the black. He’d been dozing, and the realization shocked him into alertness. Something was different. It was the silence. The incessant rain had stopped, as had the sound of the enemy’s big guns. He had no idea what time it was, carefully making his way to the window and listening. Nothing.

The end of the barrage meant the attack was imminent. Possibly forty-five minutes passed, and then something. He could barely make out shapes in the predawn light. It’s the attack! Before he could find a target, he could hear footsteps already directly below.

How could he shoot when he had no clear target? Shuffling sounds came from inside the building. He returned to his rifle, taking it with him under the crate he’d used as its mount. Don’t even breathe.

He waited for the sound of footsteps on the stairs, but none came, only the sound of a thousand boots crunching on the ground, possibly the whicker of a horse, a whispered command. Then, as quickly as they had come, they were gone, having passed through to the east.

He tried to come to grips with the fact he had failed in both his objectives...the most damaging was not engaging the enemy, thereby depriving his unit forewarning of the enemy’s advance. Only a few minutes later, he heard the first sounds of small arms fire and its crescendo into all-out battle.

Jürgen was miserable and at a loss for what to do. I am now in enemy territory. He emerged from his hiding place and strode to the window. The morning was brightening, revealing a pitiful landscape of twisted rails and cratered earth, all shrouded in ground fog.

But there was something else...the figure of a lone man following the rail bed, and coming toward the station. He carried no rifle. An officer! Jürgen quietly checked the breach of his Mauser for a seated round. This was his belated chance to make up, even partially, for his failure. Come closer!

The man was walking, head down, picking his way through the detritus of the destroyed rail tracks. Jürgen sighted for the head, a sure kill, and squeezed the trigger.

The sound of the gun echoed in the empty room. Under the window, Jürgen saw the man drop face down, arms outstretched. His saucer-shaped helmet spun away like a top.

Got him.

He took the rifle down to the first floor to get a better look. There he was, not five meters from the doorway. He laid aside his weapon and ran to the prone figure, turning the body over. This was no officer!

Jürgen had no idea who else might be following the man. Get him out of sight. He dragged the body into the station and retrieved his rifle, thinking about what to do. He took time to look at the soldier he’d killed. Canadian, alright, the collar pin with the maple leaves surrounding the number 119. Better check his pockets.

Yes. There was something in each breast pocket of the tunic. One was a letter written under what looked like a military letterhead, and signed by someone with the title: Commander, the word almost identical to the one in German.

Jürgen could speak some English, but the writer’s longhand script was illegible to him. He put the letter in his own pocket. The other item was a postcard-sized map on stiff cardboard. None of the locations or notations on it seemed to have anything to do with this area. Among them was a road with an arrow labeled “TO LENS.” That was miles from here...useless.

He noticed something on the reverse side, a drawing—that of a girl. She was beautiful, and Jürgen thought of Käthe as he had done often over the past months while holed up in some miserable trench or dugout.

There was a soft exhale that emanated from the soldier’s body. A death rattle? Jürgen put his fingers to the man’s open mouth, but could not be sure. He chambered a round into the Mauser, and pointed it at the temple.

No. He couldn’t. This would be murder, not war. The man was probably dead anyway. He stuffed the map into his pocket with the other, and fled into what meagre cover the woods and the fog might provide.
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Fourteen

[image: image]


October 26, 1917

Canadian Corps

Near Zonnebeke, Belgium

They huddled together, keeping warm under a rubber sheet in their shell crater. The men had been moved as far forward as possible overnight in preparation for the assault.

Brian’s company was temporarily attached to the 4th Army’s 46th Battalion, responsible for the Corps’ right flank. Their first objective in the coming battle was to follow the old Ypres-Rouelers rail line (roughly northeast) to a German strongpoint established near a wood indicated on the map as Decline Copse.

Harry Gardenier cradled his rifle, keeping it clear of the mud. “I got a bad feeling this time, Brian old boy. I’m thinkin’ it wouldn’t be so bad to be Kobak, nice and dry back in Corps HQ.”

“Shut the hell up, Harry.” Adam Moyer poked the rubber sheet with the tip of his barrel and peered out into the dark. “Rain’s let up; only a mist.”

Brian thought of George, and remembered how miserable he had felt when his mates went off to fight, and he stayed back making maps. He climbed up the side of the crater in an effort to keep his feet out of the water.

Harry noticed. “My socks are already wet.”

“To hell with your socks. Think about getting your ass back in one piece!” Moyer said.

Brian was about to comment when the whistled signal came. It was 5:40 AM.

“This is it, boys!” they heard Sgt. Shanks call from the next crater. That was the last order they heard. Silently, thousands of men emerged from their dugouts, craters, and trenches along a two hundred yard line and began their part of General Currie’s plan to assault the Passchendaele Ridge. Twice before it had ended in failure.

For a while, the men skirted water-filled craters walking on wooden grates laid by the engineers, but those were soon gone. They picked their way, often single file, occasionally having to help a man who’d stumbled into one of the holes as dangerous as quicksand. They trudged in silence, only the sucking step on the man ahead to be heard. Keeping that man in sight was the only way to know where to go.

When they came to the rail bed, the going got easier. Brian followed a horse laden with two Vickers machine guns. They’d been walking for less than a quarter hour when the indistinct shape of a building loomed ahead. By then, the battalion had spread out over a wide swath. Lt. Cross held up a hand, signaling a halt. They waited, but no enemy activity ensued. Cautiously Cross advanced, and they followed. As they passed the ruined train station, Brian noticed a few of the troops nosing around on the ground floor, but he continued up the rail bed.

They’d gone another one or two hundred yards when the first shot rang out. In the foggy, first light of day he couldn’t be sure from which side it was fired, but other shots followed.

The advancing troops were frantically searching for cover. Brian found an overturned railroad hand car, and was joined by two others, neither from his company. He could see muzzle flashes through the ground fog. Others began returning fire.

Mortars began to explode among them. One landed behind them, sending a piece of shrapnel hard against the hand car inches from Brian’s head.

“Jesus!” cried one of the others.

“Keep moving!” It was Sgt. Shanks, already leading the way forward, his bayonet prodding the mist. Brian knew to stay there would be lethal. He and the others reluctantly followed. He snapped on his bayonet.

Increased shooting from ahead, this time augmented by machine gun. A cry of pain from his right as a man went down, then another. Still Shanks edged forward, signaling his platoon to follow. Mortar explosions continued at their rear, confirming Shanks’ wisdom in moving forward.

A second machine gun started up, forcing the Canadians to ground. Brian crawled forward to where Shanks lay flat.

“You okay, Sarn?”

Shanks spit a clot of Flanders soil from his mouth “Think so. You see that M-G?” He motioned to a spot where bursts of fire were coming.

Brian nodded.

“You and me are gonna shut it down.”

Brian had no idea how that might be accomplished, but waited for Shanks to continue. The sergeant pointed to Brian and to the right of the machine gun. Then he pointed to himself and to the gun’s left. Brian nodded his comprehension of what he assumed his NCO had in mind.

Between bursts of fire, Brian crawled through mounds of dirt hurled up by earlier shelling. At times he’d been sure he was spotted, and would lie flat in the wet soil, waiting for the fatal bullet that did not come. Inch by inch he wormed his way to a depression about five yards to the right of the gun emplacement, and waited. Surely Shanks would take the lead. This was his idea, after all.

From opposite the machine gun nest came the unmistakable sound of a British Enfield rifle firing as fast as the weapon would allow. Shouts in German rose from the nest.

Now! Brian sprang from his spot to see a crew of three. Two of them were intent on repelling Shanks fire, but the other caught sight of Brian who, in turn, squeezed off a round, finding the man’s chest. The other two turned their attention to their fallen comrade, and to Brian. One had a pistol, fired and missed when Brian dropped to the ground.

More shots from Shanks’ gun sounded.

“Let’s go!” the sergeant yelled.

Brian rose to see three dead soldiers in their well-constructed M-G nest.

“Stay low.” Shanks pointed in the direction of their own troops. “Friendly fire.” They were in danger of being mistaken for the enemy. “We’ll get the other one now,” Shanks called over his shoulder.

The noise of battle was intense. The insect buzz of a bullet passing close by was a much too common occurrence. He followed Shanks to where they’d heard the second machine gun, only to find it abandoned. Brian saw two helmets appear over a mound of dirt. Canadian helmets. Shanks waved to them. Others followed.

“They’ve pulled back,” Shanks said to one of the men, a lieutenant whom Brian did not recognize.

The officer had no chance to respond before they were thrown to the ground by an explosion just yards away. For long seconds, Brian could hear nothing. He checked to see if he had all his parts. Amazingly, he still grasped his rifle. One of the soldiers was badly wounded. Another explosion not far away.

“That’s mortar fire on their old position,” the lieutenant called. “Keep moving on, and get out of here!” He blew on his whistle, signaling his men to follow.

Brian looked back to the wounded man, but Shanks pulled at his sleeve. “Move it, McLennan.”

~ * ~
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THE PITIFUL REMAINS of what might have been an attractive wood was now nothing but a collection of ugly boles looking like they’d been jabbed into the ground by some giant hand.

It was not yet 8:00 AM and they had, albeit with significant casualties, driven the enemy from their hold on Decline Copse. The copse was on higher ground, and by taking it, they’d deprived the enemy of an excellent defensive position.

Brian expected them to dig in here, but soon orders came for them to keep advancing. It took fifteen minutes for all the units to get the new marching orders.

The 46th battalion was emerging from the copse en masse when the shelling started. Perhaps twenty huge explosions hit them within a few seconds and continued in intense bombardment. “Those are big guns!” someone yelled. It was clear they’d been lured into an artillery trap. The only option was to retreat. By 9:00 AM they were dug in not far past their morning position. Decline Copse was back in enemy hands.

~ * ~
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October 26

238th Battalion

North of Decline Copse

HORST VELDSTEIN HUFFED as he ran. Jürgen watched him tumble into the newly dug trench. The men were sprinting back to this secure position after their cursory defense of the Copse.

“Let them take it,” Jürgen had heard the commander declare, “Our artillery is trained on their coordinates. Their casualties will be devastating.”

It was part of the new German philosophy of “flexible defense,” and it was taking its toll on the enemy. They’d been ordered to make a showing, then fall back, luring the enemy into an artillery ambush.

“Will it work?” Berg wondered aloud.

No one replied, all wondering the same thing. The rain had returned in earnest, and the temperature was not far above freezing.

His friends were happy to see him alive.

“What did they say to you when you returned, Jürgen?” Alfred asked, looking out across the field to the edge of the Copse.

“Ah...I was supposed to have picked off two or three of them, starting a lot of shooting that would be a signal to you. I couldn’t, though. It was too dark to see.”

“Are you in trouble?”

“No, I shot and got something from a messenger that must have been important, the way the brass reacted.”

“What was it?” Berg said.

“Couldn’t read it. I did see something about October thirtieth, though.”

Alfred turned to look at Jürgen. “I hope we are all here in three days.”

The morose words were sentiments shared by all. Until then, the 238th had been posted mostly in support roles, sharing the miseries of life in the trenches, but spared the worst of the fighting. This defense of the Passchendaele Ridge had put an end to that.

Twice before, the first time exactly three years ago, the enemy had made major offensives driving east from Ypres. Thousands were dead as a result. This time the 463d Regiment, including Jürgen’s company, was in the advance. Sooner or later hell would come.

~ * ~
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WHEN JÜRGEN HAD REPORTED to his commanders that morning, he noticed a formidable array of artillery dug in well hidden behind a long swale. As the men waited in silence, the guns suddenly went off in unison. They could hear the shells scream as they passed overhead and black bursts began peppering the Copse and surrounds. Jürgen wondered how the merest of living things could survive the barrage, much less a soldier.

The shelling continued for fifteen minutes, then abruptly stopped when the order was given to charge the inflicted area with fixed bayonets.

They shot out of the shallow trenches and poured across the field, not knowing who or what would be dug in to meet them. To their surprise, the resistance was only a rear guard posted to slow their progress and allow an orderly fallback. By 9:00 AM, Decline Copse was back in German hands.

~ * ~
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October 27

Canadian Corps

SERGEANT SHANKS WAS dead. In the chaos of falling back out of that denuded woods, and out of range of the German artillery, the units had become scattered. Brian lost contact with all but Harry, who stuck to him like a magnet. He knew the casualties were high, he and Harry having to all but carry a wounded man back to their lines. But they hadn’t heard of Shanks’ death until late the previous night by Captain Goode.

All in all, the company had forty-seven casualties, fourteen of them fatal. It was little consolation to learn those numbers were deemed moderate, considering the dire circumstances they had been lured into.

British aeroplanes had since spotted the German artillery and the Canadian guns were pounding them as the 44th Battalion and units of the Australian 2nd Army were back at Decline Copse in an attempt to retake it.

The loss of Shanks hit Brian harder than he would have anticipated. He respected the bandy-legged leprechaun of a man, but their joint experience with the German machine gun made his death much more personal.

“I haven’t seen Kobak,” Adam Moyer mentioned as they were in line rinsing out their mess kits.

“I’m afraid Corps has him busy translating and running errands,” Brian said, still thinking of Shanks.

Harry shook his head. “Yeah, but the man’s got to sleep and eat. Wonder where he is.”

~ * ~
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October 29, 1917

Near Decline Copse

A COLD DRIZZLE FELL in the darkness. Jürgen pulled the tarp over Alfred and himself as they waited for the signal to go. The successful defense of the Copse on the 26th had been overturned the very next day when fresh Canadian and Australian troops surprised Bavarian units who’d been posted to hold it.

With their superior defensive position, the Bavarians had put up a fierce fight, but the Australians had found the German guns with their own artillery and their superior numbers prevailed by the night of the 27th.

The enemy seemed satisfied to have consolidated its position and not press farther the entire day of Sunday, 28 October.

Jürgen knew yesterday was Sunday only because the Bavarians kept a chaplain ministering to their papist needs. It had not been since his confirmation—his mother’s dying wish—that Jürgen had seen the inside of a church.

That meant this was Monday, a fact he would not have known or cared about, as the days melted into an amorphous mass of sameness. Would today be unique? He thought about that. Late last night, Lieutenant Stoner told his platoon he’d volunteered along with the first platoon to conduct a night raid on the Copse. The idea was that a force of less than one hundred men could penetrate the enemy before being noticed. An intelligence report maintained the enemy’s Australian faction had pulled out, leaving the Canadians with only one, possibly two companies in place. Stoner said it was worth an attempt to surprise them with a two pronged raid.

They set out well before daylight, relying on what light the moon could filter through the overcast and the short distance they had to traverse. 2nd Platoon was to approach from the east, storming the Copse at exactly 4:45 AM. If all went well, they would overwhelm the outer perimeter and—at best—drive the enemy from their position. At worst, they could possibly capture an officer or two for interrogation.

With fixed bayonet, Jürgen picked his way in the meager light, following the footfalls ahead. Sooner than expected, the first straggly trees of their destination appeared.

In less than a minute, and before the planned attack, sounds of engagement erupted. They’d been detected. Shots rang out. English words, “Raid! Raid!” were echoed down the line. So much for surprise.

“Keep moving! Geradeaus!”” Stoner’s panicked voice ordered.

Jürgen bumped into the man in front of him, stumbling in the dark and falling on his rifle. More shooting. He got to his feet in time to see the flash of a rifle, and he fired in that direction, not knowing if he’d hit anything. This is insane!

An explosion that sounded like a grenade joined the increasing small arms fire. More explosions followed. He saw the dark shape of a man rushing toward him. Instinctively he extended the sharp blade of his bayonet, and felt it penetrate. He heard a soft oof! The man did not fall, but disappeared into the dark.

There were more of the enemy among the skeletal trees. Stoner yelled, “Fall back!” Jürgen wasn’t sure which way to run, having been turned around in the dark. He thrashed his way through the tree trunks, somehow making it into a clearing. Someone ran past him. He followed, eventually finding a friendly trench.

It was some time later before Jürgen learned of Lieutenant Stoner’s death from Sergeant Büler. Obviously the information about the enemy’s strength and preparedness was faulty. The whole affair had been a disaster from start to finish.
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Fifteen
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October 29, 1917

Canadian Corps

Since the attack of the 26th, the engineers and sappers had been expending resources, laying down wooden planking around the mud and water-filled craters of the newly won territory. This in anticipation of Phase 2 of General Currier’s plan to take the high ground at Passchendaele. Every last man available was put to work in supporting this work. Without the planking, the allies knew from experience that men, horses, and vehicles of any kind would be unable to move across the landscape.

The concern among Brian and his friends was for the whereabouts of George Kobak, constantly on their thoughts and in their conversation.

“He’s on a secret mission, maybe,” Harry said, unloading one end of a twelve foot plank from a motor truck, and loading it onto a mule-drawn cart. A cold rain dripped off the end of the animal’s muzzle.

Brian held the other end of the plank, and let it drop onto the cart. “He’s a translator, not a spy.”

The cart was nearly loaded when a soldier approached the work detail. “One of you named McLennan?”

Brian identified himself, and was led to the Corps headquarters tent where Captain Goode sat at a corner desk. Two soldiers stood at ease nearby. Brian recognized one of them from the attack along the rail bed three days before.

“Good to see you again, McLennan,” Goode said after the requisite salutations were concluded.

“Thank you, sir.”

“These two soldiers have just given me their rendition of events at Decline Copse on the twenty-sixth. I have written it up, and will present it to General Currie’s staff for consideration. I am sure it will be approved.

Brian was confused. What now? His mind raced.

Goode continued. “Your actions and those of Sgt. Shanks in destroying an enemy machine gun emplacement saved untold lives, and were key to the successful outcome of the mission. I am recommending you for the Victoria Cross.”

Brian was stunned. Getting at the machine gun was Shanks’ idea, and he said as much.

“That’s not what these two soldiers say.”

One of them spoke up. “We agreed, Lem and me, sir. We was pinned down by that gun, see? No ways we coulda made it if that gun had kept it up, sir. We seen him crawlin’ right toward that gunner, sir.”

Goode thanked and dismissed the two men, motioning for Brian to remain.

“McLennan, the mark of a leader is initiative. You’ve demonstrated the kind of initiative that inspires men to follow. I’m promoting you to the rank of corporal, and assigning you to lead your section. I know you won’t disappoint me.”

It took time for the words to sink in. Nothing could have been further from his expectations.

“I...no, sir.”

“Report to Lieutenant Cross. He’s waiting to give you a briefing on tomorrow’s mission.”

Tomorrow! “Yes sir.” Brian saluted and made an about face, exiting the tent. He was lightheaded as if he’d had too much to drink.

It was all too much. He’d have never stormed the machine gun without the leadership of Sgt. Shanks, just as he would not have rushed to the MG nest at Lens without the bravery of the unknown corporal. Both men had died, yet he lived to receive a medal for it.

He made his way to Lieutenant Cross who had a dugout he’d commandeered from an Anzac counterpart on a rare dry patch of ground. As Brian walked, he noticed two Australian soldiers, one of them an officer, escorting a hatless man in Canadian uniform, shuffling head down between them.

It looked like...Was it George?

~ * ~
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“LOOKING FOR THE LIEUTENANT, sir,” Brian said to the officer who apparently shared the living space with Cross.

“Just left for somewhere, who knows? Said he’d be back in an hour. What is it you want, soldier?”

“I thought he’d be expecting me, sir. I’ll come back.”

The officer returned to the book he’d been reading without a comment.

It was 11:45 AM. The mess would open in a quarter hour. He decided to return to the work party. Harry and three others were loading the last of the planks.

“Hold on to the reins of that bloody mule if you want to help,” Harry called in greeting. “What was that all about?”

Brian wanted Lieutenant Cross to be first to announce his promotion. “I think Shanks is getting a medal for that business along the rail line.”

“Lotta good that does him now.” Harry wrestled with a crate of nails.

Brian wondered if a posthumous Victoria Cross would comfort whomever Elmo Shanks had waiting for him back in Sault Ste. Marie.

“Did you ask about George?”

“No. I...saw him.”

Harry dropped what he was doing, and moved to where Brian held the mule. “You seen him? Keep on talking.”

Brian described the scene of the hatless George being escorted with bowed head between what looked like two guards. “It sure looked like him.”

“You’re not sure?”

“No...yes! It was him. He looked dazed, that’s all.”

“You think he deserted?”

Brian couldn’t conceive of George Kobak as a coward or a traitor. “No! It’s got to be something else.”

The two friends looked for a sign in one another’s face, but no saw clue for what that might be.

~ * ~
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“GRAB THAT STOOL AND sit, McLennan.” Lieutenant Cross, a big-city boy from Toronto had the suave good looks and polish of the university man he was. He poured a cup of coffee from one of the new Thermos flasks being made in America; offered it to Brian.

The hot liquid felt good on this raw, rainy, late October day. “Thank you, sir.”

“Soldier, I don’t know what you did to make corporal in less than a year, but I trust the major’s judgment.”

“Major, sir?” Brian hadn’t paid attention to the pips on Goode’s tunic.

“Since, hmm, three days ago,” Cross said. He let Brian take another sip of the coffee before beginning his briefing.

“In a battlefield environment, there’s no time to train you in every aspect of your new duties and responsibilities. So, you and I will be spending as much free time together as possible from here on. Today all I can do is advise you of your main responsibility and that is the well-being of your men, whether in battle or not.

“Your primary duty is to obey orders, and to see that your men do as well.” Cross went on to explain the differences between Brian’s personal responsibilities and command responsibilities.

By the time Cross was done, Brian wasn’t sure he wished to be an NCO at all.

“Now, about tomorrow,” Cross said. “The attack is set for shortly after five AM.” He reached for a stack of the, by now, familiar postcard-maps so well favored by General Currie, handing one to Brian.

Brian noticed the objectives had changed from those of the 26th. The red and blue line had advanced several hundred yards in places. A new green line encompassing the town of Passchendaele was added. Objectives such as Vienna Cottage, Crest Farm, Graf House were notated.

On Brian’s copy, Cross drew a series of arrows. “We will be inserted on the line with the Patricias.” He referred to The Princess Patricia Light Infantry Regiment, originally made up almost entirely from Canadian veterans of the Boer War. They had entered the war from the very beginning, serving with valor in almost every engagement since.

Their ranks had been decimated over the three years and filled with replacements. Major Goode’s company would be temporarily under the command of Lieutenant Colonel Adamson, commander of the Patricias.

“I know these men from Vimy, sir. They’re good.”

“Tomorrow you will stay in communication with me at all times. Designate a runner for that. If something happens to me, Sergeant Tilly will assume command of the platoon.”

Cross spent another hour going over their main objective: the taking and holding of a strategic crossroads at Meetcheele, a mere dot on the map.

In time, Cross stood, signaling an end to the briefing. “I’ll announce your promotion this evening when we stand to. That’ll give you some time to be with your section.

~ * ~
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“DISMISSED!” THE ORDER came from Major Goode who had just instructed the men of Company B about the next day’s attack. They were to assemble with their section leaders at 4 AM and proceed to the jumping off positions by 4:30 under the cover of an intense artillery barrage. The signal to attack would come sometime after 5 AM.

Lt. Cross had already announced Brian’s promotion to corporal and as the new leader of Sgt. Shanks’ ten man section. The reaction was more positive than not. The men had caught wind of Brian’s nomination for the VC which ameliorated any feelings of jealousy that might have prevailed. More importantly, Harry Gardinier and Adam Moyer seemed pleased. The newly sewn stripes glared like flashing beacons, or so it seemed to Brian.

He called for the men to congregate, and explained to them, as best he could, the objectives of the coming day, and how they might achieve them.

Later, after mess, he prevailed on a favorite cook for a dozen hard rolls. He’d pass them out to his new charges in the morning, thinking they’d be needing something then.
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October 30, 1917

Meetcheele, Belgium

“Where are we?” Sternkopf asked.

“Some little village in Belgium. Why does it matter to you?” someone countered.

In the first hours of the new day, it was still pitch black. The 463d Regiment had marched that night the two kilometers north from their position near Decline Copse, a trek made arduous by the mud and intermittent light as clouds drifted across a half moon. Meetcheele was more of a crossroads and a few houses than a village. But it was a vital artery in the transfer of men and equipment from the rear and all along the frontier.

“Quiet down, you men!” Sgt. Büler appeared in the darkness. He had been given command of the platoon after Stoner’s death, elevating Koss from gruppe to section leader. “Now listen well.”

He told them about new intelligence they’d received of a new thrust by the Canadians on the 30th. Jürgen wondered if the orders he had taken from the wounded soldier were the source of that intelligence.

“Our job,” Büler went on, “is to blunt that thrust by occupying positions in front of our lines, inflecting as many casualties as possible before pulling back to the trenches. The Tommies won’t expect resistance so soon. With luck it will confuse them enough to repel the attack. When we’ve done our job, we’ll be pulled back behind the lines.”

To Jürgen it sounded like a death sentence. They would be positioned in front of the trenches? Terms like “cannon fodder” and “sacrificial lambs” had been tossed around the company. The words held the ring of truth.

As they continued west toward the trenches, the number and sizes of the craters increased, making it slow going in the dark. They passed by a line of blockhouses, each with a slit on the two west-facing corners for machine guns. It was reassuring to see the muzzle of the MG-08 guns protruding from each slit.

Arriving at the forward trench, they found it well manned. Soldiers bearing the insignia of a Bavarian regiment were trying to catch the last hours of sleep before daylight.

“Why aren’t those bastards the ones being sent out into no-man’s-land? Why us, for God’s sake?” It was Berg’s question and a good one.

“Shut up, Berg.” Koss said, but there was a tremor in his voice, and everyone knew Berg had a point. The story about plugging a gap in the line was a lie. They would be thrown to the wolves in order to slow down the expected attack.

Duckboards were thrown over the trench along their sector for the companies of the 463d. The two hundred men of Company III crossed near a blockhouse situated on a slight rise at the rear. Platoon leaders led their men to positions among the craters. Here the earth was a morass of slimy clay. The drainage was nonexistent, making the craters watery graves for the hapless or wounded troop. More than one man from Company III had to be pulled out after a careless step.

Somehow the platoon leaders organized their men along a line parallel to the trench. Section leaders were instructed to dig in where a flat piece of ground existed. Nevertheless, water began to seep into the newly dug holes.

Koss had found a spot between two large craters that were only partially filled with water. The space was barely long enough for the nine of them, and Jürgen took his shovel to excavate another meter of space at one end.

He was almost finished when the western sky lit up like a sunrise.

“Shit!” Koss cried.

The flashes were followed by the drumroll of a hundred cannons. Seconds later a shell lifted the earth into the sky in a brain-numbing explosion. Dirt and water rained down. That one was followed by others until they were surrounded by a hell so intense Jürgen thought death might be preferable. This was insanity. They could do nothing but hug the floor of their hastily dug trench, becoming one with the drenched earth. Fallout from the explosions rained down. One gut-wrenching shock after another made Jürgen want to scream for it to stop. Others did scream—some from fright or pain, others in death.

The eternal barrage was, in fact, over in five minutes. It was the first of a series of salvos that would follow ahead of the approaching enemy. Jürgen’s ears were ringing. He could not hear the last of the explosions, but could feel them wrench his intestines with every hit. He shook the caked earth from himself and looked around. Alfred, wide-eyed, was moving his mouth, but Jürgen heard nothing.

It was like the battlefield had gone silent. Alfred, too, pointed to his ears, shaking his head. Jürgen looked for survivors. He saw one or two helmeted heads poke up from the landscape like groundhogs. He waited for more but the survivors were few. Impossible! Where were they? He moved along his own trench, Alfred following. The back of a helmet protruded from the earth. Jürgen and Alfred found Koss barely alive, having almost suffocated. The ditch followed into a crater where they had taken a direct hit. Nothing was left. No human could have survived. The whole section! Just three survivors.

“No!” Alfred mouthed and Jürgen understood. They returned to find Koss surveying the carnage. The corporal was saying something Jürgen couldn’t understand, but from his pointing it was clear they were returning to the relative safety of the main trench and machine gun blockhouses.

A clot of earth exploded next to Koss’ shoulder. Then Jürgen felt something graze his helmet. A bullet. All three glanced to the west. There they were, the flat helmets of the enemy creeping low over the muddy terrain, shooting at anything that moved.

Again, Koss motioned for them to follow. He crawled along the trench to the newly excavated crater, then made a dash for the nearest hole toward their lines. Bullets pounded into the mud at their feet as they dived from one pockmark in the land to the next. Once Koss fell waist high into the muck of a crater, and had to be pulled out, but they made it back to the trench.

It was deserted.

“What in God’s name...? Koss’ words were faint as Jürgen’s hearing slowly returned.

The trench seemed to be intact, untouched by the first salvo. That trench, once crammed with elite Bavarian professional soldiers, had been stripped clean. They had pulled out en masse.

“Come on,” Jürgen said. “We have no business here. We can’t even fire our mud-fouled weapons.”

The machine guns commenced firing on the attackers. Thank God for the blockhouses! They found a communication trench leading to the rear and ran for their lives, pulling the still-dazed Koss along. It was an inglorious day for the 463d Infantry regiment.

~ * ~
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THEY FOUND THE REMNANTS of Company II and a few from their own who had survived and slipped away, resting at the side of the road near a bridge. A sign chiseled into the stone identified the stream as Lekkerboterbeek. The stream was gurgling happily away, headed west to feed the morass that was the battlefield at Meetcheele. The group from Company II was comprised of its commander, Hauptman Krauss, and six privates. Two others were from Company III that Jürgen knew only slightly. In their care was a badly wounded man on a litter fashioned by running long sticks through four field jackets from an unknown source. Dead comrades, perhaps.

“We are Second Platoon of Company Three, sir,” Koss reported.

“Where are the others?” The captain gazed hopefully back down the road.

“I don’t know, Hauptman. We’re all that’s left from our section.”

Kraus appeared resigned to accept Koss’ report, but the words hit Jürgen hard. The reality of Feldwebel Büler, Veldstein, Hoffner, Berg, Sternkopf being dead only set in at that moment. Why had he and these few others been spared?

“Corporal, you and your group can relieve these men with the litter for a kilometer or two. They are barely walking themselves.”

Jürgen and Alfred took the first stint as the captain led the ragged remnants of the 463d Regiment to the east, and safety.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE IN THE RUINED shell of what had been a West-Roosebeke café. Jürgen remembered camping near the village a month earlier. The roof was still intact, offering protection from the drizzle that had started up. Others began straggling in; beaten, war-weary faces on young men not much more than boys. Jürgen looked across to where Alfred slumped against the bricks, the same weary look in his eyes.

Koss drank from his canteen, and wiped his mouth on his sleeve. “I wouldn’t turn down something to eat.”

It was an understatement. Jürgen felt his own pang of hunger, realizing they hadn’t been fed since a dried biscuit and weak coffee the morning before. They had been given West-Roosebeke as a regrouping location, but somehow the high command failed to have any kind of services waiting for them. That included medics for the wounded.

“Stern,” Koss said, interrupting Jürgen’s thoughts of food. “The pair of you saved my life out there. Thank you.”

The words were unexpected, giving Jürgen pause. German army NCOs did not expose their vulnerable sides. “It was our duty, Unteroffizier.”

“My first name is Gerhard.”

Jürgen wasn’t sure if this was an invitation to use his Christian name, or just a comment. “Where is your home...Gerhard?”

“Ludwigshaven, by Manheim,” Koss said.

Jürgen shook his head.

Koss smiled. “A big city. You’ve seen the airships?”

“The Zeppelins?” Jürgen had actually seen one flying from Hamburg to the North Sea.

“Zeppelin is a competitor to my father’s company, Schütte-Lenz.”

“Your father owns an airship company?”

“No, but he’s an engineer there. They make mostly for the military.”

Jürgen wondered if Koss’ father could have found some way to secure a deferment for his son, and asked him about it.

“Yes. They offered me a job, even though I hadn’t finished my schooling.”

Jürgen discovered Koss wasn’t that much older than himself.

“But you were at the Marne!”

“My family wanted me to take the job, but that would have been impossible. A young man has to make a choice: put his life in danger, or live the rest of it in disgrace.”

Jürgen knew a man in his town who had wangled a deferment. It was true. People were cordial, but he was never included in social activities. His friends didn’t want to be painted with the same brush.

“And the Marne: How bad...” He saw Koss’ eyes drop to the floor. “Sorry.”

Koss looked off in space. “We were too sure of an early win, so close to Paris. We had no conception of the resolve the French could martial.”

“But you made it.”

Koss did not reply, but Jürgen could see the hurt in his eyes.

The moment was broken by Captain Krause’s shouting about the lack of food and water there. He was incensed, but there was nothing he could do about it. Jürgen overheard him commiserating with another officer; words that were, if not treasonous, certainly defeatist. It was another inkling that their glorious victory over the enemy might be fleeting.

It was obvious the Bavarians had cleared out unscathed. Not one of them was to be seen. There could not have been more than half the four hundred men that the 463d Regiment put into the line making it back to the rendezvous. Jürgen wondered if the rest of the front had taken the same beating as did the defense of the Meetcheele crossroads.
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Canadian Corps Line

October 30, 1917

The skies had cleared overnight, cold air having driven the overcast inland, exposing a crystal clear half-moon with intermittent clouds. Picture a moonscape of gray pockmarked with craters ranging from five to twenty feet across, every inch of the ground having been pulverized by three years of heavy artillery shells. Drench it all in rain having fallen days on end, forming a quagmire in soil that was already famous for its lowland swamps.

Brian walked up and down the slit trench the platoon had dug into the soggy earth, talking to his men and distributing the rolls he’d secured from last night’s mess. He was doing his best to emulate Shanks who always saw to the welfare of his men.

He could see how these men—boys, actually—had changed over the past months. By then, all of them had lived through experiences unimaginable to most humans. Seeing a man at your side dismembered does something to either harden or break you.

Talking to the men, he could sense their fear. Despite their bravado, he could hear their shallow breath, the clipped, high pitch of their voices. In a way it was comforting to know he wasn’t alone in sensing this day would be their worst yet.

For the better part of an hour, the Canadian artillery had been pounding the enemy, focusing on their reported gun emplacements and forward trenches. Without warning, the sound of shells screaming overhead ceased, and a whistle sounded.

“Now, mates!” Brian shouted, echoing similar cries down the line.

They clambered up the ladders and onto the wooden walkways the sappers had laid down overnight. The moon was just bright enough to expose the ugly wasteland of gaping craters filled waist high with mud and water. It was a monochromatic world devoid of anything worth fighting for. In the relative silence, the sound of thousands of boots on the boards and the odor of cordite was all that filled the air.

Oddly, there was no returning fire from the German artillery. They made their way around the craters this way until the wooden planks ran out. Then the way was harder. Boots sunk into the mire, slowing every step. The possibility of sliding into a crater increased significantly. Brian wondered when the German guns would start up. It must have been five minutes since the whistle to go over the top.

A single cloud drifted slowly past the moon, throwing the landscape into darkness. Someone made a cry of distress, and the sound of a body hitting the mud followed. “Help me,” someone said from up ahead.

Brian was on him in a few strides where a man was already extending a rifle butt to another who’d slid down the side of a crater. Troops piled up in back of Brian as the fallen man slithered out of the hole on hands and knees, his own rifle hopelessly fouled with mud.

“Move it,” someone whispered from the rear.

The minutes were ticking away, and still no fire from the enemy. It must be close to ten minutes we’ve been exposed out here, Brian thought. The thought was no sooner born when the unmistakable sound of a German 77mm. shell splitting the atmosphere was followed by the sharp report of the gun from behind the enemy lines, cries of wounded men in its wake. They called them Whizz Bangs because you could hear the shell before the sound of the cannon. It was the first of many, as the German artillery recovered.

“Keep moving,” Brian said to his section, trying to keep Lt. Cross in view on his left. He figured they’d progressed maybe a hundred yards across no-man’s-land with another fifty to go. Then the craters would become farther apart.

“Moving as fast as the bloke in front of me,” a voice from ahead said.

The explosions came in waves. Showers of mud were everywhere. Men would fall, but there was no time nor or opportunity to give aid. The only priority was to reach the German lines. A wounded man was on his own; a dead man’s problems were over.

The cloud passed and Brian could see the German wire that had been breached by the Canadian guns. “Run for it!” he yelled. Immediately bursts of machine gun and small arms fire erupted from the blackness ahead.

“Down!” someone shouted, and Brian repeated the order.

Then, “Keep moving,” he said to his men, who were bunched behind and to his right. As they inched forward, he made sure they did not try to return fire before finding cover, although others were stopping long enough to shoot at muzzle flashes in the darkness.

They reached the wire a little ahead of many of the other Princess Pat units, having found a patch of dry ground and a good sized gap in the coils. Ahead, the wreck of a cart and a dead horse looked like good cover, and he signaled his men to get there.

“In a sprint, lads, after the next burst from that M-G.”

On Brian’s “Now!” they sprang, running for their lives. “Oh!” A cry of pain, and someone went down, as small arms fire crackled.

“Move up!” Brian yelled, throwing himself down behind the rotting horse. The smell was nauseating, but it was cover. Others hit the dirt, using the cart and horse as protection.

Cross had told Brian of the Germans’ latest tactic of using a lightly held perimeter of small arms and machine gun nests as a first line of defense, inflicting as much damage as possible, thus slowing down the advance on their better-protected fortified lines, where their permanent trenches and concrete machine gun emplacements would be. “Pill Boxes,” the British called them. It was these that must be destroyed if they were to successfully advance on Passchendaele Ridge.

“Danny got hit,” Brian heard a voice say.

“Mortimer?” Brian yelled back.

“Right.”

“Killed?”

“Don’t know.”

The machine gun started up again. The bullets hammered into the cart and thumped into the carcass of the horse.

“They’ve spotted us,” Brian heard Moyer say. He knew they couldn’t stay there forever.

“Who has the best throwing arm?” he called.

“Janowski,” someone said.

“Okay, Janowski, think you can throw a grenade on that nest?”

There was a pause. “Not sure. It’s pretty far.”

“No matter,” Brian called back. “When I say so, throw it. It’ll at least make ‘em duck. When I say ‘go,’ we all charge that nest at the same time you throw. Everyone got that?”

Answers of assent were mixed with the sound of the machine gun and small arms.

Brian watched as a tall, raw-boned blonde pulled a Mills grenade from his pack. He gave the soldier a nod and the pin was removed from the spring-loaded fuse lever.

A burst of fire ended from the nest, and Brian shouted, “Go!” They scrambled from cover as the grenade made a slow, high arc coming down five yards short of the nest. It was a beautiful throw, possibly forty yards.

The explosion raised dirt and smoke, the latter lingering in the windless dark. It quieted the rifle fire as well. Men from other sections of Cross’ platoon followed Brian’s. Without being told, Janowski threw another grenade, which detonated in the midst of the gun’s crew.

In the dim light return rifle fire was mixed with the sight of retreating enemy soldiers.

“Go!” Brian urged his men, but the entire platoon followed into the German lines—killing, being killed.

~ * ~
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THEY’D FOUND A SHALLOW bunker the Germans had constructed, and used it as a place to regroup. Brian counted his men: Wells, Selby, and Mortimer dead or missing. Three out of ten men, and the sun was barely up.

In the open ground beyond the wire, the battle became largely hand-to-hand, extracting the enemy from their craters and entrenchments. This was combat of the most primal kind—face to face with a young man not much different from you, seeing the fear in his eyes, reflecting your own.

Brian found a way to demonize the enemy, forcing himself to hate them. To do otherwise was a death sentence, and he exhorted his men to do the same. “Kill those bastards or they’ll kill you!” It was an easy sell.

Farther ahead, up the valley, the Germans had posted snipers as the Canadians scrambled from one mud hole to the next. The air was saturated with the sound of gunfire. Too often the wasp-like buzz of a bullet would zip past the ear so close a man could feel the wind of it.

The going was increasingly sloppy. Everyone was covered in the slippery muck. Keeping it out of the rifle breach was a matter of self-preservation. Progress was measured in feet, groveling along the ground. A lifted head in order to see was an invitation for a bullet. The hated bomb craters were their only cover.

As they moved again, Brian struggled to keep in contact with his men and Lt. Cross. He dove into the next crater followed only by Harry and a man named Taylor. Two Germans were waiting for them, but they were dead. New machine gun fire racked them inches above the ground.

The sky was light enough to see their new tormenter, a pill box on higher ground about a hundred yards ahead, just to the rear of some freshly dug trenches. It was clear those trenches would have to be taken before the pill box could be silenced.

They were inserted between the Princess Patricias and the 49th Battalion. To his right, Brian saw the “Pats” crawling from their craters like scorpions. Three of the five made it to the next one. Their bravery was an inspiration.

“Harry, Taylor! We can’t spend the war here!”

“The hell we can’t!” Taylor yelled over the din.

The machine gun noise rose and fell over the background crackle of small arms. Brian decided to follow the lead of the Patricias and make a dash for the crater he’d spotted ten yards ahead, and to his left. There was a lull from the pill box, and Brian shouted “Go!” not knowing if the others would follow. They did.

With rifles slung on their backs, they skittered on all fours, actually diving head first into the empty crater knee high in water. Bullets pounded the earth while they took cover on the far side.

“You alright?” he asked the others.

Taylor looked fine, except for his expression of terror. Harry had a tear in his tunic, and was bleeding.

“Yeah,” Harry said.

“You’re not! Shit! Let me see.” Brian cut open the tunic with the knife his father had given him, seemingly a lifetime ago, to find a wound contaminated with fibers and dirt.

“Never felt it,” Harry said.

“Here,” Taylor held out a white handkerchief. It was embroidered with the letter T. “My ma stuffed it in my bag when I left home.

Brian took it and tied it tightly around the arm. “That’ll have to do.”

“Now what?” Harry said.

“We keep doing what we’ve been doing, I suppose. Can’t go backwards. You ready, Taylor?”

“Rather not,” the man said.

Brian smiled at the man’s mirth in the face of their probable deaths. To the right and left of them Canadians were scuttling forward, many dropping, felled by a bullet from the vicious fusillade. He signaled to the rear for his section to keep advancing, not knowing if they could hear or see him. They dashed to where a large tree had fallen years before. They could only stay there for minutes before the gun from the pill box picked it to pieces.

“There!” he pointed to another shallow pit where a head peered out.

“That ain’t a Battle Bowler!” Taylor cried, using the British term for their dishpan-shaped helmets.

Sure enough, two helmeted silhouettes were German and appeared peeking to the west.

Brian said, “I want that hole more than they do.”

“They ain’t lookin’ this way,” Harry said. “We can jump ‘em.”

“Come out shooting, then.” Brian checked his bayonet was once more secure on his Enfield. “Go!”

The two Germans, focused on the Canadians to Brian’s right, were caught unawares, and had no chance. One was dead from one of the three rifles and the other from the bayonet of Harry Gardinier. Once more the three were safe for the present. This was a crater that had been significantly enhanced. Sand bags had been piled up on the western side. Boards had been thrown across the inevitable puddle at the bottom.

“Comfy,” Taylor said.

Harry was relieving one of the dead Germans of his rifle. “This boy’s a sniper,” he said, holding up the Mauser with scope attached. He slung his own weapon over his pack, and sighted through the scope toward the east. A bullet raised an explosion of earth in his face.

“Get down, ya silly twit!” Taylor said. The words weren’t spoken before he caught a bullet of his own. It hit him square in the chest. His face had the look of confusion, as if he couldn’t process what had happened, then realization, and he was dead.

Instantly a mortar hit close by, then another, sending a piece of shrapnel careening off Brian’s helmet.

They had to move. There was no time to mourn. They crawled, using smoke from the mortars as cover, not knowing what lay ahead, until they tumbled into a trench lined with wooden supports and floor boards. It was empty.

“They’re gone!” Harry whispered.

Brian lifted a finger to his lips, motioning Harry to check the trench to his left while going to the right. Hastily abandoned gear: ammunition canisters, a mortar, ration containers, were all he found.

A body came hurtling over the top, almost on top of him. It was a lieutenant from the Patricias.

“Looks abandoned, sir.” Brian said.

Another man dropped down, this one none other than Adam Moyer.

“Where are the others?” Brian asked him.

“Pinned down by that pill box. We lost Henderson and Wells.”

That meant four of his section already dead—five if Mortimer’s was more than a wound. It was a nightmare. “That leaves just Sweeny and Person out there.” Brian thought aloud. He told Adam about Taylor.

Harry showed up with Sweeny and Person in tow. “I found these two malingering down there.” They all exchanged hugs and slaps on the back.

The lieutenant was assembling his men, and Brian asked him where he’d like him to post his section.

“That boy know how to use that sniper’s rifle?” He nodded at Harry.

Moyer didn’t wait for Brian to answer. “You bet your ass—your life, sir.”

The lieutenant spoke to Brian. Fan your men to the left until you run into your own troops or from the 49th.” To Harry he said, “You say with me until I figure how to knock out that pill box.”

~ * ~
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“THOUGHT WE LOST YOU, sir.” Brian admitted his loss of contact with the platoon leader, noting his eyes were red from crying.

“How many of you are there?” Cross ignored Brian’s words.

“Six, counting me.”

Cross paused, seeming to process the news of still more dead under his command. “Right then, McLennan, take your men to our left flank. Turner is there with what’s left of his section. Deploy to his right. We’ve got to plug the gap between the forty-ninth and the Patricias.

Brian told Cross about Harry’s being commandeered. Cross gave a slight nod of recognition as he consulted his mud spattered map.

“We’re about here.” He pointed to a spot, possibly 500 yards west of the crossroads near Meetcheele. “We may get separated again, but that’s our objective. Keep me on your right and Turner on your left. Advance when I signal.”

There would be no advance in this sector with that pill box dominating, but Brian did what he was told, spreading his men over the thirty yards that separated Turner and Cross.

They waited for the signal but the only sound came from the rattle of machine guns up and down the line. Clothes were drenched, hands red and raw clutching their weapons. There were whistles to advance but none from Lieutenant Cross nor the Princess Patricia officer. Then the closest machine gun fell silent followed first by shouts of celebration, then the whistles to attack.

“Over the top, boys!” Brian yelled, and they sprang from their watery ditch, heading for an objective they could not see. The ground fell away into a wide swale filled with more mud and more craters, larger than before.

The bones of what had been a farm lay two hundred yards ahead. A storm of small arms fire came from that direction. He led his men toward it. Once more the only means of advance was slogging through the muck from crater to crater. This time they were occupied with the enemy.

~ * ~
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THEY WERE SHELTERED by the crumbling remains of the farm’s hearth. Harry had shown up minutes earlier after searching all day for the platoon.

“Bravest thing I ever seen,” Harry said for the second time, staring at the ground as if replaying the experience, speaking softly while narrating what he saw. Brian and Moyer listened while he told how the Princess Patricia lieutenant sacrificed his life by drawing fire while his sergeant sneaked around its rear and dispatched its occupants with his pistol. “That gun was pickin’ us off like nuthin’ to it in that shallow ditch,” he said.

It had taken Harry well into midafternoon to find the squad. Brian, in trying to rescue Turner’s section from being cut off, ventured a hundred yards to the left of his intended path. Turner was dead, as well as all but four of his section. A platoon from the 49th Battalion helped to repel the enemy, but not before Person was killed, and Sweeny wounded.

As a result, Brian brought Turner’s four into his section, and they forged ahead toward the crossroads. Increasingly, the going got easier. The German perimeter was breaking apart. Captured machine guns were turned around to harass the fleeing enemy. On higher ground, the craters were drier and fewer.

Both sides seemed thankful for a brief hiatus. The Canadians were digging in, anticipating a counterattack at daybreak. The rain had started again. It would be a wet, cold night.

Brian had gathered the few sticks he could find, found some unburned wood in the hearth, and began fumbling his way toward making a fire.

“Here, white boy! Let an Indian show you how to get that going!”

To their delight, a small flame started up, and Harry began adding pieces of the sticks to it.

Moyer, with more than his share of Métis acquaintances on Manitoulin, commented. “Indian? With a name like Gardinier?”

Harry’s white teeth reflected the fledgling fire in the dark. “There may be a frog in my family back when, but I wouldn’t know. You can call me “Wa-agosh” instead of Gardinier, if you want.

Moyer laughed and repeated the name. “What does that mean?”

“Fox. I might change it after all this.”

“Well, Fox, how is life in Sault Ste. Marie? Our Métis seem to be doing okay.”

The question seemed to take the mirth out of the conversation.

“Probably about as well as with your Manitoulin friends,” Harry said in a deadpan.

“It ought to be okay.” Moyer pressed. “Hell, you got the Indian Act going for you. Free education—”

Harry cut him off. “Free. And worth every penny.” After a pause he went on. “A Canadian First Nation citizen can go to a camp somewhere, usually hundreds of miles away from his family, to forget his culture, and learn how to talk and dress like a white man, or he can stay home and attend a rundown shack on his reservation and learn almost nothing. That’s the ‘free education.’”

“Christ, Harry—”Moyer began.

“No, it’s okay. You asked how life was. I’m doing alright.”

Brian had never heard Harry so...what was the word? Erudite? He would never see the boy from the Garden River Reservation in the same way.

They talked some more but the meager fire was soon out, and they huddled the best they could, waiting out the night.

~ * ~
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October 31, 1917

THE COUNTERATTACK NEVER came. By 10:00 AM of the next day, a company of replacements arrived with orders for Major Goode to return with his men for a rest. They made their way back through the muddy, treeless fields. The craters, some full to the brim with water, were littered with the dead of both sides as they picked their way around them. More than one tank sat mired in the mud, unable to move. One of the behemoths was half submerged in a crater.

Brian recognized a face; one from the old Algoma Battalion. It stared up from the grey water at the passerby, mouth agape in a grimace. “Oh my God!” he heard Janowski say. Brian shivered.

Replacements threading the opposite way through the craters were lugging duckboards sections, reminiscent of men bearing their crosses on the way to Golgotha.

In their condition, the slog back through the mud was exhausting. The mud sucked at every footfall. It was hard to believe they had come all this way under fire, but in time they arrived back at the Canadian lines. Transports were waiting—trucks of all kinds, farm wagons drawn by overworked, horses or mules—all overloaded to the extreme as they lumbered away over the planked roads.

“Where they takin’ us?” Harry asked.

“Wipers,” someone said, using the soldier’s argot for Ypres.

“If the Huns haven’t leveled it,” someone else added.
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Eighteen
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November 8, 1917

Ypres, Belgium

The weather had cleared, but winter was in the air. Brian turned up the collar of his newly issued overcoat against the wind.

Upon arrival in Ypres, the men had been directed to delousing tents and showers. The showers were heated, but barely. Still, it was a luxury to have the grime of war washed away. They were issued clean uniforms that had to be traded amongst the men to arrive at a reasonable fit.

“Me bloody pants is too tight under me armpits!” one wag joked.

They were fed their first hot food since the attack and given a week’s rest in the city.

Today he was inching along in a line of men waiting to vote.

The Canadian parliamentary election, a contentious one at that, was slated for December 17. Robert Borden’s Conservative Party was in favor of a conscription of men for the army, while the Liberals, headed by Sir Wilfred Laurier, were against. The majority Conservatives were garnering every vote possible, trusting the mail-in votes of the soldiers would go their way. The recently passed Military Voters Act allowed soldiers under 21 to vote.

Brian had just come from the Ypres dressing station where Harry was recovering from his wound. It had become infected and was being treated with Dankin’s Solution, a mixture of bleach and boric acid. To his surprise, in Harry’s tent was the new man, Mortimer, they had assumed had been killed. He’d been hit in the foot and fallen into a crater. It wasn’t until replacements were called forward that he was found clinging to a root.

The second phase of the attack on Passchendaele Ridge had been a success. Holding the crossroads at Meetcheele was one of the key factors in the allies’ ability to push on. By November 6, they had taken the town itself, and beyond. Unfortunately, the Germans had, again, pulled back into a strong defensive position that precluded the war-ending breakthrough some had hoped for.

In the end, over two hundred thousand allied, and a similar number of German casualties paid the price for perhaps two miles of farm land along a six mile front. The officers were saying they were winning the war. Maybe so, but it was hard to tell from Brian’s perspective.

The so-called successful campaign had been waged in the worst weather and over the worst terrain imaginable for an aggressor. On the contrary, the same conditions were much to the defenders’ advantage. Reports from captured soldiers confirmed their leaders’ rejoicing over every rainy mud-filled day.

~ * ~
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WHAT WAS LEFT OF BRIAN’S company was billeted in the basement of a church near the bombed out ruins of the Lakenhalle, or Cloth Hall, that Brian had sketched on that first day. The Hall had been the center of Flemish trade since its construction in the thirteenth century. Today it was nothing but a shell. Nothing stood but the skeletal outline of its signature tower.

Replacements from the 8th Reserve Battalion in England were filling out the Company’s ranks. Some were from the original 119th Algoma Battalion still attached to the 5th Army in England. Brian’s 2nd Platoon gained seven, almost bringing it up to full roster. Brian recognized one or two.

The company commanders had been away at Corps Headquarters. Rumor was that a new campaign was being planned for the near term, probably before Christmas. It was from one of these meetings that Major Goode returned to find Brian waiting outside the church.

Returning Brian’s salute, Goode said, “McLennan. Something?”

“Yes sir. Private Kobak, sir. I’m wondering how...where he is.”

Goode turned to consider his newest N.C.O. with the freshly sewn corporal stripes. “You’re chums from home, are you?”

“From St. Joseph Island, near Sault Ste. Marie.”

“How well do you know Private Kobak?”

Brian hesitated. Compared to anyone except Harry, quite well, but George led an insular life on the Island. How well did he really know him? “Well enough, sir.”

“Hmm. Your friend is being court-martialed for desertion.

That last word was a blow. Brian looked for a sign—any gesture from his C.O. that this didn’t apply to George Kobak.

“Desertion.” He exhaled the word.

“The hearing is Monday, at ten AM,” Goode said. “I’ve been assigned to present his defense.”

Brian remembered talk of Goode being a Toronto lawyer before the war. He waited for the major to make his point.

“It would be helpful to have you as a character witness in his defense.

That caught Brian off guard. Granted, George was raised just a few miles from the McLennan farm. But they knew each other from the occasional meetings at the market, perhaps or in town on a holiday. They hadn’t become close friends until joining up.

“Yes, sir. I’ll be glad to. Anyone in our platoon would.”

“I think a person from his home town would be best. Come inside, and we’ll talk.”

~ * ~
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THE HOUSE SAT AT THE western edge of Ypres where the shelling had been less dense. One wing was gutted, but the Corps had offices here and carried out other functions. One of those was a Field General Court-martial.

As Brian entered, soldiers were converting the old dining room by spreading blankets on the tables where the officers of the court would sit. In a few minutes a rudimentary courtroom was established.

He waited for several minutes, unsure of what to do, before Major Goode strode in carrying a leather valise. He nodded at Brian, but sat at one of the tables, spreading a file and note pad in front of him. The night before, Goode had had Brian tell him everything he knew about George Kobak from the day his family arrived on St. Joseph Island to the last time they had spoken.

One by one the panel of three officers filed in, headed by a colonel from the Judge Advocate General office. The room settled down as it emptied of all but possibly a dozen souls. Goode motioned for Brian to take a chair against the wall.

At the other end of Goode’s table, another officer with the three shoulder pips of a captain sat. The two men acknowledged one another. The senior officer at the head table introduced Goode to the prosecuting officer as Captain Cooper from the JAG office, and returned to conferring with his judges.

Meanwhile, accompanied by two guards, George Kobak was seated in a straight back chair next to Goode. He seemed to have physically changed; morphed in a matter of days from the hale, 180 pound farm boy/soldier for King and Country to this diminished figure in both stature and bearing. Brian tried to catch his eye, but Kobak stared straight ahead, looking at nothing in particular.

“This court is now convened!” the senior judge announced in clear baritone. “Gentlemen,” he said to the two counsels, “I am Colonel Ivan Pern. My associates are Majors Short and Collins,” pointing out each as he spoke. “We are here to adjudicate the matter of Private George L. Kobak, to be tried under Section Four of the Army Act for deserting His Majesty’s Service, or attempting same. “How does the defendant plead?”

Major Goode rose. “The defendant pleads ‘not guilty,’ sir.”

“Thank you, Major Goode. Captain Cooper, are you prepared to prosecute this case?”

He was blond, smartly dressed in his creaseless uniform, his riding boots oiled to a luster. “I am, sir. The evidence will show the defendant willfully deserted his assignment in the vicinity west of Decline Copse on the morning of October twenty-six. He had been dispatched to deliver orders of a secret and critical nature to the Forty-sixth Battalion Commander or his representative. The Battalion never got those orders that were vital to phase two of the Passchendaele campaign. Later the defendant was found behind enemy lines by a unit of the First Australian Division.”

“Thank you, Captain. You may proceed with your evidence.”

First, Cooper called on a Major Nix of the Corps Staff. He testified giving a document for Kobak to deliver to the command at a location where the 46th Battalion was purported to be. Cooper then called on the aide to the 46th Battalion commander to witness the fact that they had never seen Kobak, nor anyone else from Corps with special orders on that day.

He then produced two men wearing the belted tunics and holding slouch hats of the Australian AIF. They testified finding a bare-headed soldier walking purposefully in enemy territory at approximately 1030 hours on 26 October. They challenged him, and he did not stop nor raise his hands in surrender. They subdued him, recognized the Canadian insignia, and turned the man over to their superiors. Both pointed to George Kobak when asked to identify the man. Another witness from the Canadian Military Police testified to Kobak’s belligerent attitude upon being questioned.

Goode began his defense by cross-examining Cooper’s witnesses. He got the 46th Battalion aide to admit the orders could have been delivered to someone, since Kobak was instructed to find the highest ranking officer in the event the commander was not available. But the aide was adamant that the intended orders reached no one, and the 46th did not get the benefit of the intelligence the orders were later revealed to contain.

Goode tried to get the Aussies to admit they had no idea which way Kobak was heading, but was thwarted by one’s reply, “Well now! ‘E was ‘eddin’ the direction ta where the Krauts was, wasn’t ’e?”

Colonel Pern, a smile on his lips, rapped an ash tray on the table to restore order as laughter erupted.

The only witness for the defense was Brian. He duly took his place on the stand, giving Goode a litany of all the best things he knew about George Kobak.

Then Cooper had his turn at cross. “How well do you know Private Kobak?”

“As I told Major Goode...pretty well.”

“You were from the same town?”

“The same island, yes.”

“St. Joseph. That’s a really big island, isn’t it?”

Brian began to feel alarm. What’s going on?

Cooper stepped closer. “So, you were pretty close friends back then?”

“We...knew each other.”

“Then, not that well, you’re saying.”

“I know him well enough now, and he is...” Brian searched for an attribute. “...a fine fellow!” How stupid that sounded! He tried to recover, but Cooper preempted him.

“Thank you, that’s all.”

Goode asked a few more questions, but all Brian could say was that the rest of the section got along well with George.

“Other witnesses, Major?” Colonel Pern asked. He had an annoying habit of fiddling with his fountain pen, which he flipped in and out through his fingers like a mini baton.

Goode emitted an audible sigh. “Sir, I’d like to examine the defendant.”

Brian saw something in George’s face that indicated this might not have been planned. It was the first sign of animation in his friend’s demeanor since the beginning of the trial.

George looked around the room, ultimately locking eyes with Brian, then took the stand.

“Now then,” Goode began, “tell us about that morning when you were rescued.” Brian thought the use of that word was ingenious on Goode’s part.

George looked up at the ornate ceiling of the old house, remembering the day. “It was still dark, maybe six AM. I’d been up all night translating captured documents and the personal letters of the enemy soldiers. Major Nix called me into his room. He was holding a sealed document, asking me if I wanted to volunteer for an assignment that he said might be ‘rather dangerous.’”

“And you accepted?” Goode asked.

“Right away, sir. It’s hard seeing my mates go over the top while I sit back behind the lines at Corps.”

“What were you specifically told to do?”

“As the gentleman said,” George indicated Captain Cooper, “I was to catch up with the Forty-sixth on their way up the rail line to Rouelers. I was to find their commander in the field, and deliver the sealed order. If not, then to the highest ranking officer I could find.”

“And did you?”

“No, sir.”

Goode waited, then prompted, “What happened that caused you to fail?”

“Not sure, sir. I was trying to catch up with the Forty-sixth by following the rail bed in the fog. Last thing I remember was a building of some sort up ahead. The day was just starting to brighten up. I hesitated, but thought it must be safe since our boys must’ve just passed through.”

“And then?”

“That’s all I remember until I woke up. My head hurt really bad, sir. I mean I couldn’t even think straight. I knew I had to keep walking, but somehow lost the rail bed. Then I got lost, and...well, I didn’t know which direction was east.”

“How much time had passed?”

“Don’t know, sir. It was much brighter, but I couldn’t see the sun, so I guessed. I knew I shouldn’t go back to our lines without doing my duty.”

“What did you do with the sealed orders?” Goode turned to face Cooper as he asked the question.

“I didn’t do anything. I thought I still had them with me when I was arrested, and they asked me what I was up to.”

Goode returned to his chair. “Thank you, Private Kobak.”

Colonel Pern said, “Captain, you may cross.”

Cooper made a show of rising slowly, as if deliberating on his next words. “Kobak...that’s a new name to me. Polish?”

“Hungarian, sir.”

The prosecutor repeated the word and let that sink in for the panel’s consideration. “I understand you are fluent in German. How is that?”

“My...parents...uh, we speak it at home.”

“Oh! Then they aren’t Canadian?”

“They are, sir...”George began.

“But born where?”

Brian saw George redden.

“Near Vienna,” he mumbled.

Cooper turned to the panel when he said, “Pals of Franz Joseph, perhaps.”

George exploded. “NO!”

Pern rapped his ashtray loudly on the table. “Quiet! Major Goode, control your charge.”

The room settled down, and Cooper continued with a line of questions about Koback’s so called injury and why there was no physical evidence of a wound.

“I don’t know,” George said. “Doc said I could have had a concussion without a wound.”

Cooper allowed that was possible, but asked, “How is it you receive a concussion out of thin air. You admitted no one was around. You said the building was ‘safe,’ I believe.”

Goode objected. “Private Kobak has no way of giving an informed answer to that question.”

Cooper said, “And we are to believe that you woke up and did not notice the sealed orders were missing?”

“The paper was in my tunic pocket, sir. I didn’t think...”

“That’s all I have for now,” Cooper said to the panel. “I’d like to call another witness, Private Wentworth.”

Brian gasped. From where he stood in the vestibule, Colby Wentworth confidently strode into the room and replaced the stunned George Kobak in the witness chair.

After Wentworth was sworn in, Cooper asked, “So, Private Wentworth, tell us where you are from.”

“Bruce Mines, Ontario.”

“And where is that?”

“In Algoma, near St. Joe Island.” Wentworth looked around the room, smiling.

“Are you familiar with the defendant?”

“Hardly knew him at all, and I probably spent more time there than at home.”

“Why is that?”

“My father has a business there. I grew up knowing most of the Island children.”

“But not Private Kobak.”

“No, he seems to have been schooled at home. Nobody knew him well.”

“Yet Corporal McLennan testified as to Kobak’s character.”

“That would be a mystery to me. I rarely saw either McLennan or Kobak in town.”

“Thank you, Private.” Cooper said. “That’s all.”

Goode rose. “I have a question for the witness.” Pern nodded and he continued. “You used the term ‘in town.’ What town is that?”

“Richards Landing...sir.”

“And where is that located on the island?”

Wentworth thought. “Well, on the north side, I guess.”

“Indeed. And where does Private Kobak live?”

Wentworth was stumped. “I guess I don’t know.”

“I’ll tell you,” Goode said, but was informing the panel. “At the far south of that thirty mile long island. And where does Corporal McLennan live?”

Wentworth blinked. “On a farm somewhere.”

“I’ll tell you that, too. In the middle of the Island, probably closer to Private Kobak’s home than ‘in town,’ as you said.” Goode returned to his seat. “That’s all I have for this man.”

Brian thought Goode had won that exchange, but doubted it would make much of a difference.

Cooper stood. “The prosecution rests, Gentlemen.”

Goode rose, and called as witness the doctor who examined George upon his arrest. The man testified that the accused could have received a blow that rendered him senseless without a visible wound, but was forced to admit under cross-examination that it would be more unlikely than so.

Goode rested the defense.

“Thank you, gentlemen,” Pern said, standing. All followed suit. “This court-martial will reconvene at fourteen hundred hours, at which time a verdict and sentencing will be handed down. You are dismissed until that time.”

Goode and Cooper saluted, and gathered their papers. The guards escorted George out. Wentworth hightailed it without a glance to Brian.

“What’s the worst case, sir?” Brian asked his C.O.

“This is a Field General court-martial. In the case of desertion, it has the power to exact the death sentence.”

Good’s words set of Brian’s teeth on edge. The wait until 2 PM would be intolerable.

~ * ~
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THERE WERE FEWER PEOPLE now, only the panel, Goode, Cooper and George Kobak, his guards standing at Parade Rest nearby. George stood at attention in front of the three judges. Major Goode had, at Brian’s pleadings, allowed him as far as the vestibule looking in on the proceedings.

Brian, upon leaving the morning trial, had visited Harry in the dressing station, giving him a rundown on what had transpired.

“They’re either gonna shoot him, or let him go; no in between. And I don’t see ‘em lettin’ him go.” That was Harry’s cheery analysis.

Brian could hear the sound of shuffled of papers bouncing off the ceiling of the big room followed by Pern’s sonorous voice: “In the matter of Private George L. Kobak and the charge of Desertion, this court has come to a decision. The defendant is guilty of ‘Failure to Repair’ to his post. In our opinion, the prosecution gave ample evidence of desertion, but we found the evidence to be circumstantial. On the other hand, the defense was unable to provide convincing evidence of innocence. One thing was clear to the court...the accused did not carry out his assignment. This is mitigated by the fact of his volunteering for the mission.

“For failure to return to post in a timely manner, we find the accused guilty of bad conduct, and will receive a discharge from the Canadian Expeditionary Forces being stipulated as such. This court is now adjourned.”

Brian watched George’s shoulders slump, not knowing if it was from relief at not being shot for desertion, or from the humility of a Bad Conduct Discharge.

The two guards caught him up, and summarily whisked him away. Just like that, George Kobak was gone, not to return.

~ * ~
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THE FOLLOWING DAYS were filled with the training of replacements. Platoon leaders were given the job, which of course included the skill of advancing with a “walking” bombardment that was so successful at Vimy Ridge. However, the new concept of tank warfare in concert with the infantry was a training necessity for all. The tank’s contribution at Passchendaele was almost negated by the terrain and weather, but armor was expected to be a major factor in battles to come.

The 4th Division was slated to return to its position near Lens now that the Ypres salient had been reduced and the high ground gained. Harry Gardinier learned he would be returned to duty with his unit, despite having thought he’d received his “Blighty,” the Tommy’s term for a ticket back to England.

The Flanders front was relatively calm by then. The Allies had pushed the Germans back from the high ground advantage they had enjoyed from the start of the war, but their line hadn’t buckled. Defensive positions to the rear were bolstered to prevent an all-out Allied breakthrough.

Rumors about a separate German-Russian armistice were flying. Should that happen, surely hordes of troops would be transferred to the west. Countering this would be the arrival of the Americans, already beginning to show up farther south. The front would not be calm for long.

~ * ~
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December 3, 1917

Ypres, Belgium

THE OLIVE GREEN SUNBEAM truck with its red cross emblazoned on a white circle rumbled west on the Ypres-Poperinghe Road. Brian sat next to the driver as the older man wrestled the wheel over the ruts.

After George Kobak’s trial Brian had let a week-end go by before attempting to revisit Harry at the dressing station, only to find him gone. It was a mystery. Harry had seemed to be resting comfortably on his last visit. It took him most of a day to discover Harry had developed a fever and was removed to the Casualty Clearing Station (CCS) at Poperinghe.

That was a week ago. Brian’s company had been kept busy fortifying defenses along the newly established front lines. Then, at the insistence of Major Goode, they were relieved by replacement troops and awarded another ten day leave.

It wasn’t more than a dozen miles to this town that housed the CCS, but the going was slow over the road rutted by November rains. The cots in the back of the truck were empty. The Clearing Station and its staff had officially packed up, moving elsewhere along the front as those facilities were designed to do.

It was Brian’s first time to “POP,” the soldier’s sobriquet for the city. His first impression as the truck rolled into town was the number of people, civilian and military, carrying on life as if there were no war just over the hill. Despite some bombed structures, commerce was in full tilt. The shops were open, including one or two pubs, or estaminets, as they were called there and in France.

His second impression was more intense. They passed through the center of town on their way to the CCS on the western edge. There, in close proximity, was a huge field filled with crosses so close together they seemed to touch.

How could there be so many dead in just this corner of the war? For a moment Brian forgot how the war ever started, then remembered the assassinations in Serbia. Were these lives so valueless that they could be sacrificed for two Austrian Royals? He was still shaken as he entered the nearly vacated building. An unattended reception desk stood in the vestibule.

“Mate!” he called to a soldier on crutches.

He was a small man, looking smart in his pressed uniform, despite his missing foot. The soldier gave him an inquiring glance.

“Looking to pick up some chaps from my company.”

“Thems well enough for duty are in the lounge down there.” He pointed down the hallway. “Just a few of us waitn’ to ship home.”

Brian thanked him and found the room, a smoke-filled chamber featuring a piano and a dart board, both of which were in use. He saw Harry at once, his ebony shock of straight hair among the other twenty or so men.

The piano and gaggle of singers were well into their version of “Mademoiselle from Armentieres,” and trying to compete with Henry’s boisterous friends at the dart board. As a result, Brian’s call was unheeded.

“Are you losing again?” He gave Harry a nudge from behind.

“Brian!” Harry laughed. “Gentlemen, this here is our bad-ass section leader, and my best friend, Corporal MacLennan!”

A mixture of mock jeers and muttered welcomes were returned, and the game continued.

“Let’s get out of this madhouse where we can talk,” Harry said. “What are you doing here?”

Brian explained catching a ride on the very ambulance dispatched to pick up Private Harry Gardinier and two others for their return to duty. “I lost track of you. What happened?”

“My wound wouldn’t heal. They tried everything. I was ‘bipped’ with paraffin and some stuff called bismuth. That didn’t work, so they cut away some of the infected area and sent me here.”

Brian had heard about the last one called “Debridement,” where dead flesh was excised from the wound. “You look fine to me now.”

“They shipped me here where they have...I mean had these X-ray machines that can look inside you. Found out I still had a hunk of metal in me. Once they got that out, the bismuth stuff did the job.”

“What happened to Moyer?”

“That ding on his foot earned him a ‘blighty’ and a trip home.” Harry referred to the British soldiers’ term for England, and by extension, a return ticket there.

Harry’s words turned Brian’s own thoughts to home. He hadn’t thought of Sarah White during the insanity of the Passchendaele battle and George’s trial, but he could not visualize home without the image of that morning in her parlor and her hand on his cheek. That had given him so much to look forward to, only resulting in the disappointment of her not returning his letters. He’d tried to get over it but could not.

“Lucky bloke, I’d say,” Harry continued.

“What...oh, yeah. On his way by now. I thought that ticket might be yours.”

Harry snorted. “Docs fixed me up too good. What now?”

“You’re coming back to C Company. You heard about George?”

“Yeah. This place hears all the court-martial news. The executions are carried out right here in POP. He dodged that verdict, but they still labeled him a deserter. I don’t believe it.”

“I don’t either,” Brian said. He pictured George returning home to his farm on the Island; discredited, dishonored. It was sickening.

“You have transportation?” Harry asked.

“For you and two others.” Brian gave Harry the names.

“I’ll round them up, get my kit and some letters the lads will want mailed.”

Harry returned from the noisy day room with two jovial sorts from the 4th Army, arm in arm still singing... Hinky-Dinky Parlez Vous after one of the song’s endless verses.

~ * ~
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THEY RODE BACK TO YPRES in the ambulance...Brian, Harry, and the only two other CEF soldiers among those being returned to duty. They were all dropped off at the dressing station, on their own getting back to their respective units.

“I’ve got to mail these letters at the FPO,” Harry said, referring to the Canadian Postal Corps Field Post Office.

The facility was housed in a theater, only partially damaged from shelling since 1914. It handled all the Canadian mail in Belgium.

A low wall behind the counter revealed workers sorting mail. There was an open bay at the rear where a truck was unloading olive green duffels filled with mail. Harry deposited his letters with the clerk. They were turning to leave when Brian spotted a familiar figure climb back on the truck. The face was obscured but the man’s gait and toss of his head were unique. That was Wentworth? It was too unlikely. Wentworth was in a machine gun company. He dismissed the notion. They hitched a ride the short distance back to camp where Harry, popular among their Company, was greeted enthusiastically.

Just before evening mess, they were ordered to “stand to.” Ever since the successful campaign to take control of the Passchendaele Ridge, they had wondered where they’d be sent if anywhere at all. The speculation ended when Major Goode announced they would continue their support role with the 4th army that was returning to their previous station west of Lens.

That occasioned an audible and collective groan of disappointment. Flanders duty, with its mud and bad weather, had been miserable, but the rat- and louse-ridden trenches at Lens and Hill 70 were worse. At least the shell holes there weren’t filled with neck-high water. Familiarity breeds contempt, Brian thought, and they were more than familiar with the trenches in the chalky clay of Lens.
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Nineteen
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March 19, 1918

Near St. Quentin, France

The defeat at Passchendaele was devastating, not only for Jürgen’s regiment, but the whole of Germany’s northern divisions. The 238th Infantry Battalion suffered more than fifty percent casualties. They were rested in a village east of Rouelers for a week, then entrained for the one hundred-fifty mile trip south to St. Benoite, a small town near St. Quentin. There they trained with replacements whose numbers were yet insufficient to produce a full regimental complement. What would have added up to shattered morale was buoyed by the news of victory on the Russian front.

Second Platoon had a new leader, Heinrich Lutz, a newly commissioned 2d Lieutenant, or feldweblelleutnant. Jürgen did not envy this man, not much older than himself. The army was massing for something big, and Lutz would be thrown into the thick of it. That his own new role of gefreiter increased his peril hadn’t hit home.

The code word “Michael” was rumored to be the big offensive that would drive the German army through to the English Channel, Paris, and victory. The official name heard was Kaiserschlacht, the Emperor’s Battle. After years of stalemate and false hopes, the thought was exhilarating.

Tonight they were enjoying sausage for dinner. It was the first real meal they’d known since Rouelers. Tomorrow, they were told, they would march to the line. That meant the attack would probably be the following morning. Earlier in the day, Jürgen had seen more artillery being put in place than ever before. It seemed the predictions of something big happening were coming true.

They would be part of the 18th Army, whose main objective was the city of Amiens, the major transportation center for the Allies. Everything traveling north and south went through Amiens.

~ * ~
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FROM ST. BENOITE IT was only a 5km march to Grugies, a tiny crossroads that had been a village before having the bad luck to be located yards from the front lines of The Great War. There was not a single building standing. The weather had reversed itself from a promising spring day to an overcast, cold mist.

They arrived at the trenches around 6 PM, having had only a modest breakfast of oatmeal doled out by a humorless mess staff. Dinner would be making do with their own rations. One of the new replacements, tall with curly brown hair, had a fire started with scarce firewood he had somehow wangled. He was holding an open can over the small flame. Jürgen was impressed with this clever conscript from Bremen. His name was Feldenhauer. What caught Jürgen’s attention was the man’s quiet acceptance; making the best of any situation. The fire was an example.

“Mind if I share, Feldenhauer?”

“Of course, Gefreiter.”

“Jürgen is fine. I haven’t really earned the title.”

Feldenhauer smiled. “Rudi.”

Jürgen held his open can of pork over the flame. Soon the fat sizzled, making the usually unpalatable contents smell surprisingly good.

“Where’s your home, Rudi?”

“Bremen.”

“Really?” Jürgen enthused. “I’m from a Neuhaus, just south of Cuxhaven; so close to Bremen, but I’ve never had the chance to go there.”

“Why the interest in Bremen? Hamburg is just as close, and more interesting.”

“Why, the competitions, of course!”

Feldenhauer frowned, shook his head. “Competitions?”

“Your Shützenfest! One of the best in Germany. What an honor to win there!”

Feldenhauer made a wry smile. “I suppose,” he said, but let the subject drop.

They watched the flames and ate their warmed rations.

“You have a trade, Rudi?”

“I worked at the brewery!”

Jürgen could see a spark of enthusiasm in his answer. “The Braueri Beck?”

“None other. I’m there three years. I’ll make it my career if I live through this. How about you?”

The question bothered Jürgen. He’d asked it of himself many times, wondering if he was good at anything besides shooting at targets. “I’ve no idea. More schooling is what I need, if I could find a way to pay for it. That isn’t likely. I’ll probably wind up working on the Oste, or if I’m lucky, the Elbe ferry.”

Feldenhauer waited a bit before saying, “If I wanted something, I wouldn’t let anything stop me. You only have one life. You have the power to either grab it, or accept what the world hands you. Figure out a way to go to whatever school you want.”

Jürgen supposed he was right. Wise words, but hard to put into practice.

“Frightened about tomorrow, Rudi?”

“Apprehensive,” he replied. “Too green to be scared. You?”

Jürgen searched for something clever to put Feldenhauer at ease, but failed. “We have hundreds of thousands of men from seventy-two divisions ready to attack an unsuspecting enemy...but yes...yes, Rudi. I’m scared.”

~ * ~
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March 21, 1918

THE FIRST OF THE BIG guns Jürgen had seen being positioned announced the first day of the Kaiserschlacht. It was 4:40 AM.

Jürgen had been fast asleep, but felt the ground shudder as other guns joined in to commence battle with the British 3rd and 5th armies. He knew it would go on for a while until they pounded the enemy’s command/control locations, artillery emplacements, and probable front line positions.

The first wave of troops would be special shock troops—Stoßtruppen, the most seasoned and fit men creamed away from their units. Their job would be to chop holes in the enemy defenses by avoiding strongholds, and penetrate deep while regular troops followed up, consolidating the ground gained. Jürgen wondered what kind of man it was that lasted long enough in this war to be considered both seasoned and fit. If he was seasoned, he was certainly not fit, he thought.

It would be another hour before the 238th Infantry would deploy. All the troops would be traveling light in order to enhance mobility. The usual heavy pack of the German soldier was left behind. At first light, the fog was unusually thick when Lieutenant Lutz led his men into the killing field.

It wasn’t long before they sensed that things seemed to be going quite well. The terrain, though pockmarked from years of bombardment, was not the sodden morass of Belgium. They moved swiftly over the chalky soil, surprising pockets of British resistance as they loomed up, unseen, in the dense fog. The British perimeter was too dispersed to halt the wave of German troops. By late afternoon, after the fog had lifted, the British were in retreat after sustaining considerable casualties and dead.

“If it continues like this,” Koss said, “we’ll be swimming in the Channel by June.”

~ * ~
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DAY TWO OF THE OFFENSIVE was almost a copy of the first, including the heavy fog. The British 5th Army was pulling back, although inflicting more casualties on the advancing German troops than at first. News from farther south was also good. They were advancing on the city of Noyon toward Paris, as the British 3rd had to fall back lest they be flanked by the 5th Army’s retreat. Yet they inflicted considerable casualties on the Germans in the face of losing Noyon.

By day three, the 238th was near Roye, a city southeast of their main objective, Amiens. This was farther west than any German soldier had been since the first incursion in 1914. Then, news came that their 7th Army had thrust deep into the Allies’ heart, delving almost to the town of Riems, one hundred-fifty kilometers from the outskirts of Paris. This time, it seemed, the officers were right. We could win this war, after all.

Despite their success, the 18th Army had outpaced their supply, running low on munitions and, more importantly, food. There were no mess facilities at end of the day, and what food was available came from the pockets of the individual soldier.

Jürgen had been out of canned rations since day two. He nibbled on his biscuit in order to ration it. Water was another issue. The British had ceded ground that was almost devoid of resources. Out here there was no population to plunder...except for that town that lay just to the west: Roye.

~ * ~
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March 25,1918

Roye, France

THEIR THRUST HAD BEEN northwest along the Somme basin; territory that, two years earlier, had cost many thousands of lives on both sides. This time, unprepared as the British were for an attack at this part of the front, they had inflicted serious casualties on the Germans, who by then had gained control of Albert, not far to the northwest of Amiens. Along the route, stubborn resistance existed in British strongholds, redoubts, that were bypassed by the shock troops. Each of these had to be neutralized, costing substantial casualties on both sides, but the Kaiserschlacht continued.

Jürgen Stern had never really known hunger, nor had any of his eight men—until now. Their rapid progress toward Amiens could be celebrated some other time. Right then, food, and in many cases, water were on everyone’s mind.

Roye was a small town fifty kilometers southeast of Amiens. It had been spared excessive destruction despite it being an industrial city. As a result, it was thought to be still well provisioned owing to its proximity to Amiens and an ongoing economy.

Lieutenant Lutz led his men into town down the Grand Rue. Jürgen’s first indication that something was not quite right was the shouting. It sounded like a large football match, a sustained clamor. He could hear it build up ahead where the street took a bend into the town center.

The units marching ahead began breaking into a run despite warnings from their officers.

Koss cautioned, “Stay in formation!”

Lutz echoed the order to the entire platoon.

It was useless. Units behind them began to break up and run for the market that came into view as they rounded the bend. The scene that unfolded was chaotic. Shops, especially those advertising anything to consume, were being mobbed. Wire grates were wrenched from closed store fronts; boarded windows torn away. An entire army had broken discipline, overwhelming the place.

By night fall of the following day, total order had yet to be restored among the ranks. Some wise general officer had opted to let the men sate themselves in lieu of any support from the rear. Now, with too many of their horses slaughtered for meat, the 238th Infantry had lost mobility, and worse, discipline.

The looting was short-lived. The spare provisions of Roye were insufficient to slake the hunger of an entire division. By the time the 463d Regiment arrived in the town center, there was nothing left to loot had Jürgen and his section opted in.

In the cathedral city of Albert forty km. to the north, and barely thirty from Amiens itself, the looting and near-rioting had occurred on a larger scale. As a result, more than twenty-four hours were required to reinstate discipline and procure supplies. This gave the British 5th Army a breather, allowing them to harden their defenses of the city. It would be harder going now.

~ * ~
[image: image]


March 28, 1918

Moreuil, France

FROM ROYE THEY MARCHED to Rollet, where they were regrouped with artillery units of the 238th. Rollet was on a good road south of Amiens, enabling the big guns to keep up with the infantry.

They had camped overnight, having received only meagre rations following the fiasco at Roye. The morning fog made the cold penetrate to the bone.

“Get ready to move out!” an order came.

Jürgen shed the large blanket he shared with Alfred and Feldenhauer. It was one thing he’d managed to scavenge in Roye; a quilt someone had lovingly crafted in a time and place unimaginably foreign to their present circumstances. He tried to remember his home, and the handiwork of his mother and grandmother, but could not. It was simply too remote of a concept.

Again, they were formed up and on the road. After a day’s march, a crossroad sign pointed north reading: MOREUIL 4KM. Soon after, they were disbursed into a moving front of perhaps a kilometer wide, cautiously approaching the town. The 463d Regiment was positioned to the right of the road, marching over fallow fields. In the distance, Jürgen could see the village rooftops. A road led away to the east, beyond which was a line of thick woods.

He felt exposed. Anything could be hiding in wait among those trees, despite scouting reports to the contrary. They halted five hundred meters from the road while advance patrols confirmed the woods were undefended. It was Moreuil Wood, according to a map of the area, about one kilometer deep and half again as wide. They entered it among seasoned units of the 23rd Saxon Division, and were assigned positions that commanded the field west of the wood where the road continued north along the Avre River to meet the Somme at Amiens.

As darkness arrived, the men began to complain once more about the lack of rations. Friends were sharing what they carried, but it was clear they could not continue much longer without resupply.

“We should be digging in here,” Alfred said. “It’s a perfect defensive position.”

Jürgen agreed, but saw no effort at establishing anything permanent.

“We’re not staying here.” Koss overheard the talk.

“I can’t walk another kilometer,” Feldenhauer said.

“You’ll have to, I’m afraid,” Koss said. “The Kaiserschlacht is an offensive to end the war. There should be no more trenches.”

That night, the little food that could be commandeered from the town of Moreuil was barely enough for an army, but the men were fed something. Water from the Avre filled their canteens. It would have to be enough to sustain them until they were able to appropriate the resources of Amiens.

“God willing we get there,” Alfred said.

~ * ~
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THAT NIGHT WAS CONSIDERABLY warmer, and the men rested well under their oiled tarpaulins and blankets. Jürgen woke to see the sun painting the trees’ new growth a bright green against the blue Picardy sky. One could forget the war for a brief moment.

He’d relieved himself, and was having a breakfast of last night’s remains when sporadic shooting sounded from the northern edge of the wood.

Word was spread that an enemy patrol had engaged their northern perimeter and retreated. At once they were ordered into defensive positions. They had the advantage if there was to be an attack. The trees were dense enough to supply excellent cover. Still, Jürgen wondered why their leaders didn’t use this time to organize an offensive toward Amiens. This seemed counter to what Koss had been saying the previous night.

The sun was well up when they heard a crescendo of gunfire from the north. Jürgen peered out onto the open field, but could see nothing but the occasional bird pecking for nest straw. The view across the road to the river was like a still life painting.

“You hear that?” Feldenhauer said from his post five meters away.

“What?”

“Listen!”

It sounded like the rumble of distant thunder. Horses running? The only horses Jürgen had seen lately were the tired dray horses hauling the field pieces; certainly not likely to be running anywhere. Also, these were held well south of the wood.

The answer was revealed when, from their right, at full gallop came mounted troops, some of them wielding sabers, a vision out of the Napoleonic Wars. There were hundreds of them wheeling around to bear down on the woods from the west.

“Fire!” an order was shouted, and Jürgen did, but missed the bobbing target he’d chosen. He chambered another round from the five round clip, this time taking down a horse, but the rider got up to continue his charge on foot only to be felled by someone else’s bullet.

In seconds, the cavalry charge was into the woods, shooting and hacking at anyone and everyone. Jürgen fumbled with his bayonet, hoping he wouldn’t be killed as he did. It clicked in place in time for him to use the trunk of a tree to parry the thrust of a sword.

It was mayhem. They’d had brief encounters with hand to hand combat, but nothing like this. In the din of the shouting and gunfire, he could hear the same from elsewhere in the wood. They’d been attacked on all sides!

As afraid for his life as Jürgen was, he could see the terror in the eyes of the horsemen as well. They had rushed headlong into the woods, likely knowing they were outnumbered by an Army and surrounded as soon as they entered. Soon the sabers were neglected in favor of rifle and, better, pistol.

Jürgen was surprised by his calm in this melee, which was devolving into separate skirmishes throughout the wood. Killing another man up close cannot easily be done by a healthy mind unless done in the fog of battle. Here it was different from that first sickening experience of one year ago at Bellicourt on sniper duty. That was a cold and calculated kill with time to think about it before and after the event. This was fighting for your life.

So it was when he dropped the young trooper out of his saddle with a 7.9mm bullet from his Mauser, he felt a tinge of remorse, but had no time to vomit as he’d done that day on the Siegfried Line. He had lost all contact with his own company, much less his section. As the fighting continued through the morning, he noticed two things. These men were all Canadians. This so soon after engaging them in Flanders. His second notion was that fewer and fewer horses were involved. The enemy must have realized their ineffectiveness among the close quarters of the trees.

By afternoon, despite being outnumbered, the Canadians were able to push the Germans to the southern limits of Moreuil Wood, having commenced an artillery attack, and even directed aerial bombing by the Royal Flying Service.

At day’s end, the 23rd Saxon Division and support units were forced to retreat out of range of the shelling, well south of Moreuil. The enemy had gained full control of Moreuil wood.

~ * ~
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JÜRGEN WAS EXHAUSTED and hungry. There was no fight left in him. He wandered around the army’s rear position along the Avre looking for anyone from the 463d Regiment, and for something to eat. He found both. Standing in the rear of a food line were Rudi Feldenhauer and Alfred Hauser. They stared at him, amazement obvious in their faces.

“You were reported dead.”

“Not yet, but just about,” Jürgen said.

Feldenhauer avoided Jürgen’ eyes. “Koss is dead,” he said. “I was there.”

Alfred move two steps forward in pace with the food line. “I’m alive because of him, that’s all I’ll say.”

Jürgen was deeply saddened. Koss had been in the war since 1914. He’d barely survived the Marne battle, according to Sgt. Büler. Jürgen remembered his leadership at the chemical factory near Gavrille, and their close scrape at Passchendaele. Who would remember his deeds after this nameless skirmish?

“Back of the line!” a soldier complained to Jürgen, arousing him from his thoughts. He took his place there, shuffling forward and thinking of Unteroffizier Gerhard Koss, his corporal since training camp in Lockstedt, a lifetime ago.
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May 30, 1918

Cernay lès Reims, France

Jürgen trudged in the double file, avoiding the wheel of the gun carriage sharing the road. It was still dark, and already the day promised to be unseasonably hot. His stomach felt hollow. Despite the ration of thin porridge last night, he felt weak with hunger. The supply lines from St. Quentin were all but shut down.

They were marching east from Cernay toward Reims after being relocated well to the south last April when the attack on Amiens had bogged down. This was in preparation for a major offensive to take the important city of Reims and other Territory north of the Marne River.

Their failure to hold Moreuil Wood had since been reversed by fresh troops. German units again held that key outpost. As a result of that news and of huge German guns actually shelling parts of Paris, morale crept up a notch. Perhaps victory was in sight. At the moment, victory would be something substantial to eat.

Today’s attack would be a feint to test the strength of the enemy east of Reims. They were to probe the city’s defenses before drawing back. Feint or not, Jürgen knew a man could easily get himself killed in a skirmish like this.

They were just two of the three regiments of the 238th Division along with parts of the 62nd Field artillery. So it was more of a raid than a battle.

“I don’t like the feel of this,” Alfred said as they were being broken down into discrete units of two companies, each with a sector to probe.

Their bivouac at Cernay was just 4km from the outskirts of the city where the French 4th Army had dug in a double line of trenches, according to scouting reports. They would have to rely on cover from the terrain to effect any surprise. The French, supported by newly arrived units from America, had cleared two hundred meters in front of their lines of any cover. Alfred’s misgivings were entirely justified, Jürgen thought.

It was still dark, and Jürgen was relieved when the order came to move on the trenches. To do so in the light of day would be suicide.

The two companies III and IV advanced over the field at a trot. Although they were undermanned, there was no way they could adequately muffle the sound of four hundred men in full stride.

They got closer than expected before the first machine gun flashes began, forcing them to the ground. Jürgen estimated they were as close as fifty meters. Another machine gun started up, and both fired blindly into the darkness. The sound of rifle fire added a rhythmic counterpoint to the brutal MG bursts. Jürgen knew reinforcements would be pouring in from the rear trench. If they were going to get within hand grenade range, it had better be now.

The orange burst of a friendly artillery shell momentarily brightened the landscape. Jürgen saw one brave soldier dart closer with a grenade. Seconds later the burst of it exploding looked to be well short of the forward trench.

Support from the enemy’s rear must have been alert, because new muzzle flashes began to fill the atmosphere with bullets. Enemy Stokes mortars began to find their range. There was no doubt that just two infantry companies and one artillery battery were not going to penetrate the enemy line—at least in this sector.

In less than thirty minutes, whistles signaling a retreat sounded. In the process, forty five of the 390 man contingent never made it out. The rest of the two regiments had similar results. There was no doubt that the French were well prepared to defend Reims.

~ * ~
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July 15, 1918

Cernay lès Reims, France

JÜRGEN HAD SEEN THE enemy tanks in Flanders. They were great lumbering things. They had seemed so menacing before getting bogged down in mud and the huge water-filled craters. But these captured British tanks would be operating in much better conditions. For one, the terrain here had not been shelled constantly as had the fields east of Ypres. Then there was this dry summer weather. Where the wet conditions at Passchendaele had favored the defender, these favored the attacker.

The probes carried out May 30 must have convinced the high command that any attack on Reims would have to be with every piece of armament available. The attack would be on two simultaneous fronts, east and west of the city. The 238th Division would be one held back in reserve. Only their artillery would join the attack on the city’s east.

The entire 1st and 3rd Armies would attack from the east. Jürgen and Feldenhauer watched in the dark as the tanks rumbled away, their big diesel engines growling like hungry lions. Hundreds of field guns followed, the larger guns already in place and trained on the line of trenches kilometers away.

Just before dawn, a Feuerwaltze—a walking barrage learned from the Canadians—would lead the infantry over the enemy trenches. Everything was meticulously planned. The taking of Reims would be a devastating blow to the French and their allies, both tactically and psychologically. “I’m glad it’s not me going,” Feldenhauer said. “I’m not as afraid as I’m too hungry to march there.”

Jürgen felt the same. He’d noticed Alfred, slight of build to start, become alarmingly thin. Yet, he was the most stoic of all about their dearth of rations. Now there was nothing to do but wait to be called forward for the final taking of prisoners and the occupation of Reims, France.

~ * ~
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IT WAS NOON WHEN THE first reports of the attack came back to the bivouac at Cernay. It was a disaster. The official report was delivered to Generals Von Boehm and Eben, but the messenger’s driver had his own story to tell.

Contrary to the experiences of the May 30 probe, the trenches had been abandoned. Exhilarated, the two armies’ poured over them headlong toward the city. There, they set up their field guns in preparation for the final attack when pre-aimed artillery of unprecedented density and over the entire front surprised them. They had been lured into a killing field. By 1100 it was obvious the city would not fall, but the fighting continued in order to protect their retreat.

By nightfall they heard that the western campaign went off better, but the city was still in the hands of the French 4th Army and their American divisions. It was a staggering defeat.
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August 8, 1918

Amiens, France

“Quiet, you two!” Brian hissed at a pair of replacements assigned to his section while at Lens. They had been marching since nightfall, a sliver of moon barely visible in the blackness above. Friendly territory or not, their movement was strictly secret. Tomorrow’s attack had to be a complete surprise, and there had been credible reports of spying.

Brian’s company was reassigned to 4th Army’s 11th Brigade. Earlier on the previous day, they were told how tomorrow would go. A combined force of British, Australian, Canadian and French would launch a simultaneous attack along a forty mile front with the intent of pushing the enemy back all the way to the Hindenburg line at St Quentin.

The German spring offensive had advanced west almost to Amiens, and as far south as the Marne River. But the British had held at Amiens and the French, with help from the newly arrived Americans, had hurled them back north away from the Marne cities of Reims and Chateau Thierry.

By the time the brigade was encamped in a field west of the city, it was 2 AM. They were told to get some rest as they would not be part of the initial attack scheduled to begin in a few hours. Their time would come later.

Then, at 4:20 AM, they heard the first big guns of the artillery.

“Holy Christ!” Harry said from a corner of the shelter he, Brian and Janowski shared.

Brian felt the ground shake as batteries from the combined armies simultaneously erupted. There was no use trying to sleep.

“When do we go?” Janowski asked Brian.

“Don’t know. Later today, I suppose.” They’d been told the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd Divisions would be in the first wave with the Aussies on their left flank and the French on their right. The front extended from Albert in the north to Mondidier to the south. Forty divisions would take part in the attack.

“Don’t be in such a hurry, Janowski,” Harry said.

“That’s just what I’m not. What I’m thinking is: the more we do this, the worse our chances. I’d rather have my foot shot off, or get sent home like Kobak than bleed to death out there.”

Harry scoffed, “You don’t want to end up like Kobak!”

“Maybe not.” Janowski pondered that thought, and said, “It shouldn’t be like that. He got singled out because of his Austrian family. My parents came from Krakow, which is still under Austrian rule. They left for the same reasons as George’s family, I’ll bet.”

Brian broke in. “He said it was because they couldn’t stand what the emperor was doing.”

“Exactly! My dad hates Franz-Joseph, or whatever his name is.”

“Hated,” Brian said. “I think he died a few years back.”

“Good,” Janowski said.

Despite the barrage, Brian finally did fall back to sleep until aroused by their new platoon leader, a fresh faced, bespectacled Lieutenant MacLeod, newly arrived from the 5th Reserve Division in England. He was replacing Lieutenant Cross, who’d been promoted up to captain and a company of his own.

By 7:30 they were fed and briefed on the day’s objectives. Maps were distributed showing the road heading east-southeast out of Amiens toward Roye, thirty miles away.

Brian gathered his squad around. “We’re relieving a brigade of the Third Army when they reach their objective, that green line on the map. So far, they’ve had the Huns skedaddling, but they seem to be digging in here.” He pointed to a village along the road named Le Quesnel. “Our job will be the dotted blue line and to secure that town by tonight.”

He checked that his section carried only the necessities to ensure mobility: haversack, 200 rounds of ammunition, gas mask, water bottle, “iron rations” of canned Maconochie Stew & biscuits, entrenching tool, two Mills bombs, and two sand bags. A password, Landovery Castle, was drilled into their collective memory, and Brian felt his section was as prepared as any in the 4th Division.

“What’s ‘Landovery Castle’?” Peck, a new man from southern Ontario asked.

“Christ, Peck,” Harry said. “Our hospital ship that went down last month!”

It was big news, widely promulgated by the command. Over two hundred-fifty were lost, including fourteen of the beloved Canadian nursing sisters, when the ship was torpedoed. It was a well-chosen password meant to instill resolve among the men.

The whistle to move out came at 9:45 AM.

~ * ~
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THE CANADIAN CORPS’ part in the Allied attack was to push the enemy back along two diverging roads out of Amiens. The road to Saint Quentin ran due east, while the road to Roye and beyond stretched more southeasterly. It was along the Roye road that Brian’s unit was assigned.

Throughout the rest of the morning, the units of the 4th replaced their 3rd Division counterparts. Despite having lost several tanks to heavy machine gun and artillery fire, the 3rd Division had surpassed the green line objective by noon, outpacing the French 31st Corps assigned south of the road. Brian overheard two senior officers complaining how their right flank was exposed as a result.

Lt. MacLeod had them dig in where a 3rd Div. unit had relinquished its position. Brian had no sooner gotten his section in place when they began taking mortar fire. For several minutes, confusion reigned while the source of the attack was determined. Ultimately, the sound of the mortars being launched was heard from south of the Roye Road.

“That steeple’s gotta be how they’re sighting on us!” someone shouted.

Then, “MacLeod, Brewster! Take your platoons over to that village and shut those bastards down!”

Brian saw the alarm in the eyes behind MacLeod’s round lenses. The man had barely set foot on French soil. To his credit he did not hesitate, but responded with a crisp “Yes sir!”

A brief word with the 1st Platoon leader and MacLeod ordered, “Second Platoon! Follow me!” but the tremor in his voice belied the confidence he sought.

The two officers led their men to a rill no larger than a ditch that ran under a tiny wooden bridge on the road. Brian glanced at his map, noting the steeple was situated in the village of Mézières-en-Santerre, and from the scale looked to be about six to seven hundred yards away.

The morning fog had lifted, and the two platoons were wisely led along the rill until it bore away from the village to the west, requiring them to scramble behind sparse vegetation to avoid being seen.

“If you can’t see that steeple, they can’t see you,” Brewster reminded.

~ * ~
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IT TOOK THEM AN HOUR, duck-walking, darting from cover to cover in broad daylight. They approached the uninhabited town from the east, checking for manned outposts.

“I’m thinkin’ the Bosh are lookin’ west for the Frenchies,” Harry whispered.

“Let’s hope,” Brian said. He could see the front of the church—more a chapel than anything—about eighty yards down a lane from where MacLeod positioned them.

First section was on the other side of the lane, while Brewster’s platoon remained south of the town. The two platoon leaders had cooked up a plan that Brian thought was credible. They flipped a coin to see which of them would draw fire from the steeple while the other attacked it and the mortar emplacement. MacLeod got the latter of the two. Either would be extremely dangerous.

“When first platoon starts firing, we go,” Brian whispered to his men. He worried about the lack of intelligence on the whereabouts of the mortar team. It was probably within shouting distance of the steeple unless the Germans had telephone lines this far out.

Right on time, rifle fire commenced from Lt. Brewster’s platoon.

“Time to go,” MacLeod announced.

They hugged both edges of the cobbled lane dodging around obstacles, an overturned cart, a smashed chest of drawers—the detritus of war. The steeple was in view. Brian could see bits of its masonry shatter as it received rifle fire. MacLeod signaled for a dash to the building’s rear entrance.

They got no farther than the corner of a shop, its window smashed under a sign, Boulangerie in faded lettering. Down the intersecting lane, the mortar battery was at work. The Canadians were seen, as well, and were immediately under fire. Someone, Brian could not tell who, went down before they could find cover.

“Hurley!” MacLeod called to his runner. “Circle back and tell Lt. Brewster where we are and where that mortar battery is.”

A terrified Hurley spared no time skedaddling back the way they’d come.

Their presence did not deter the mortar team from their harassment of the Canadians across the Amiens-Roye Road. They ducked back around the building. MacLeod was standing next to Brian, his chest heaving, cherubic face drawn tight with indecision.

“We can’t hesitate,” Brian said to no one in particular, as a piece of the shop’s brickwork disintegrated from a German bullet “We’ve got to do something.”

The words or the bullet brought MacLeod out of his daze. He stared into Brian’s eyes for a moment, then his voice was steady, and his words concise.

“Alright Corporal, here’s what we’ll do.” He directed Brian to choose one man to make a dash for the church while the rest of the platoon engaged the mortar bunker.

Brian swallowed hard, wishing he’d kept his mouth shut. He saw Harry had overheard. His friend met his glance and nodded.

MacLeod looked back down the lane one more time as if hoping to see Brewster’s platoon. “That’s it, then,” he said.

~ * ~
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THEY HEARD A SINGLE shot followed by a fusillade of rifle fire, and bolted from behind the shop across the square. It went well for the first ten yards or so, but a lull in friendly fire brought the sound of bullets stinging the air like bees, and throwing up shards of stone from the cobbles. Brian felt his pack take a hit, the force of which almost knocked him down.

Harry was two strides in front, running for dear life, holding on to his tin hat. Then they were scrambling up the steps to the door. Brian wondered for the first time if the door might be locked. If so, they were dead men, but Harry tugged it open, and Brian dove in behind him.

They paused, transfixed. The cool interior looked oddly serene, as if there had been no war here for the last four years. The figures of Christ and the Virgin looked down on them sadly, like parents disappointed in their children and their antics.

Brian stood for a moment, unsure where to go, but Harry saw the door in the tiny narthex leading to the steeple, and tugged at Brian’s sleeve. The door opened noiselessly, and they closed it behind them, shutting out the last sounds of gunfire.

There were no stairs, but a ladder leading to a level just below the open belfry. Brian started up, but Harry held his arm.

“You got a plan?”

“No,” was Brian’s reply. He hadn’t, but nothing would be accomplished down here. He kept climbing.

They reached the platform, clearly hearing voices above them, probably giving coordinates to the team in their sandbagged bunker. Or calling for help, Brian thought. Then from above, the “crack” of a rifle shot. One of them was sniping at the platoon.

The room, about eight feet square, tapered up to the belfry which was around six feet on a side. A shaft of light shown down through an access to which a stout ladder led. Harry looked helplessly to Brian, who was momentarily at a loss for the next move. There had been no time to think. Brian took stock of what they had at their disposal to use. The Mills bombs!

But how to use them? He removed one of the two from his belt, and showed it to Harry, pointing to the belfry. Harry shrugged and followed suit. Brian motioned Harry to one side of the ladder, and they ascended, side by side. They climbed to just below the belfry floor of stout planks. The voices were clearer; words sounding like numbers being called out. They could hear muffled, sporadic shooting below.

With one arm around the ladder, Brian pulled the retaining pin from the grenade. The Mills bomb had a spring lever that, when released, ignited a seven second fuse. He motioned for Harry to toss his bomb through the access hole. White with fear, Harry worked the pin loose, took careful aim, and lobbed the bomb up into the belfry.

Pandemonium began above as Harry flew down the ladder, calling for Brian to follow. Brian heard the scuffle and shouting as the occupants dealt with the emergency. He pulled his pin, counted to four and tossed his bomb.

He slid down the ladder, landing on Harry as both grenades exploded, sending a shower of wood splinters down on them. The concussion in the small confines was deafening.

Thick dust cleared, exposing the green-clad limb of a man hanging from the access. Harry was exhilarated. His white teeth showed in a wide grin. Brian felt ill as they scuttled down the bottom ladder to the ground.

~ * ~
[image: image]


THE DESTRUCTION OF the steeple resulted in not only the cessation of mortar fire, but the surrender of the five men in the battery.

“That steeple flew apart like a popped balloon,” Janowski said, making their way back across the Roye Road. “Didn’t take ‘em a minute to start waving a white towel at us.”

The prisoners were combined with the hundreds of others surrendered in this morning’s fighting, and sent to the rear. It had been easy going for the Canadian Corps so far. But the enemy had recovered and their defense was stiffening.

~ * ~
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THE 11th Brigade had made progress in the hours it took to neutralize the mortar fire from Mézières. Major Goode and the rest of their unit were found a mile or more to the east. With the help of the Mark II tanks, they had cleared out the village of Beaucourt-en-Santerre, but seemed stalled when Brewster and MacLeod returned with their platoons.

Flat countryside had morphed into rolling hills and small wooded areas. They were receiving increasing fire from the wooded areas and a ridge that ran north-south in front of them. Proceeding slowly now, the commanders surveyed the defensive obstacles guarding the towns of Le Quesnel and Caix.

The first was a copse of trees. Enemy machine guns and mortar batteries were dug in there, and would have to be dealt with. It was a good quarter mile to the east.

“Take your men along the south side of those trees. Third section will join you along with two machine gun squads,” Lt. MacLeod said. “When you hear our mortars commence, wait two minutes and attack. Others will be doing the same from the north and west.”

Brian located a rise due south of the trees and headed for it, along with the third section. They did not get far. An explosion erupted not twenty yards ahead, taking down two men from the third.

“Get down!” Brian shouted to his men. The only cover was in the craters from the morning’s shelling, and Brian followed Janowski into one of them. They were scant protection from shrapnel, but all there was to be had. They literally landed on top of two men. It wasn’t a warm reception.

“Get the fuck out of here!” one of them yelled. He was a big man, cradling a machine gun in his arms.

Brian focused on the man’s face. “Rupke!” It was Colby Wentworth’s oafish friend. The other man was unfamiliar.

Rupke’s small eyes under a thick brow stared back at Brian. He shouted over the noise of exploding ordinance. “Move it, I said!”

“Where’s Wentworth?” Brian shouted. “I thought you were a team!”

“That yellow bastard weaseled his self a nice safe staff job six months ago. Now, clear the hell out of this here crater if ya know what’s healthy.”

Janowski shouted, “He’s right, Brian. We’re too exposed here!”

Dirt and clots of turf rained down from a nearby blast, bring with it more invective from Rupke and the other man.

Brian gave Janowski a nod, and they scrambled over the rim. They hadn’t gone five yards when another huge blast landed behind, throwing them to the earth, face first.

Conciousness returned to Brian as he saw Janowski, his helmet a yard away, moving his lips trying to be heard over Brian’s ringing ears.

“Are you alright?” he called to Janowski, who seemed concerned about something. He was pointing to Brian’s legs.

Brian twisted around at his left leg which seemed perfectly fine. Another blast shook the earth and filled the air with chaos. Again, Janowski pointed to Brian’s legs, this time pulling at him to return to the crater.

“No,” Brian shouted. “Keep moving!” and began to rise, but the right leg would not respond. Only then did he see the large gash in his red-stained puttees.

Janowski had him under the arms and was dragging him back to the crater. The last thing Brian remembered before passing out was the smoking, empty crater where a boot, bits of fabric and the tripod for a Vickers machine gun were the only occupants. The crater had received a direct hit.

~ * ~
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September 15, 1918

Quincy-Basse, France

20km north of Soissons

“YOU SHUT YOUR MOUTH, Schreiber, or I’ll shoot you myself!” Jürgen could hardly believe his own words, but the man’s talk of desertion had to be stemmed.

Starting with the failure at Reims, a series of setbacks for the Kaiserschlacht had commenced. Word came that the Spring Offensive that had begun so well had bogged down elsewhere along the Marne River. The French and Americans had prevailed at Chateau Thierry. What had stopped the German Army from reaching Paris in 1914 stopped them now. They had outrun their re-supply capabilities. The attrition of troops, ordnance, and most importantly, rations severely crippled their ability to fight. The last of these was the major cause of talk like that of Schreiber.

They had held on to a defensive position at Cernay lès Reims until the August 20. Since Reims they had been on the line at Leuilly north of Soissons when the French and a division of Negro soldiers from America broke through, overrunning German positions, seizing artillery pieces, and their few tanks. An uncoordinated retreat resulted in many hundreds of German prisoners taken.

Marching north into the tiny crossroads called Quincy-Basse, Jürgen felt the same gnawing in his gut as the others. But by then—after a year of fighting, seeing his friends and mentors die, after barely surviving himself—he felt too invested to give up. New replacements like Schreiber could not understand this.

It was almost dark when they halted at a farm outside the village and were told to get rations from a lorry parked nearby. The rations consisted of water and canned biscuits only. It was worse than nothing, as the men were in need of some real food. Their complaining was becoming a serious morale problem.

They took their three cans per troop back to a dry well where Jürgen bedded his section down for the night. It was not to be. They were ordered to prepare a defense of the crossroads deemed vital by someone in command who, thought Jürgen, must know why.

A whole division of hungry, exhausted men began digging in. They did not finish until first light of the next day. The expected attack never came.

It proved to be a short respite, but the added day’s preparations paid off as they were able to hold off a series of raids over the next week. After that the enemy seemed to be satisfied with their gains, having fish to fry elsewhere.

The conditions for fighting were unbearable. Over and above the hunger was the heat. A constant vigil was required as the enemy would sporadically probe in raids for intelligence. The lulls would let the men focus on their hunger and the vermin that plagued them, especially the fleas that seemed to thrive in the environment.

Jürgen watched Alfred as he tried in vain to rid his Tornister knapsack of the pests. Alfred Hauser, the frail, sensitive artist, had become a tough wiry soldier—one Jürgen would trust with his life.

“I think, Alfred...” Jürgen started, “...this war is almost over. What will you do?”

This earned Jürgen a quizzical look. Alfred paused before answering.

“I had plans, but that door may have shut. Honestly, I don’t know.”

“But your music...”

Alfred looked at his toughened hands. Grime was ground into the callouses and under his nails. “I don’t know,” he repeated.

It troubled Jürgen to see his friend reduced to such a state. “You must have been very good to be accepted at the Hochschule. When did you begin to study the violin?”

Alfred produced a derisive snort. “I had one handed to me before I could go to the toilet alone!”

“But you liked playing?”

“I love...loved it, but it wasn’t easy in a town like Stade. I’m a Jew, Jürgen. I‘ve been bullied all my life, whether about my violin or my religion or being called a sissy.”

“You’re no sissy, Alfred. I’ve been to war with you.”

Tears welled up in Alfred’s eyes.

“What? What did I say?”

Alfred hesitated to say anything. Then, “They called me worse words than sissy. The thing is: they were right!”

Jürgen recalled one or two boys in Neuhaus and nearby Cadenberge whom he’d tormented because of their effeminate ways, and felt ashamed. “Alfred, my good friend, promise me you will go back to your music when you return home. I’ve never known a finer man than you.”

~ * ~
[image: image]


THE FOLLOWING DAYS were filled with a succession of enemy raids, night probes meant to harass and destroy morale. Duty on the picket line was extremely dangerous, and the occurrence of a lone sentry not returning from his outpost was common. Jürgen was getting increasingly disenchanted with their commanders, the ones directing their movements. The Quincy area appeared to have no strategic value. What was the use of trying to defend an imaginary line in the sand? He knew they were too weak to effect a meaningful attack on their own. Their artillery, someone had said, was too low on munitions to support an offensive.

As if the high command had been reading his mind, on October 12 they were ordered to quietly pull out of the area in the cover of darkness, marching 20 km. east to Crepe, where they were put on trucks for what Jürgen came to realize was a full retreat. When they disembarked the trucks, they realized they had travelled far north and east of the once-impregnable Hindenburg Line that ran through Saint Quentin.

“Where are we?” Feldenhauer was shaking the sleep out of his head as he tumbled off the bed of the truck.

Alfred pointed to a sign hanging askew from a post. The letters G U I S E were battered, but visible. A barrel-shaped, medieval castle dominated the landscape of the otherwise featureless village. What was there was mostly ruins from fighting four years earlier. Once more Jürgen questioned the wisdom of digging in and defending such a seemingly inconsequential plot of Picardy.
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September 15, 1918

Avonmouth, Severn Estuary

England

His fever had returned. For a moment Brian forgot where he was until a sister who watched him wake from a fitful sleep told him the ship would dock momentarily. From a tray she took a damp towel, and pressed it to his forehead.

“Docking,” Brian repeated.

“Bristol,” the nurse repeated.

Brian tried to process the word while he focused on the red cross of the woman’s pinafore. “Bristol?”

“England, young man. Now be patient, if you can. It will be some time before we can get you all ashore.

He remembered then, being loaded on the steamer at Le Havre after being shifted from dressing stations to two field hospitals, and finally to the hospital ship.

The action at Amiens and the Scarpe River soon after had taxed the Allies’ medical facilities to their limits. Brian had lain unattended for a day after receiving his wound. The delay nearly cost him his leg, if not his life. Even now, saving the leg was at issue.

He remembered nothing, having to be told of Jannowski carrying him over his shoulders to the rear until finding a team with an empty litter. He woke up with searing pain in the right thigh. For twelve hours he received only attempts to clean the wound, but nothing for the pain. Morphine had run out by the time Brian arrived.

Because he was not in immediate peril of death, he was regulated to a holding area, and waited in pain. Then a series of mix-ups sent him not to a field hospital, but yet to another dressing station. Further confusion resulted in his being trundled to two different field hospitals before being, at last, sedated and transferred to the HMHS Dieppe, a 273-foot steamer requisitioned by the Royal Navy for hospital service, and bound for England.

The sister knew what she was talking about. It took another ninety minutes before it was Brian’s turn to be carried down the covered gangway to the wharf at Avonmouth and a waiting lorry.

For a soldier who had known nothing for months but fetid trenches, field hospitals, and the stinking hold of a ship, the sea breeze and tangy promise of an English autumn was elixir. He slept the whole hour’s drive to Bristol.

~ * ~
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BRIAN AND OWEN WERE cutting wood, one on each end of a long, two-handled saw. Sarah was there, sometimes sitting in his mother’s rocker on the porch, sometimes standing next to Owen. He wished Owen would stop so he could talk to Sarah. He needed to talk to Sarah! But the saw kept going and he was compelled to pull back on the blade biting into the log that seemed impervious to their efforts.

He wanted to stop. He wanted to talk to Sarah—ask her why she never wrote. Then Owen wasn’t there, and it was Colby Wentworth grinning back, and so was Sarah. She was teasing him, calling his name. “Brian! Brian! Wake up.” He was hot—burning, in fact. Stop the saw! “Brian!” He felt his face cool. It was wonderful. Someone shook him. He opened his eyes to see a girl’s face, but it wasn’t Sarah.

“Brian,” the face said. “It’s alright. Wake up, now.”

He looked past the girl to a tall, domed ceiling and arched windows on the far brick wall where sunlight directed yellow shafts of illumination through the room. There were beds lined up against the wall and on either side.

She was pressing a cool compress against his cheeks and forehead. “You were having quite a time of it, Brian. My name is Ann, one of your nurses. We’ve been a little concerned about your fever.”

His gaze rested once more on hers. Eyes that were older than her youthful face. Blue? Green? Remnants of childhood freckles across her narrow nose, hair of ginger. It was her voice, he realized, that reminded him of Sarah, but they resembled one another in no other way.

He whispered, “Sarah.”

“No dear, Ann. Is Sarah your...”

He closed his eyes, slowly shaking his head, “No.”

The burning in his leg returned him to the present. “My leg.”

“Don’t worry about your leg,” she said, which of course was impossible.

He tried sitting up to look at the offending pain, but his legs were covered, and the effort excruciating.

The girl gently pushed him back onto the pillow. “Your leg is being cared for, Brian.”

He tried to resist, but was too exhausted, and gave in to whatever it was they’d given him for the pain.

~ * ~
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October 6, 1918

Bruce Cole Military Hospital

Bristol, England

IN 1914 WHEN THE GERMAN army swept over Belgium, thousands of families were displaced and the lucky ones found refuge in Britain. The Bruce Cole Recreation Centre, built just six years earlier for the employees of a large sweets manufacturer, was turned over to house some of those families until they could be relocated. One of those families was that of Doctor Adriaan Martins.

When the building was converted into a military hospital, Dr. Martins stayed on, partly in gratitude, partly for the meagre salary. He was a large man in both stature and voice. The floor of the B Ward was large, as hospitals go, and Dr. Martins’ voice would resonate from the first bed to the last. No one’s malady or progress was a secret after he made his rounds. He had a high forehead, despite having retained all of his hair after his more than sixty years. Bushy eyebrows of black and grey shrouded eyes that looked down to where Brian sat propped in his bed.

“You are going to keep your leg, my man,” he said in his heavy Flemish accent. “But if you are going to walk on it, you are going to do exactly what I and your nurses say.”

Brian looked to Ann who, hands pressed against her pinafore, assumed the air of a task master.

“That means much work. Painful work,” Martins said.

Brian’s eyes remained on Ann. “Then I guess that’s what I’ll have to do, Doc.”

Martins took the nurse aside, but Brian had no trouble hearing the doctor review instructions for the first week of his recovery.

“When do we start?” he asked when she returned and Martins had continued down the ward.

“Right now.”

“Now,” he repeated, not believing.

She pulled off his sheet and removed a device that had his leg immobilized.

Brian noticed his bare toes stained with iodine, treatment for his touch of trench foot, a debilitating condition shared by most who had spent days on end in trenches and ankle deep, fetid water.

“You have to stretch your leg muscles,” she said and held her hand an inch or two from his heel. “Touch my hand with your foot.”

“What?”

“Go on, do it!”

He pushed away with his leg, but the pain shot from knee to ankle. “I can’t!”

“You will, or spend the rest of your life in a wheel chair. Now try again.”

He tried again with the same result. “Hurts like hell,” he complained.

“Half an inch,” she insisted.

Again, he tried, groaning in agony and frustration.

“You did it!” she said. And he had. “Tomorrow morning you do one inch.”

~ * ~
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THE THERAPY CONSISTED mostly of learning how to bear weight on the leg and stretching what muscle hadn’t been destroyed. The stretching of his muscle relied on the original game of pushing his foot out straight. Ann would reward his successes with a foot massage. It was a strong incentive. Being able to bear the weight of his body was accomplished by endless walking, first hobbling down the line of beds in the ward, then outside in the recreational field that fronted the columned façade of the one-time concert hall.

After three weeks he was walking unassisted with a cane, albeit slowly.

He increasingly looked forward to his daily sessions with Ann, whose last name, he’d learned, was Prichard. He especially enjoyed their walks around the recreational field when the weather allowed. They gave time to ask her about herself, which he was constantly doing and she was ever equivocating.

It was on one of these walks, with coats buttoned high against a nip in the wind off the estuary that Brian’s infatuation with her emerged. They were sitting on the stone bench at the far end of the field.

“You have a...friend at home?”

She laughed. “You mean a boyfriend?”

He smiled sheepishly.

She didn’t answer his question. “And you, I’m sure, have a girl waiting—Sarah?”

Startled, he said, “How would you know?”

“Your first day here. You were dreaming. Tell me about her.”

Brian looked down at his feet, hands in his jacket pockets. “She’s just a girl in my town.”

“A special girl, I think.”

“You could think that. I don’t.”

She put her hand on his arm. “I’m sorry. Did you get one of those letters that—”

He cut her off with a derisive laugh, “No! I didn’t get a letter,” and limped off down the walk toward the building.

He waited for her that next day, watching her work with the influx of new men. Instead, Dr. Martins came by to tell him he was well enough to take his exercise unaccompanied, and perform his stretching on his own. Did she ask to be relieved as my therapist?

~ * ~
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IN THE WEEKS THAT FOLLOWED, men were being released to make room for new wounded soldiers of battles with names of Selle, Cambrai, Le Cateau, as the Allies continued their rout of the Germans’ heralded Spring Offensive. Despite the Allies’ successes, casualties poured into the English hospitals.

He jealously watched her attending the others, all the while regretting his petulant outburst. It wasn’t until one afternoon when he’d just returned from an hour on the outside balcony, that he looked up and saw her at the end of his bed. Her tapered fingers rested on the footboard, her rust colored hair soft against her cheek, smiling her smile. Perfect.

“How are you doing, Brian?”

“I was hoping...I mean, I’m glad to see you.”

It was an awkward moment that she let pass. “I‘ve been watching your progress. You should be going home soon.”

No! I need to talk with you. “I’m sure that’s too soon! Ann, I...”

“We need the beds, soldier, and you’re looking mighty fit—except for that.” She moved to straighten the collar of his hospital robe. Her hair brushed his face, hair that carried her own subtle scent. He found her arm, and pulled her mouth to his. For a delicious moment she lingered, then gently pulled away.

“Ann...” he started, not knowing what else to say.

The mouth he’d just kissed smiled. “No, Brian. You can’t mean it.”

“But I do! I love—”

She touched her fingers to his unfinished words. “You can’t.”

“I’ll stay in England!”

“Brian! Stop! You’re alone. You’re hurt—in your body and your heart. You don’t know me. You can’t possibly love me.”

“You’re engaged? You’ve got someone!”

She didn’t answer, but smiled and shook her head. “I’ll see you tomorrow. There are others to see now.”

And she continued down the aisle from bed to bed, adjusting pillows, a kind word, checking charts. He watched until she quit the ward.

~ * ~
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THE NEXT MORNING TWO nurses arrived and began stripping his bed.

“It’s fine, sister. They were changed just yesterday.”

“We’re packing you off to the outpatient ward, corporal,” said the older one with a pince-nez clipped to her apron. “We need your bed.”

A helplessness bordering on panic seized him. Ann! He had to talk to her; explain his rash behavior. They were shipping him out without giving him the chance. He searched the ward, but she was nowhere in sight. He watched, powerless to stop the nurses from destroying his link to Ann Prichard.

~ * ~
[image: image]


November 3, 1918

THE VAST MAJORITY OF the patients at Bruce Cole Hospital were British with a sprinkling of Australians and Canadians. Men were being discharged to their homes in the British Isles, but the colonials had to wait for manifests to be filled for the troop ships.

Twice, Brian got a glimpse of Ann while out on the recreational field and taking fresh air on the balcony. But each time she was gone before he could reach her. He cursed his leg and the cumbersome cane.

He never saw her again.

His stay in the outpatient ward was short-lived. On the second day, he received orders to entrain for London, reporting to the 18th Canadian Reserve Battalion, then on to Portsmouth for ocean transfer back to Canada. It all went so fast and with so much bureaucratic nonsense he barely had time to think about the girl with the ginger hair.

	[image: image]
	 	[image: image]


[image: image]

Twenty-three


[image: image]


November 3, 1918

Guise, France

This time Jürgen was wrong about the importance of the territory around Guise. The village was on the main road between the German supply depot of Saint Quentin and the new command post of La Capelle, twenty kilometers to the east. Just as important was its position as the southern anchor of a defensive line that ran fifty km. due north to Le Quesnay, a medieval city that had seen many wars through the ages.

The new defensive line was set after a major Allied offensive along the Selle River that nearly caused the collapse of the German Army in Northern France. That was a week ago. Thousands of weak, hungry, dejected German soldiers were taken prisoner. Casualties were unknown, but assumed to be enormous.

A valiant attempt to mount a counterattack had failed. Their command post at La Cateau was lost. General Ludendorff established this most recent defensive line as an attempt to halt further Allied advance.

There was consensus among the troops this stand had to hold or there would be nowhere left for retreat. La Capelle was only twenty km. from the Belgian border.

The supply situation was perilous. Munitions needed for the counterattack at the Sambre River had sapped the other units. Food was limited to biscuits and even water had to be taken from the canals and boiled.

“We could, at least, raid the cottages in the western towns,” Alfred said. He was dissolving a biscuit in a tin of water, making a kind of gruel that could be more easily eaten.

Jürgen watched the faces of his men as he gnawed on his own hardtack. Feldenhauer had recently stopped talking altogether, his usual quick quip about events silenced.

Schreiber, one of the new men, stared westward with terrified eyes, as if a French or Canadian tank might appear over the horizon. His left foot was in constant motion, beating out a tattoo in the dirt.

He scanned the other three new men, none of them over seventeen years old. They’d had a taste of combat at Leuilly-Ternay, but they all knew what was to come must be worse.

His section, or Gruppe, of nine men was down to six, resulting in longer watches, increased exposure to danger. He wondered if the new men knew how small their chances were.

The sun dropped below the trees, causing a chill in the air. Jürgen scrunched down in the trench he’d had his section dig and fortify. He pulled his tunic collar tight and shut his eyes to the war, and what was left of November 3.

~ * ~
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DAWN CAME CRISP AND clear with a blanket of dew. Jürgen expected it would also have brought the French Army, but it did not.

Commotion down the line soon was revealed to be a mess team passing down the trenches with hot coffee and small rations of bacon. It was like Christmas.

It turned out not to be real coffee, but satisfied better than the water, and the bacon was real—from a source Jürgen could not imagine. He hadn’t seen a live pig in months.

Around 9 AM word came that the Allies were attacking on the north end of the line at Le Quesnoy. The fighting was reported to be fierce.

All morning they waited for word from scouts of the enemy’s position and apparent intentions. Intelligence reported the French 1st Army had overrun the village of Origny-Sante, just 12km to the southeast. They were speeding, unabated, towards Guise, part of them flanking the town to the south. It was terrible news.

~ * ~
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THE FRENCH CAME SO fast they outran their artillery. On they came, confident by their early successes. The 238th artillery had their guns set to fire at short and point-blank range. The French tanks were the first to engage and were soon disabused of an early victory by the 10.5 cm. field cannons. The first wave of attackers came, despite the tank losses, in overwhelming numbers.

But the line held, and by sundown Guise was still in German hands.

Jürgen checked on his men, amazed they were all alive. The work they’d done in preparing the trench had paid off. Gerber, one of the new men, had a metal splinter in his shoulder, but insisted it was superficial and went to the aid station for first aid. Even Schreiber was settled down.

Jürgen’s men had been tested and had come through it, toughened.

~ * ~
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AFTER A NIGHT OF FITFUL sleep punctuated by sentry duty, the next day’s fighting began before the sun showed. This time the French artillery was well in place. The first explosion found its mark shortly after 5 AM, killing some of the artillery horses and two men. Then hell erupted. Jürgen and his men were pressed against the wall of their ditch for thirty minutes while the bombardment continued. The air was thick with shrapnel.

Then the shelling stopped as suddenly as it started. Jürgen knew the real fighting was about to start.

“Casualties?” he called to his section.

One by one his soldiers called to him, only five responses.

“Schreiber?”

Alfred answered. “Schreiber’s dead.

From down the line came a shout, “Here they come!” on top of Alfred’s words.

Jürgen could barely see them surmounting a slight rise about three hundred yards out. Their overwhelming numbers gave him a feeling he would not survive the day. It had a calming influence on his nerves, and he shared it with his men.

“This is it, my friends. It’s been my pleasure to know you. Let’s die like German sons.”

“Up yours, Stern!” Feldenhauer shouted, “I’m not dying for anyone!”

Other retorts followed, making Jürgen smile at their pluck.

Their sandbags began to pup! thup! as they did their job stopping small arms and machine gun fire. It was time to shoot back. Jürgen had a slot between two of the bags where he mounted his scoped Mauser. They all had a limited number of ammunition clips. He instructed his men to take single shots at clear targets, only. That was easier said than done with a massive army climbing down your throat.

In this way, the defenses held until late morning when the French decided to dig in and commence a mortar barrage. Again, there was nothing to do but hunker down against a direct hit. As bad as the artillery barrage had been, Jürgen thought this was worse. Many of the mortar shells were set with time fuses, showering their contents of anti-personnel shrapnel down upon them. Jürgen dragged a sandbag down on top of himself during the worst of it.

By mid-afternoon the barrage stopped, and the enemy mounted a full-out bayonet charge. Jürgen had no idea how many of his men were alive, but stood up on his perch to fire. The welcome sound of nearby firing cheered him considerably. His section was holding off the charge. Only once, a fearless French boy reached their trench, his bayonet poised, only to catch a bullet in the throat for his heroic effort.

The assault lasted until dusk, when the enemy slipped back over the rise. Jürgen did another count of his men. Alfred peered back at him, cradling his weapon as if it were his lover.

“You alright?”

Alfred blinked and nodded affirmation.

Feldenhauer was badly wounded, his right arm shattered.

“Rudi!”

The man stared back at him, a sad, accepting smile on his face.

“Medic!” Jürgen shouted, only to hear other shouts for corpsmen up and down the line. Feldenhauer was not bleeding badly, so an artery must have been missed. He would likely live.

Schreiber’s body lay where he’d taken shrapnel to the head in this morning’s barrage. Next to him lay Schönemann, his face nearly obliterated by a French bullet. Gerber was still alive, but shaken. Just three of his section left.

He returned to Feldenhauer. “Rudi, can you walk?”

“Christ! I don’t know, Stern. I hadn’t any plans to travel.”

“I’m getting you to a dressing station. The war’s over for you, my friend.”

“Shit! The war’s over, period,” Feldenhauer said.

~ * ~
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AS NIGHT ARRIVED, ORDERS came with it to abandon the town. The village of Thérache just southeast of them had fallen, completely exposing their left flank. Fighting tomorrow would be suicide.

Jürgen and his men were assigned to the units covering the retreat. The few exchanges of small arms fire took place in the early hours of November 6, but ultimately the French First Army entered the town without further bloodshed.

On the road to La Capelle, passing through the village of Buironfosse, Jürgen thought about Rudi Feldenhauer’s words. Maybe he is right. This war is over.

~ * ~
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November 7, 1918

La Capelle, France

WHAT WAS LEFT OF THE 238th Infantry camped overnight in a fallow field east of this town, there being no billeting room there for an additional combat division of over five thousand troops. La Capelle was still largely intact, having been far enough behind the Hindenburg Line to avoid shelling. As a consequence it was a popular place for a military man’s leave, and many of the houses had been confiscated by officers for their headquarters and personal billets.

On the following morning, rations were sent out from town to the encamped division. It was only weak coffee and a chunk of brown bread, but with it came shocking news. A week earlier, sailors in the German port of Kiel had refused to return to sea. It was a full mutiny, and sparked other protests throughout the country over the failure of the Kaiser’s leadership. The word “revolution” was being heard around the mess line. They learned that the army’s inability to provision the troops extended to the entire nation, largely due to an effective blockade of trade from the Americas.

It was discouraging news. How fast the fortunes of those first heady days of the Kaiserschlacht when the German army was rushing toward Paris and the coast! Jürgen surveyed his section. With the exception of Alfred Hauser, every man he’d trained with was dead or terribly wounded. How had he come this far unscathed?

Before noon they were ordered to continue their “withdrawal” (never a retreat) to a position on the other side of La Capelle. Marching through the streets, Jürgen noticed for the first time in this war the presence of German civilians, well dressed dignitaries, stepping out of staff cars parking at an attractive villa. It seemed as if something momentous were about to occur. He craned his head to see, but the column marched on.

~ * ~
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November 9, 1918

DISCIPLINE AMONG THE troops was breaking down. Word of rioting in Berlin added to the perennial malady of the soldier: nothing to do. Then, that evening came the devastating news handed down through the chain of command that Kaiser Wilhelm II had abdicated. A temporary government had been formed, and was suing for peace with the allies.

For Jürgen, the first pangs of despair on hearing of his country’s capitulation soon dissolved into thoughts of home. The little town of Neuhaus that for months had seemed a lifetime away was clarifying in his mind’s eye. The tile roofs, the cobbled streets, the Shützenfest, the Stadtplatz, Papa, and...Käthe!

~ * ~
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November 11, 1918

Compiègne, France

4:30 AM. MATHIAS ERTZBERGER was exhausted. First, the ten hours it took to motor from La Capelle near the French-Belgian border across war-torn Picardy to the train that brought them to this rail siding in the forest was all he could bear. Then the grueling negotiations and the intransigent demands of the Allies, especially that pompous ass, Foch!

If the Reichstag and the Kaiser had listened to him a year ago, he’d never have been in such a position of weakness. He’d pleaded for a negotiated peace, but had been hooted down, even received threats of treason. Here, with Germany’s back to the wall, the Central Powers in shambles, they expected him to salvage something out of this. But now came the instructions from Hindenburg himself: sign the document without further argument! Scheiße! They could have sent a schoolboy on such an errand!

A knock came on his compartment door.

“They are convened, Herr Ertzberger,” the aide announced.

Ertzberger rose heavily, set his spectacles on his face, checked in the tiny mirror over the washbasin that his cravat and moustache were in order, and led the aide down the narrow aisle of the railroad carriage to the adjoining car.

At 5 PM, after the documents were laid out for the signatories on the small table, he added his name to the document that would end the hostilities between the Allies and the nation of Germany. It would become operational at 11 AM, six hours hence.
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November 12, 1918

RMS Victorian

Brian paced alone at the rail of the huge liner, only a few feet shorter than the famous Titanic that tragically sank six years earlier. The Royal Navy had requisitioned her in 1914 for service as a troop carrier. Her civilian service to Canada continued, for the most part, to and from that country.

The Victorian’s manifest was made up almost entirely of troops returning for medical discharge, the vast majority of them having been recovering from an epidemic of influenza that was being tagged, “Spanish Flu,” although Spain denied any connection with the origin of the disease. Suffice to say, it took a greater toll than the enemy among many of the units fighting on either side.

While Brian carried his cane, he was not totally dependent on it, preferring to strengthen the leg by not favoring it. It felt good out on the pre-dawn deck; never mind the bite in the salt air. Yesterday’s celebrations on hearing of the armistice erupted into reveling as much as could be expected without the aid of alcohol. Card and dice games of chance continued into the wee hours.

Brian did not partake. Whether it was a case of his withdrawal from the morphine or from the therapeutics of Ann Prichard, both having been recently denied him, he did not know. He simply felt like being alone. While most of the ship still slept, he watched as the low smudge of the North American continent appeared in the first light of this Tuesday morning. It frightened him, a feeling of unease. The land mass represented a new chapter in his life, and he hadn’t the slightest idea how he was going to fill it.

~ * ~
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November 12, 1918

Halifax, Nova Scotia

THE TROOPS, ESPECIALLY the Canadians, had certainly heard about the explosion, almost a year ago, in Halifax Harbor. As Brian understood, two ships got their signals mixed, and collided. One of them was chock full of high explosives. The blast caused horrific damage to the other ships in the harbor, the city of Halifax and the community of Dartmouth on opposite side.

But what he saw was orders of magnitude worse than his imagination. Everywhere, even eleven months later, block after block of flattened houses, twisted metal, gutted buildings, interspersed with new construction as far as the eye could see. Most of the repairs were near the wharf where the priority for maintaining port facilities was critical.

Still standing, but worse for wear, was the Oland Brewery that he, Harry, George Kobak, and Ake Lankinen had noted on their brief stroll of the city over two years earlier. As far as he knew, Harry had survived at least through the Amiens fight. Poor George had been sent home in shame, swearing his innocence. Brian believed him, but tell that to the folks at home. Then Lank: he hadn’t thought of him in months. Ake Lankinin died on the slopes of Vimy Ridge, barely weeks after arriving in France. A shroud of guilt crept over him, the artist and map maker, while his chums risked their necks.

The Victorian unloaded her cargo of troops. Some were assigned to transient barracks, and some, like Brian, to the Halifax military hospital for an examination and, as in his case, discharge. Back pay totaling $52.50 and a rail pass home had him on a crammed train heading west by November 15.

He was going home.
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November 18, 1918

Jocelyn Farm

St. Joseph Island, Ontario

The noon sun sat low in the southern sky, adding scant warmth to the late autumn day. The last of the desiccated maple leaves clung, unwilling to fall from the big front yard tree, as Brian made his way up the two wheel ruts leading to his house.

He’d arrived in Sault Ste. Marie on the previous morning, but had to wait until today to catch the SS Premier on its return journey to Bruce Mines. It made a short call at Richards Landing to drop off mail, provisions for the Island—and Brian MacLennan, veteran soldier.

Two teen-aged boys, busy with the boat’s lines, paid little attention to the soldier carrying a duffle and cane. Brian took his time walking the two hundred yards to the town center. Passing the front door of Sarah White’s house, he kept his eyes straight ahead on John Richard’s post office and general store sign. There, after pats on the back and “well done” by the store’s regulars, he had no trouble accepting a lift up the “mountain” to the MacLennan farm.

“Don’t mind sayin’, lad. We were surprised to see ya,” the old man had said, driving his team up the 20th Side Road. “Folks were talkin’ you didn’t make it.”

The yard was empty. Even the odd hen was snug in her coop. He felt strange mounting the three steps to the porch. It seemed he’d been gone forever, yet not a thing had been added, or subtracted where two rockers and a small table stood sentinel there since he could remember.

Setting his duffle down, he pushed the door open with his cane. “Ma?”

The mantle clock ticked in the silence, its small, brass pendulum dutifully marching on behind the glass door. There was no use calling again. The tiny house consisted of one large room under the four small bedrooms carved out of what space there was at the top of the stairs. She’d have heard. Sometimes his mother helped in the field, especially around haying time, but it was a bit late for that.

He started up the stairs, got halfway up and heard the back door slap. When he returned, there she was, a block of ice in her apron, still smeared with wet sawdust.

“Praise God!” She stared, unbelieving. The ice dropped to the floor, skittering under the table.

They held each other for long moments until Dora MacLennan was able to speak. “I’ll get your father.”

“No need, Ma. He’s busy, I’ll bet.”

She paid no attention, retreating to the back porch to bang on the forged triangle they used for emergencies. “Thomas! Owen!” Her clear soprano cut through the sigh of the wind through the maples.

~ * ~
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HE’D THROWN A BLANKET and bridle on Alice, retired recently from the plow. The mare was a bit frisky, happy to be out of her shed and tended to break into a trot from time to time. Brian estimated a ninety minute ride to the Kobak farm.

Answering the alarm, Thomas MacLennan had rushed into the house, his wide-brimmed hat in hand, searching for the calamity he assumed had occurred. True to form, he maintained his stolid composure on seeing his son, even after eying the cane propped against the staircase. But when Brian reached in his pocket for his father’s knurled handle knife, and held it out, Thomas’ eyes grew red-rimmed. Shortly, Owen followed into the room, bursting with joyous energy, lifting everyone.

The horse knew the route. The MacLennan family had become friends with the Kobaks soon after Brian enlisted, mainly through Owen’s having helped on their farm at times, since their only son was at war. Alice had made several trips there. At length she turned into the lane leading to a small, but immaculate house on land that had to have only been cleared in the ten years since Karl Kobak homesteaded it.

In the yard next to a handsome barn, a man was splitting logs. A row of neatly stacked firewood stood under the eaves of the barn. Brian’s approach caused the man to cease his labor.

“You are Brian,” he said in his accented English. “I know this horse, and Owen has no other brothers.”

“Yes sir. I’m here to see George. You’re Mr. Kobak?”

Karl Kobak nodded in the affirmative, and pointed. “He is out there, clearing.”

Brian saw a team of two horses being worked on the far side of a large, fallow field.

“Thank you, sir,” Brian said, and turned to go, but hesitated at the senior Kobak’s words.

“He may not be pleased to see you.”

At that Brian gave Alice a nudge with his heel, heading her away.

George Kobak was engaged in re-deploying a stout chain around the thick girth of a tree stump, having chopped anew at its roots. He goaded the team to pull, and the stump nearly pulled free, exposing the rocky soil below. Brian jumped from his mount, seized George’s axe, gave the offending root a whack, releasing the team, tackle, and stump in concert. “A two-man job, I’d say,” he intoned.

George wiped his forehead with the back of his glove, and considered the intrusion. “Seems you survived.” His face revealed no emotion.

“Yeah...and Harry, far as I know. Moyer got his blighty and ticket home.” Brian’s eyes scanned the large field from the tree line back to the house and barn, aware that all had been cleared by hand exactly as George was doing now. “Looks like you could use some help.”

I’m fine,” George said, leading the team to the next newly cut stump.

Brian followed with the axe and shovel. “George, I never got a chance to say...” His words were interrupted.

“Look. I’m fine. I don’t need help. Nice of you, and all that.”

Brian started to object.

“Look! I’m well used to being alone. The whole Island’s given me a wide berth since...” He didn’t finish.

That stopped Brian momentarily. He knew George would be sensitive about returning early from service for no apparent reason. But he failed to consider how living in a confined community where everyone knew everyone else’s business could be a toxic atmosphere in such a case.

“George, let me tell you something. You have nothing to be ashamed of. You told me what happened over there. I believed you, and I don’t mind saying so to anyone who’ll listen. Now, I am back home without the least idea of what to do with my life, and you’re my only friend left on this island, it seems.”

Kobak said nothing as Brian picked up the spade, limped to the next stump, and began digging.

~ * ~
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December, 1918

THE FIRST OF THE YOUNG men of St. Joseph Island began drifting home as their units mustered them out of service. Many would not return until well into 1919. Thirteen had been listed as killed in action.

Brian’s friendship with George Kobak developed as only comrades can who have known war together. Visions of bloated corpses, slain friends, a starving, displaced citizenry; the others could not possibly know. For separate reasons, they shied from social contact, particularly trips into either Marksville, or Richards Landing. That could go on for only so long, however.

Christmas was approaching. Owen had been going on about the linen chest he was building for his mother at a friend’s workshop. He had an initialed straight razor made for his father since the summer, and pestered Brian about his plans.

Thomas refused to take back his pocket knife Brian had carried all through northern France. Brian thought to replace it for a similar one he’d seen at the Kentvale store. But for his mother, he wanted something really personal.

There had been another fire in Richards Landing since he’d left for the war; not as severe as the one eleven years earlier, but some shops were badly damaged. He’d seen something in the window of a newly rebuilt shop that first day back. Dora MacLennan had long auburn hair she kept in place with her combs. What he’d seen was a blue comb inlayed with mother-of-pearl. He had to have it for her.

And that is why he found himself in the “Landing” on this unseasonably warm day. With his mother’s gift purchased, he stepped out onto the street to wait for Owen’s return from the post office. Then what he dreaded might happen, did.

Francine White, not Owen, exited the post office. She spotted Brian across the street immediately. Reluctantly, he stepped off the wooden walk, and crossed to her.

“Mrs. White.” He removed his cap.

Her tone was as flat as her expression. “Hello, Brian. I heard you came home. We’re happy for your folks.”

This was the woman who so ebulliently welcomed him into her home the last time he’d seen her.

“Well...thank you.”

Her eyes dropped to the dirt road. “We heard you...”

“No ma’am, I wasn’t killed.”

She fidgeted with her shawl, clearly perplexed. Neither knew how to break the awkward silence.

“...I’m waiting for my brother, you see,” he managed, finally. He touched the bill of his cap. “It’s good to see you, again, Mrs. White,” and returned to the wagon for Owen to join him.

He watched her return to her home, looking once over her shoulder, then quickening her pace.

~ * ~
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RIDING BACK UP TOWARD the Marksville road and home, Brian asked Owen about his reported demise in the war.

“It was going around town since August. I had to keep it from the folks,” Owen said.

“Yeah, I heard. Today, and my first day back. No clue where that idea got started.”

“Oh, I do! Old John Richards told me.” Owen slapped the reins which made no difference in Alice’s pace. “Old man Wentworth got a letter from his son, Colby. It said he thought Brian MacLennan caught it in Amiens. The story took off, and folks assumed the worst. Don’t blame ‘em. So many of our chaps got killed so early in the war—they just assumed.”

Brian thought, Wentworth! It was just like him to assume—or hope—the worst, and report it home.

“I saw you talking to Mrs. White,” Owen said.

Brian kept his eyes on Alice’s tail swishing side to side.

“You ask about Sarah?” Owen prodded.

“Nope.”

“Good, because she’s not here.”

Brian turned his head to confirm his brother was serious.

“Seems you never returned any of her letters, so when her ma’s sister got sick last summer, she volunteered to take care of her aunt down in Barrie, near Lake Simcoe.”

At first Brian’s mind was a blur. He had agonized over every word in his letters to her. And she never got them?

As Alice’s steady clip continued, things began to fall in place, all seeming to revolve around Colby Wentworth: Colby’s jealous behavior at Niagara Camp, and probable related beating by his goon of a friend, Rupke. That encounter in Ypres when Colby asked if he’d heard from Sarah, suggesting that he, Wentworth, certainly had. And Rupke’s probable last words on earth claiming Colby Wentworth to have long since wormed his way out of combat duty. The appearance of Wentworth at the shipping dock of the mail center.

A deer and her two fawns bolted across the road, causing Alice to briefly shy, but Brian did not notice. His mind was on Sarah White.
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Twenty-six
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January 9, 1969

Mississauga, Ontario

The dusk came early with an overcast sky. The Ford LTD station wagon turned off Sawanaga Trail into the driveway and the motion light flooded the yard. It slid to a stop as the garage door opened and closed behind. Brian MacLennan was home.

Through the door into the kitchen he dragged his bag. The house had the familiar scent of home and the feeling of him never leaving, though it had been a month since he’d driven to Toronto Pearson International for the short flight to Ottawa. He’d expected to stay just for the week of Colin’s wedding then return, but Melanie had insisted she spend Christmas with them. “The girls see so little of you since mom passed.” So he figured what the hell.

Brian loved the kids, but unfortunately never gained a rapport with Melanie’s husband, a lobbyist for the mining industry. They were cordial, but personality opposites; Brian the artistic optimist, Ian Rand the pragmatic pessimist. The girls loved their grandpa well enough, but at fifteen and seventeen, were more interested in boys, Elvis, and their 8Track stereo, in that order. Christmas was less about them and more about Ian and Melanie entertaining their influential Ottawa friends. He didn’t blame them. Their life was much like his as he did what was necessary to build his design firm from nothing.

He walked through the darkening rooms wondering why they had put off selling the place and finding an apartment or townhouse closer in towards Toronto. It was, and had been, entirely too big for the two of them since Colin left home over fifteen years ago. It seemed so obvious, but their children had urged them not to, pleading it was “the family nucleus” that held them all together.

Brian dumped his suitcase on the queen-sized bed, ignoring the blinking light of the message machine, made an urgent stop in the bathroom, and began to get out of his traveling clothes. It was darker when he re-entered the bedroom. Glass sliders looked out onto the fairway of the country club plunged into darkness despite the inch of snow.

The blinking red light continued to nag, and he gave in. The first message was from his old secretary, Maggie Hitchens, asking him to call at the office when convenient. That was time stamped November 11, the day after he arrived in Ottawa. The next from the Toronto Star soliciting his subscription, two political surveys, and the last, time stamped January 7, with a message in an accented voice:

“Yes...yes, Mr. MacLennan, I am Jürgen Stern. I am in Toronto on business, but would like to meet with you. Perhaps you can call me after six anytime this week at the King Edward. Thank you.”

He’d call the office in the morning. It couldn’t be serious, or they’d have tried to reach him at Melanie’s...that is if he’d thought to tell them where he’d gone. The other message was intriguing, though. He got the King Edward number from the phone book in the nightstand, and dialed.



January 10, 1969

Toronto, Canada

JÜRGEN STERN WAS UNEASY on more than one count: Kurt Kiesinger had only one month left as Germany’s Prime Minister. Scoring a new Opel plant in Canada would help validate his Grand Coalition and ward off a defeat by Willy Brandt’s Social Democrats in the coming election. Kiesinger had begged Stern to return to Ottawa and use his personal friendship with Pierre Trudeau. The meetings in November were not promising. Jürgen had the sense that further talk was futile.

He’d agreed to make the effort largely because he wanted to make this side trip to Toronto, and felt a little disingenuous as a result. He could have refused, having recently and officially retired.

Ultimately, his unease was likely due to his attempt to contact this man, MacLennan, who had seemed cordial enough on the phone, but for all Jürgen knew, cared little about the past, and would consider meeting a waste of time. MacLennan had returned his call last night around nine, and was surprised to hear about the drawings after Jürgen told about finding them in the lobby of the Chateau Laurier. MacLennan hadn’t heard from his office about their receiving them.

“They have no value,” MacLennan had said, “but were meant as a gift to my son who admired them. I am happy to pay you something for their return, though.”

Jürgen was quick to dispel the idea he was interested in money, and may have overdone the protestations. Despite the awkward conversation, MacLennan agreed to a meeting today at 2 PM in the lobby of the King Edward. Jürgen would be wearing a poppy in his lapel he’d kept from Remembrance Day in Ottawa.

He sat in one of the lobby couches, glancing back and forth between his watch and the door. Five minutes early, he heard, “Mr. Stern?”

Jürgen stood. The man was slender, slightly shorter than Jen’s hundred-eighty centimeters, but solid musculature. Curly white hair with black strands interspersed. A cane in one hand and raincoat in the other. MacLennan obviously had not come in from the street door.

“Ah! Yes! I am Jürgen Stern, and you are Mr. MacLennan. I am so pleased to meet you.” Jürgen proffered his card he’d had at the ready.

MacLennan took his time reading it. “So, Doctor Stern. Minister for Economics and Development. I’m impressed.”

“An old card. I am recently retired,” Jürgen said.

“What brings you to Canada, Doctor Stern?”

“Please, I prefer Jürgen. I am here for a meeting next week in Ottawa, but have taken my own time to visit Toronto for our meeting.” He noticed MacLennan held his raincoat draped over a large mailing envelope.

MacLennan slipped the card in his shirt pocket, and said “Jürgen it is, then. My name’s Brian. Let’s have a drink.”

“In here,” Jürgen said, pointing to the lounge. He thought he might like this Canadian and his informal mannerisms.

They found a quiet booth. “So what is it about my scribblings that’s brought you to Toronto?” Brian said after they’d ordered drinks.

Jürgen gestured toward the manila envelope. “Is that them?”

“Ha! Yes. My one-time secretary had a message waiting for me last night. I picked them up on the way here. By the way, thank you for returning them. They were a wedding present for my son. I’m surprised anyone cares about the first war anymore, yet he seems to.”

Jürgen said, “It was my pleasure.” He hesitated before continuing. “I must admit, I looked at the drawings quite carefully. At first it was because I admired their quality. You...are quite gifted, I feel.”

Brian said nothing; shifted uneasily.

“It was the maps—one in particular—that shocked me.”

“Just one?”

“There were one or two others of the same map, but different drawings on the reverse. One was a map that was familiar to me.” From his breast pocket, Jürgen removed an envelope and handed it to Brian.

A waiter in red waistcoat brought their drinks, and left.

“This is it?” Brian asked, receiving no reply.

Jürgen watched Brian’s face as he removed the drawing. It revealed little until he turned the card over from the map to the sketch. A sad smile slowly developed.

“My heavens. How in hell did you come by this?”

Jürgen leaned back in the booth they shared. “I was there. Not there,” he said, pointing to the map. “I think that must have been a map of Vimy Ridge by the April, 1917 date, and the town of Villers-au-Bois labeled. I was a little farther south at the time. You Canadians scared us to death.” He watched Brian gaze off for a moment.

“The girl... her name was Genevieve. Don’t ask why I remember,” Brian said. He looked Jürgen square in the eye. “I asked you how you got this.”

Jürgen carefully placed his palms on the table. “I killed the man who carried it.” The words tumbled out involuntarily.

Brian’s eyes returned not to the map, but the girl’s face. “George,” he whispered.

“Excuse me?”

Brian continued to stare at the drawing. “Kobak, George Kobak.”

Jürgen waited, knowing there must be more.

“Again, how did you get this?”

Jürgen told him about his sentry stint in the Ypres-Roulers train station near the town of Moorslede.

“You were there?” Brian said, a little too loudly.

Jürgen nodded, and went on. “It was thick fog that morning. A large enemy unit came out of nowhere, and passed right under my second story sniper’s window. I hid, but soon after they were gone, another soldier came alone. He carried no rifle, so I assumed he was either an officer or a courier. Either way, it was my duty to shoot him. It turned out he was a courier. I took papers from him my officers said were important. The map was of no value in the Ypres salient, so I was allowed to keep it.”

“All these years.” Brian finished the thought.

“She was a beauty, and it was a lucky souvenir for me of that day. I should have been discovered by your soldiers that day and killed.”

“And you thought you killed him.”

“It was a clear shot to the head. I was a good marksman.”

Brian took a sip of his single malt. “You’ll be interested to learn he is not dead, but a doting grandfather living in northern Ontario.”

“Mein Gott...my God! He is alive.” Jürgen held his hands to his face. “In that filthy war I killed some of your countrymen, but my memory of pulling the trigger on that day has...it has stayed with me. Perhaps another reason I could not destroy that drawing. I thought he may have sketched it; perhaps of his wife or sweetheart.”

“It wasn’t. He barely knew her. It was a young French girl he—we all—fancied. I sketched her, and he asked for the drawing.”

“And the maps on the backs of the drawings?”

“Drawing paper was hard to find. The maps were on good card stock. I used anything I could find to make my sketches.”

“And the girl; did she...”

“Genevieve. Survive? Who knows? I like to think so.”

They sat in the darkened lounge sipping their drinks, both digesting what they’d shared.

“There’s more to this, you know,” Brian said, finally.

Jürgen’s eyebrows lifted, eager to hear, and Brian began to tell of George Kobak and his trial for desertion.

~ * ~
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BRIAN WATCHED STERN’S reactions as he told about his time in Flanders. Only slightly taller than Brian’s 5’8,” Stern had thinning hair that had once been blond, but had faded to dishwater, and was combed straight back from his forehead. He’d grown a paunch, but appeared to be hale enough. He was intensely interested in what Brian was saying.

“You were actually in Decline Copse!” Jürgen Stern said, for the second time.

“Us...and the Aussies,” Brian said.

“I lost my platoon leader there,” Jürgen said.

“And I, my sergeant, a good man, and I’m alive because of him.” Brian paused, and went on. “It was a few days after that; George Kobak had been missing, and we wondered where the hell he was. He was assigned to Staff as an interpreter, and some of us wondered if he’d been sent somewhere else. Then here he comes with two guards escorting him back from the Aussie camp. They’d found him behind your lines, east of the Copse.”

Jürgen said, “I was sure he was either dead or dying. If he was behind our lines, I am sure he was disoriented. You don’t take a Mauser bullet in the head, then go on to spy for the enemy.”

They talked at length about their experiences in the miserable conditions of Flanders in October of 1917. Brian, of his unit’s capturing the Meetcheele crossroads, Jürgen of the improbable coincidence of being there as well.

“We were sent forward into shallow trenches to blunt your advance, while the Bavarians held the main trenches guarding the crossroads,” Jürgen said. “We caught hell out there. Your Artillery had zeroed in on us. There was nothing to do but wait it out. Only three from our section survived. When we retreated back to the main trench, the Bavarians had gone, the pigs!”

They spoke of their experiences in Picardy, Brian’s being shortened by his wound in the Amiens battle. Jürgen told of his euphoria in the early days of the German Kaiserschlacht, and the disgrace of those last days retreating behind the Hindenburg Line, and ultimate capitulation.

Jürgen told of returning home to his town in Lower Saxony. “We were mustered out near Aachen two weeks after the armistice, given rail passes, and told we were on our own from there. I had built up a picture in my mind of my return home. When I left I was a minor celebrity, having won a shooting contest. I foolishly thought there might be some kind of reception for me. Of course, I wasn’t the only one returning, and the village had nothing to offer any of us. The Allied embargo had successfully starved not only the German Army, but its citizens as well.”

“Did you have a wife then?” Brian had no idea of the man’s age.

Jürgen laughed. “I had high aspirations. She kept me company for many nights in France. But it was not to be.”

He told Brian about bicycling his second day home to the large estate of the Von Helm family. How the once trimmed lawns and perfect flower garden inside the circular driveway were shabby and overgrown. Dry autumn leaves were left unswept under the portico at the front door. Instead of the usual servant answering his knock, Frau Von Helm answered, still dressed in her expensive, outdated frock. Her haughty, severe features he’d remembered were now drawn and fatigued.

“I’ve come to see Käthe,” he’d said.

“Then you had better go to Bremen where she is living with her fifty year old lover.”

Jürgen laughed again. “She slammed the door in my face; the door, and my dreams of Käthe in my bed.”

Brian commented, “You seem to have done alright for yourself.”

Another laugh, this time rueful. “I was mortified. I couldn’t leave the village soon enough. I had a cousin in Denmark where I got a job as a laborer, and took classes at university in Copenhagen. It’s a long story, but six years later, I had a degree in economics, found work in a ministry of the fledgling Weimar Republic, and...met the mother of my two children. Life progressed from there.”

The more they talked, the more Brian liked this man. Yes, their backgrounds were similar—boys from tiny, rural communities, both entering late in the war into replacement regiments. But it was also a genuineness about the man, his candor in the telling of his own foibles, and those of his wartime commanders. Brian countered with the insanity of the Allied generals insisting on the Passchendaele offensive under the worst possible conditions; thousands of lives lost for a few hundred yards of real estate, only to be ceded back in a few months. Three times over the course of the war, the Ypres salient had been pounded into pulverized, toxic, waist-high slime—one huge Flanders graveyard for both combatants.

It was getting toward dinner time, and the bar was filling up with pre-prandial drinkers. Jürgen noticed Brian’s body language signaling his thoughts about leaving.

“What are you intending to do with the drawing?” he asked.

Brian was gesturing for a check. “I don’t think you realize how important your story will be to my friend.”

“You mean the ‘George’ you speak of?”

“Exactly. I intend to give your souvenir to him. It should, at least, be a comfort to him and his family. It corroborates his story the court-martial didn’t believe.”

“You’re sending it to him?”

“I’m going to hand it to him. I haven’t seen him for a while. Now is a good time.”

“Can it wait?” Jürgen had his hand on Brian’s arm, as if he were leaving this minute.

“What?”

“I have a week at most in Ottawa. After that I am free. I’d like to go with you, and meet your friend.”

He watched Brian consider this. It was a forward request. The two Canadians had been comrades in arms. That was the kind of fellowship into which one could not easily be invited. Across the booth Brian was obviously weighing the pros and cons.

Then he spoke. “We could fly there, but by the time spent waiting at the airports, and renting a car, we might as well drive. Can you be ready a week from tomorrow? It’s a Saturday.”

Jürgen assured him he could.

“Bring some outdoor clothes. You can’t go traipsing through a snowy barnyard in those shoes, either. We’ll be taking a chance with the weather whether we fly or drive.”

~ * ~
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January 18, 1969

BRIAN HADN’T SPOKEN with Owen nor his wife, Trina, in over a month. He was relieved when it was she who answered the telephone and was more than just okay with the visit. She invited Brian and his friend to stay at the farm. “There’s tons of room, as you know,” she’d said.

There was. Their daughter, Nina, was married, and their son, Owen Jr., was teaching chemistry in Thunder Bay. Owen Sr. had proved his father wrong by making the MacLennan property enough of a success to send both children to university.

“We’ll drive up next Saturday,” he’d said. “Might be evening before we arrive.”

Jürgen called Brian Thursday night, and Brian told him to check out of his hotel and spend Friday night in Mississauga at his home. They packed Brian’s station wagon that night, and were on the road, coffee in hand, by 7 AM for the ten hour drive.

They drove in relative silence for the first hour as Brian negotiated the week-end traffic of greater Toronto. Then Brian pressed Jürgen about his career, and how he’d gotten to his position.

“I became noticed, I suppose; was posted around to different embassies. People thought I might be a spy, but no, I was really one of those commercial attaches. I returned to Denmark in thirty-eight as Hitler was doing his disgusting thing, achieved my doctorate, published some economic theories certain people thought worth reading. I spent the war teaching in Canada and returned to Germany in forty-seven. I’ve been in government ever since.

“And you are here for...”

“Along the way I met, and became friends with your Prime Minister, Pierre Trudeau when I lectured at the University of Montreal. He was a law student there. I thought he was brilliant—and so did he—so we hit it off, so to speak. I’m here to use my ‘influence’ about a trade deal, but I don’t think it will bear fruit.”

Jürgen let a few miles slip by before asking, “And you; how did a soldier boy from a farming family end up owning a large industrial design firm?”

“A girl,” Brian said after some thought.

“Well, then?” Jürgen said, after Brian’s silence.

“Just that I knew I had naught to offer anyone without a trade, and it wasn’t going to be farming. I set out for the big city, and Toronto looked mighty big to me. Got a job running errands for a tool and die company. They found I was pretty good on a drafting board, and before long I was a draftsman. Then I had an idea for making a special kind of cabinet hinge, but kept it to myself until the owner caught me working on it one night after work.”

“Did he sack you?”

“He could have, or even declared my design belonged to the company, but he backed my idea by investing start-up money for forty-nine percent of anything that came of it. His name was Esposito, and his son bought my fifty-one percent eighteen months ago. You could say my career hinged on that investment.” Brian held his nose at the pun that was as old as the company.

They talked like that; about children and their problems, perils of the cold war, last November’s close election of Richard Nixon, North Viet Nam finally joining the Paris peace talks, the launch of Apollo 8 to orbit the moon. The miles melted away.

~ * ~
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AFTER STOPPING FOR a late, but leisurely lunch in Sudbury, they pulled off Highway 17 around 6 PM for the short ride to the St. Joseph Island ferry and the trip over the swirling water of the St. Joseph Channel. For Jürgen it was a world apart from the ferry trips over the docile Oste River or even the wide and tranquil Elbe River of his youth. The sharp image of his father at the helm of his ferry momentarily flashed and disappeared.

Brian was waving to someone he knew, and Jürgen wondered how often he returned to this remote place where Lakes Superior and Huron were joined. The sun was low in the sky, making a recent snowfall glow yellow, mottled with the shadows of pine and maple. It was magical.

A recently plowed gravel road took them up into the higher elevations of the island where a mailbox read MacLennan under the red flag. The house stood out in sharp contrast against the snow, reflecting the sun that hung just over the tops of the trees.

“Quite an impressive place, Brian.” Jürgen was admiring the well maintained fencing, and neat barnyard. A tractor and what Jürgen imagined was some kind of haying machine stood parked next to a like-new barn.

“It’s a far cry from the house I grew up in.” Brian pointed. “That’s the original part of the house. Owen added the rest.” He touched the car’s horn, bringing a huge man out from behind the house, a Swedish saw in hand.

The men were introduced. Jürgen thought Owen must be well over six feet. He had arms the size of his brother’s thighs, and a thick but lean torso.

“You are brothers?” Jürgen said, looking from one man to the other.

Owen laughed. “Brian stopped growing.”

“As most adults do,” Brian added. “Owen just kept going.”

“Let’s get out of the cold,” Owen said.

Inside, the house was decorated in light colors and hardwood trim. A scent of something delicious emanated from the kitchen followed by Owen’s wife whom he introduced as Katrina.

She gave him a look, and said to Jürgen, “Please, it’s Trina.”

Most of the night was spent with Owen catching up Brian with the business of the farm, which intrigued Jürgen, who had never pulled a weed in his life. He learned from Trina that, years earlier, Brian had loaned his brother a substantial sum of money toward modernizing the farm. That loan was paid back, but the couple never forgot the generosity.

~ * ~
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BRIAN AND JÜRGEN HEADED out after a late breakfast of sausage and eggs from the MacLennan hens. By the time they reached the foot of the island, they had to follow the snow plow that was still working on a much less improved road to the Kobak farm. A sign advertising Kobak Maple Syrup hung at the opening to the long driveway that was freshly plowed to the house, a modern looking ranch. Three other smaller buildings stood in the rear of the property, lined up like soldiers. A late model Chevy truck was parked there, from which a tall, slender man was just alighting. Turning at the sound of the car, he waved, peering through the windscreen to see who might be inside. Brian stepped out, and the two men embraced.

“What the hell have you been up to?” George Kobak asked his friend.

“Trying to cope with retirement, my late-blooming son, and my bossy daughter...not necessarily in that order.” Brian motioned to Jürgen who had followed onto the driveway. “I’d like you to meet someone I’ve had the pleasure of knowing a short time.”

Jürgen stuck out his hand. “Jürgen Stern. It’s a pleasure to meet you, Mr. Kobak.”

Kobak took off his glove and took Jürgen’s hand. “Well, thank you, Mr. Stern.” He glanced to Brian, eyebrows raised in question.

Brian said, “Does Doris have a pot of coffee in there?”

“Doris is still at church in some damn committee or other. She’ll be home in an hour or so, but I know how to throw grounds in a pot. Come on in.”

As they were removing hats and coats, George said, “So, Mr. Stern, you’re from Germany?”

“It is an accent I cannot hide, sir, nor wish to deny.”

There was a moment when no one said a thing. Brian tried, but could not utter a word that wouldn’t sound trite or gratuitous. George put the percolator on the burner, and the three men sat around the kitchen table.

Empathizing with Jürgen’s discomfort, Brian began. “Jürgen was at Passchendaele, George.”

Kobak stiffened. They had not mentioned the war to each other since that day after Brian’s return in 1918.

Jürgen said, “Brian, perhaps you should just show it to him.”

From his inside jacket pocket, Brian retrieved the card, still enclosed in the King Edward Hotel envelope.

“What’s this, then?” George said, accepting it.

The other two sat tacitly.

Kobak’s reaction was of immediate, palpable recognition. His nostrils flared, lips drawn tight. His grim face transformed into one of confusion. He looked to Brian for clarity, but Brian’s eyes shifted to Jürgen.

“How?” was all George could say.

Then Jürgen started from the beginning... his 238th Infantry Division being sent to Flanders, his regiment being posted at the ruined Ypres-Roulen rail line, his sentry post in the abandoned train station, the single bullet from his Mauser rifle that felled an enemy courier, the taking of the courier’s papers.

George held the card by its edges as if it might disintegrate. He then saw Jürgen for the first time as more than a guest in his house. Here was living proof that he had been wounded, disoriented, and lost behind enemy lines.

To Jürgen he said, “I was court-martialed. They didn’t prove I was a traitor, or even a deserter. But they didn’t acquit me either. I have lived under that cloud ever since. My children have been bullied because of it. This is a place where everyone knows the others’ business.” He paused, and said. “All these years I have carried the weight of those accusations. I thank you for coming forward, even now.”

Jürgen asked, “What do you intend to do with this?”

George considered the question as the percolator began its staccato rhythm. “Probably nothing. This is proof to nobody but me, but it is something I can share with my family. This and your story.

The three men talked about their days in Flanders, about Genevieve, about fallen friends, until George’s wife came home. She cried as she heard the news, as he did, holding her head to his chest.

Brian and Jürgen stayed only a short time after that, letting the Kobaks have their happiness together.



January 22, 1969

THE STATION WAGON WAS headed down that same road where, over fifty years ago, Brian and Owen drove the sleigh to the rail stop on the mainland.

“I don’t know why you insist on flying,” Brian said to Jürgen.

“I need to get back, and you need to spend time with Owen and Trina. It’s enough that you’re driving me to the airport.”

“It’s just an hour or so to the Soo, and Trina gave me a list of things to pick up while I’m there. You’re doing them a favor.”

After only a few miles, Brian said, “We have time to spare. There’s someone I’d like you to meet.”

The car made a left turn into, of all places, a cemetery, its headstones all wearing fresh caps of white snow. Jürgen followed Brian to a plain granite marker where Brian hunkered down, and touched the name. He knelt like that for just a few seconds, and rose.

“She was a good one, Jürgen.” He moved so Jürgen could read the inscription.


Sarah White MacLennan

February 2, 1898 – April 8, 1965

Devoted Wife and Mother



“Was she the girl you spoke of?” Jürgen asked.

Brian nodded. “Oh, she was the girl, alright.”

~ * ~
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THE 4 PM FLIGHT TO Toronto was called. Brian and Jürgen promised to keep in touch, both knowing those promises were harder to keep than not.

“I feel good about the visit,” Jürgen said, “I think it was worthwhile.”

Brian agreed. “It was a comfort to them. I just wish the court-martial had never happened, but there’s nothing we can do about that.”

Jürgen shrugged. “I guess,” as he stepped out onto the tarmac, waving goodbye over his shoulder. An eddy of snow swirled in the cold. He took a last look back as he climbed up to the open door of the plane and was gone.
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Twenty-seven
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May 19, 1969

Bonn, Germany

Jürgen cut the switch to the bathroom light, and tightened the sash of his bathrobe. It had been a tiring day at the ministry convincing the committee he would not go to South Korea, despite their entreaties. It was time for younger men to take the helm. He walked to his desk to extinguish the lamp, and took one last look at the letter he’d finished.


Dr. J.V.Stern

232 Romersrasse

Bonn, Germany



20 May, 1969

The Right Honourable Pierre E. Trudeau

Office of the Prime Minister

86 Wellington Street

Ottawa, Canada



Dear Pierre,

Time certainly does fly. I have owed you this letter before now. I have been trying desperately to extricate myself from government duties, having “retired” these many months.

I certainly appreciate your position on the Opel plant, and believe I have convinced the ministry here to forego their efforts in this regard for a time when the currency issue is more in balance.

As to the matter of the honorable discharge for that WWI soldier, your assistance was invaluable. I appreciate your seeing the evidence as being conclusive in his favour on the basis of my testimony, and your subsequent request to the Ministry of Defence.

As always, I am your friend and servant,

Jürgen.



He sealed it and affixed the stamp, so it would be ready to mail in the morning.

~*~
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June 14, 1970 

St Joseph Island, Ontario 

THE CHEVY PICKUP GROUND to a halt and George Kobak stepped out at his mailbox after an errand to town. He thumbed the letters; a flyer, the newspaper, a bill or two, an envelope from some ministry or other. 

He drove up the long stone driveway, parked, and went inside. 

“That you?” Doris Kobak called. 

“Who else?” he called back, sorting through the mail. Power company bill, a North Shore Sentinel, a Simpson Sears flyer, and the envelope from...He opened it. 

CANADA 

Ministry of National Defence 

Mr. George L. Kobak 

Route 3 

St. Joseph Island, Ontario 

Dear Mr. Kobak, 


It is my honor to inform you of the decision of the Ministry to award you an honorable discharge for your patriotic service to the Canadian Government and its citizens during your service for the period December 1915 to November 1917 (enclosed). 

On behalf of a grateful country, thank you, and congratulations. 

(Signed) 

Léo Cadieux 

Minister
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